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FIRMENICH AT-A-GLANCE

FY21 REVENUE (CHF)

+ll.70/0 ORGANIC*

+1 6.80/0 INCL ACQUISITIONS*
FY20:3.9bn

FY21 ADJUSTED EBITDAMARGIN

FY20:22.1%

FY21 FREE CASH FLOW (CHF)

25 vRs

SWISS AND FAMILY-OWNED MARKETS

CO-LEADERIN
PERFUMERY
&INGREDIENTS!

o

+12.5%

FY20:454m

FY21 R&D INVESTMENT

of Revenueinvestedin R&D COLLEAGUES

*At constant currency

Long-term investor value proposition

i} Amarket leader with /\/' Proventrackrecord
criticalscaleand of organic growth
I:I:IZI competitive advantages and successful

bolt-onacquisitions

Established long-term
customerrelationships,
with balanced and

diversified product
portfolio

standards withindustry-
leading ESG credentials

Private company operating with
public company governance

RECOGNIZED
ENVIRONMENTAL LEADER

Leadershipin Science,
- e - andahighlyinnovative
, N product portfolio built

through long-standing
commitment to R&D and
passion for creativity

Strong profitability
supporting steady
andresilient cash
flow generation

"Ranked#1 as co-leader. Based on Management estimates; Firmenich CY20vs. Key players revenue figures. Firmenich revenue includes DRT, as wellas MG International (on a full year

pro-formabasis).
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Industry-leading ESG ratings

SUSTAINALYTICS

ESG Risk Rating Score: 8.6
Top 1% of 14,000+ companies;
Rated Tstin ourindustry

MANAGER

Istinourindustry to complete B Corp
SDG Action manager assessment

with result of 84.3/100

Tackling Climate Change & Embracing Nature

INCDP

manm maar e

A-LIST
2020

CLIMATT FORISTE WATIR

1 of only 2 companies worldwide to
betriple Afor 3 consecutive years

100% Renewable Electricityin
alloperations worldwide

Advancing Social Impact

FIRMENICH < e
LEADINGON - = *°_
WORKPLACE EQUALITY,

SEYOND GENDER

S O e TR

Global EDGE Move
certification upgradein 2021,

worldwide since 2018

CLIMATE
LEADERS

Top 300 European companies
Istinourindustry

1stin the world with 100%
verified biodiversity strategy

all4

YOu*"

Companiesimpacting
employability - 5,000
7th company certified EDGE ~ opportunities for youth by 2030

Best-in-Class ESG Reporting

Differently-abled inclusion:
2% worldwide today,
target 10% by 2030

Global Compact

LEAD

2019 PARTICIPANT

1stinindustry to become UN Global
Compact LEAD 1/40+worldwide

op2d

1 0f 27 companies worldwide
determined to restore biodiversity

Business Ambition for 1.5°C
1 of 665 companies

Top 1% of 75,000+
companies Score: 83/100

Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) based + 47 quantitative ESG goals + 100% independently audited

2.
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Perfumery & Ingredients Taste & Beyond
gt =3, 1 4 N
(% 3 (% 3
Ny Ny,
OF REVENUE OF REVENUE
— Leading playeracross P&l segments — Globalscale player
— Leaderinrenewable, biodegradable, — Leadinginnovatorin Dairy and Meat analogues,
and sustainable ingredients Sugar Reduction and natural/clean labelsolutions

Fine Fragrance

1 '_ i
i S
Consumer Fragrances Taste Sweet Goods Beverage Savory
" market
: E‘ segments m‘ Y W
=rn ] "I = r '
8 el WS
' -
E— !_‘ - |
Ingredients Beyond Dairyand meat  Sugar Natural/
Taste focus analogues reduction clean label
growth = .. B
. -
% categories S
E "'. [} E "
Ay =L @.
=l

"Ranked#1 asco-leader
Based onManagement estimates; Firmenich CY20vs. Key playersrevenue figures. '3
Firmenichrevenueincludes DRT, as wellas MG International (ona fullyear pro-forma basis).
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Lefttoright:

Gilbert Ghostine

Chief Executive Officer;
Patrick Firmenich
Chairman of the Board

The pastyear has
been a particularly
challenging one,
for Firmenich

and the world at
large, and we can
be very proud of
our achievements
against this
backdrop.

CHAIRMAN AND

CEO'SSTATEMENT

AsourFiscalYear2021 (FY21) draws
toaclose, ourthoughts gooutto
allthose who have suffered from

the effects of this terrible Covid-19
pandemic that continues to afflict
the world. We are deeply thankful to
allthe frontline workers who have
worked tirelessly to help keep others
safe and our economies afloat.

Ourthanks goalsotoour 10,000
colleagues, who have ensured our
ongoing service to our customers
and communities as a key participant
in essential food and hygiene supply
chains. Through their dedication
and agility, Firmenich has sustained
itsentrepreneurial spiritand
strengthened its customerintimacy.
Despite lockdowns and logistical
challenges, our factories and
laboratories remained operational,
with limited supply chain disruption.
We have continued to deliver

record volumes, maintaining
best-in-class levels of service and
demonstrating our commitment
and reliability to our customers.

We are proud of what Firmenich has

achievedin FY21, despite the continued

challenges of Covid-19. We maintained
arazor-sharp focus on the health and
safety of our people. We delivered
anotheryear of solid results, with
anaccelerationin the second half of
the year, and we continued to make
progressontheintegration of DRT
and MG International. Throughout
the year, we continued toinvest for
the future, in both our people and the
business, and we accelerated our
innovation. Responsible businessis
acore element of ouridentity, and
this yearagain we have continued

to lead the industry in this area.

Looking ahead, we are well-
positioned to ensure that our
FiscalYear2022 (FY22) willbe
ayear of growth, leadership,
and excellencein execution.

Ourrevenuereached CHF 4,272
million, up +4.7% on an organic basis
at constant currency, driven by the
performance of Taste & Beyond, with
strong growth in Beverages, and
Perfumery & Ingredients, with solid
growthinIngredients as wellas the
gradualrecovery of Fine Fragrance.
We achieved double-digitrevenue
growth in the key markets of North
America, China, and India, and most
geographicregionsreturnedto
growth. Acquisitions contributed
+12.1 percentage points torevenue
growth, whereas foreign exchange
had animpact of -6.6 percentage
points, caused by the appreciation of
the Swiss Franc. Asaresult, revenue
onareported basis grew by +10.2%.
Inthe second half of the year, we
have seen accelerating revenue
growth (+6.9% on an organic basis
at constant currency), driven by a
rebound in Fine Fragrance (+39%
onanorganic basis at constant
currency), with continued momentum
fromtherest of our business.

Inachallenging year, we delivered
resilient profitability, with reported
EBITDAmargin of 20.5%. Adjusted
EBITDAmargin was 19.1%, as
aresult of the adverse effect of
foreign exchange, the disruption of
the pandemic, and the temporary
impact of acquisitions. Excluding
the impact of acquisitions and
foreign exchange, Adjusted EBITDA
margin would have decreased



by 1.2 percentage pointvs. FY20.
Netincome reached CHF 449 million
onareported basis, a decrease of
-2.3% compared to the result of FY20.

In keeping with our commitment

to maintain astronginvestment
grade credit rating, we delivered
record cash generation, with Free
Cash Flow of CHF 511 million’, up
+12.5% compared to the previous
year, and EBITDAto Free Cash Flow
conversion ratio reaching 59%.

The transformational acquisition of
DRT enables Firmenich to build the
world's leading innovation platform
forrenewable, biodegradable,
andsustainable ingredients for
Flavors & Fragrances. Firmenichis
now the most vertically integrated
company in the industry inrenewable
ingredients. This allows us to meet
our customers' growing demand for
sustainable products, a key long-
term growth driver for our industry.

We are making progressin the
integration of DRT, which offers
auniguerenewable ingredients
production platform, and end-market
complementarity with long-term
growth and innovation potential. The
pandemic has had an adverse impact
onrevenue and profit this year, due to
lowerdemand in the DRTindustrial
end marketsandin Fine Fragrance,
resulting in us being behind our original
business case assumptions for FY21.
Inthe second half of the year, we have
seenasignificantrevenue rebound,
aswellasimproving profitability.

We are confidentin the strategic fit of
thisacquisitionandin the long-term
competitive advantage provided

by ourunique and proprietary
accesstorenewableingredients.

Despite the need to manage the impact
of the crisis, we have maintained our
focus on preparingand investing for the
future. During the last twelve months,
we have concluded several strategic
acquisitions and partnerships.

In Perfumery & Ingredients, we have
increased our controlling stake in

MG International, reinforcing our
presence in the mid-marketin Turkey
andacross the Middle East. We also
agreed toacquire a non-controlling
stake in Essential Labs, a digitally
native supplier of fragrance solutions
toentrepreneurial businessesin the
US premium home segment, with

a potential future path to control,
depending on performance. We signed
an exclusive partnership with Coop
SCA3P, the world's leading producer of
naturallavandin, increasing our lead in
naturalingredients and sustainability,
and confirming our historical
commitment to the region of Grasse.

In Taste & Beyond, we increased our
minority equity interestin ArtSciin
China, toserve local customers with
increased agility and geographic
reach. We also signed a strategic
partnership with Authentic Products
in Madagascar, strengthening our
commitment to a sustainable, ethical,
andtraceable value chaininvanilla.

We have continued to upgrade our
organizationandinvestintop talents
to prepare forthe future. Thisyear saw

Strategic Report Chairmanand CEO's statement

new arrivals and internal appointments
to key senior leadership positions,
including a new Chief Financial
Officer, anew Chief Procurement
Officer, anew Chief Supply Chain
Officerand a new Chief Research
Officer?. We have streamlined

and upgraded the organizations

in Perfumery & Ingredients and

in Taste & Beyond, to further
strengthen our creation, innovation
and agility, and continue delivering
compelling solutions and undeniable
value for our customers.

We are proud of our leadershipin
science, consistently investing the
highest proportion of Revenue on R&D
intheindustry, yielding over 4,000
patents currently active. In addition to
driving our business, we leverage our
research to help address key societal
challenges, such as sustainability,
malnutrition and sanitation.

In Perfumery & Ingredients, we

have continued our innovative work

in malodor control, a key leverin
tackling the sanitation crisisin low-
income regions. Our DeodEcode®
technology, a breakthrough innovation
capable of eliminating bad smells,

has been extended across several
categories, contributing to double-
digitrevenue growthin malodor
controlsolutions, on an organic basis
at constant currency. Advancing the
sustainability of our portfolio, we
launched PopScent®Eco (Gen 1),
offering a step-change improvement
in biodegradation and renewability

in fragrance encapsulation. Our
fragrances heighten consumers'
positive emotional experiences, which
is perhaps even more importantin

TFree Cash Flow was favorably impacted by the cash effect of disposals (CHF 42 million) and settlement of legal claims (CHF 30 million).

2Appointment effective 1 July 2021.

I's
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Chairman and CEQ's statement (continued)

these challenging times. With thisin
mind, we have created a multifaceted
innovative program, EmotiOn, to
help our clients develop perfect
product mixes that delightand
satisfy consumers. As the industry
leaderin naturals, we introduced
FreshSlice™, our new collection

of all-natural citrus oils, delivering
unique freshness and authenticity.
We also launched the Firgood™
collection, a new range of natural
extracts obtained by arevolutionary,
sustainable proprietary extraction
technology, enabling the processing
of biomass never previously usedin
theindustry for naturalingredients.

In Taste & Beyond, we deliver leading
proprietary sugarand salt reduction
solutions. We help bring abouta new
world of protein analogs to serve
the globalemergence of flexitarian
diets, and we develop best-in-class
nutrition to enhance wellbeing

and fight malnutrition. In Sugar
Reduction, we achieved double-
digitrevenue growthin FY21, onan
organic basis at constant currency.

Thisis enabled by innovations

such as the new TasteGEM® SWL

with Saphera®, which allows
unprecedented sugarreductionin
dairy products, without the use of
sweeteners, while keeping a natural
sweet taste. Addressing changing
globaldietaryrequirements, we
launched Dynarome® SR and TR flavor
solutions, which deliveranaturaland
authentic meat-like cooking and eating
experience in plant-based analogs.

We have accelerated on our digital
transformation journey. We are proud
to have launched both the world's first
flavorand first consumer fragrance

61l

designed with the help of Artificial
Intelligence. We have introduced new
fragrance design models, improving
the technical performance of our
fragrancesin both Fine and Consumer
Fragrances. We haverolled outa

new customer-focused website

and have continued to deliver high
double-digitrevenue growth from
our e-commerce channel, onan
organic basis at constant currency.
We have also strengthened our
capabilities to innovate with our
customers, inaugurating our West
Coast Innovation Center for Rapid
End-To-End Product Development

in California, and our Smart Protein
Innovation Centerin Singapore.

Ourresponsible business modelis

a core part of our family heritage

and is consistent with our values

and company purpose. The third-
party credentials that recognize our
Environmental, Socialand Governance
performance are a source of trust
forourclientsandinvestors, and
asource of motivation forall our
colleagues. Thisyear, we announced
ambitious ESG goals for2025and
clearmeasurable targets for 2030.
We are taking an ambitious carbon
emissions commitment: to reach
carbon neutrality by 2025, and carbon
positive impact beyond that date.

By 2030, we will strive to achieve
absolute carbon emission reduction
inline with the 1.5°C Science-Based
Targets. Inline with our new goals,
we are also improving further our
ESGreporting standards starting with
the FY21 edition of our ESG report.

Firmenich is one of only two companies
inthe world toreceive atriple A
rating from CDP, in Climate, Water

and Forests, forthe thirdyearina
row. Thisisatestamentto ourteams’
effortstoaddress environmental
issues through our operations.

Thisyear we have been rated for the
firsttime by Sustainalytics, witha
score of 8.6, which not only places
usas ESG leadersinourindustryand
the broader Chemicals sector, but
alsointhe top 1% of companies rated
worldwide. This score highlights

our low risk profile and industry-
leading management of ESGissues.

InMay 2021 we received the

global EDGE MOVE™ certification,
inrecognition of our workand
longstanding commitment for
gender equality. This builds on our
earlier EDGE certification, which we
obtained forthe firsttime in 2018. As
the firstin the industry to complete
the Sustainable Development Goals
(SDGs) Action Manager assessment
thisyear, we accelerated our
progress onthe B.Corpjourney.

Integrating ESG dimensions requires
adatadriven, end to end approach
from source to consumer. To realize
this ambition, we have launched
Path2Farm™, a proprietary digital
solution that ensures traceability

on the full chain of custody, from
registered farmers to final products.
Ourambitious objectiveis toregister
allour farmersin the traceability
program, bringing advanced
digitalization to the most remote fields.

Finally, we maintained our industry
leadership in safety performance,
recording a Total Recordable Case
(TRC) rate of 0.23, (including our
integrated acquisitions) and 23 of our
36 manufacturing plants achieved



afullyearwith zerorecordable
injuries, 14 of which have now
exceeded 1000 days injury free.

Our Fiscal Year 2022 will be a year of
growth, leadership, and excellence
in execution. As the situation starts
tonormalize, with more countries
reopening and travelrestrictions
being lifted, the rebound that we
saw in the last sixmonths gives us
confidence forthe yearahead. We are
particularly encouraged by the latest
performance improvementsin Fine
Fragrance, in Europeandin DRT.

Aswe move into FY22 we will continue
to push profitable organic growth

and cash generation, furthersharpen
our commercial focus on high growth
segments and markets, and drive
increased agility and simplification
acrossour business model.

Excellencein execution willbe
core to oursuccess, providing
best-in-classservice to our
customers, withinnovationand
safety of supply, while driving
profitability and cash generation.

The pastyearhasbeenaparticularly
challenging one, for Firmenich and
the world at large, and we can be
very proud of our achievements
against thisbackdrop. We would like
to express our deepest gratitude to
all ourshareholders, bondinvestors,
customers, our colleagues, and
their families. We look forward

to engaging and working with

you in the coming year, tackling

the challenges and seizing the
opportunitiesand rewards ahead.

With warm regards,

ok e

Patrick Firmenich
Chairman of the Board

Gilbert Ghostine
Chief Executive Officer

Strategic Report Chairmanand CEO's statement

Looking ahead, we
are well-positioned
to ensure that our
Fiscal Year 2022
will be a year of
growth, leadership,
and excellence

in execution.
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PURPOSE, STRATEGY
& SUSTAINABILITY

There is no long- OUR PURPOSE
term shareholder
value creation For Good, Naturally

without values.

Gilbert Ghostine
Chief Executive Officer

We go beyond creating unique Where you experience fragrance
sensorial experiences. We create asapleasurable smell, we see
positive emotions toimprove the opportunity to accelerate
wellbeing, while preserving the planet. wellness around the world.
Where you perceive taste as something Thisisthe heart of our purpose:
to savor, we see the potential to Creating positive emotions to
advance nutrition, by making enhance wellbeing, naturally.

healthier foods taste delicious.

Where you see nature,
we see an endless source of
inspiration to be treasured.

8/
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This is the heart of our
purpose: Creating positive
emotions to enh
wellbeing, naturally:

Customers

— Wefragrance and flavor our customers'products for our mutual success.

— Ourcustomerintimacy is unique as we partner with our customers to transform theirambitions into reality
— Weanticipate consumers'desires, continuously reinventing the world of taste and smell

— Wedelivervalue through innovative products and services, placing decision-making as close as
possible to our customers

People
Our people are the heart of our Company. They are recognized for their passion, talentand commitment
— Westrictly maintain the highest levels of personalintegrity and ethical behavior

— Wevaluediversity and create an environment in which each colleague isempowered and encouraged to
grow, enabling us to shape our future with confidence and imagination

We unite the finest talents and nurture an entrepreneurial team spirit to attain our strategic goals

Creativity

Creativity is our essence. We create fragrances and flavors that inspire moments of pleasure and delight for
consumers worldwide

— Weleadourindustryinresearch and innovation, constantly driving incremental and breakthrough
winning ideas and technologies

— Weapply ourcreativity toimprove all parts of the business

Sustainability

Ourintegrity and sense of individual and collective responsibility ensure our long-term success
— We practice a sustainable business model for the well-being of present and future generations

— Weengageallourstakeholders to build responsible, transparent and traceable supply chains everywhere

Legacy

Ourindependence gives us the freedom to control our destiny

— Weare afamily-owned company, committed to ourindependence
— Wetakealong-termview of our business

— Wepursue a policy of financial strength, profitable growth and return on assets




Strategic Report Purpose, strategy & sustainability

OUR STRATEGY

We are aleading playerin every
segment where we operate and
arediversified acrossresilient end
markets. We have a proven track
record of profitable growth, both
organically and through successful
acquisitions. We are a private company
operating with public company
governance standards, with a culture
guided by clearvalues. Our Board

of Directorsisindependent from
management and a majority of its
members are independent and not
related to our family shareholders.
We arealsoaleaderinresponsible
businessinourindustryandare
proud of our ESG credentials.

The Flavors & Fragrance industry
has demonstrated GDP+growth
and offers attractive opportunities
forinnovation and differentiation.
Itbenefits from favorable macro
trends thatare re-shaping strategic
opportunitiesand focus areas for
allindustry players. Continued
population growth, witha concurrent
rise of the middle class; technology-
enabled increasesin choice; stronger
environmental consciousness; and
increasingly empowered consumers
arejustafew of the factorsthatare
driving shifts across the industry.

In addition, consumer habits, from
demands forincreased labelling
and transparency, to customer
requirements formore renewable
and biodegradable ingredients, are
also evolving quickly and industry
playersneed toremain adaptive,
flexible and innovation-oriented.

Qurinnovation-led product portfolio,
built through our commitment to
R&D and creativity, and our deep-
rooted dedicationtoresponsible

10/

business, make us ideally placed
toaddress these trendsand grow
better than the market. We invest
behind key categories with superior
growth dynamics and where we can
unlock opportunities for our clients,
including naturalingredientsand
clean labelsolutions, renewable
ingredients, sugarand salt reduction,
and meatand dairy analogs.

In Perfumery & Ingredients, our
strategy will build upon our co-
leadership positions. We will reinforce
our Fine Fragrance business by
offering our clientsinnovative products
developed through olfactory creativity,
leading the drive forresponsible
perfumery by increasing the content
of renewable ingredientsin our
formulations, and expanding our
market reach, particularly in growth
markets. In Consumer Fragrances, we
will continue to serve as a strategic
partner for leading globaland

local customers and by developing
breakthrough innovations to offer
superior products for the conscious
consumer. InIngredients, we are
leveraging our transformational
acquisition of DRT to build the

world's leading innovation platform
forrenewable, biodegradable, and
sustainable ingredients for Flavors

& Fragrance, while investing to
continually enhance the world's
leading creative perfumery palette.

Within Taste & Beyond, we will build
on our flavor foundations, which

are sweet, savory and beverage.
Growthinthe flavor foundationsis
underpinned by a continued focus on
winning with both globaland local
customers, increased penetration

of growth markets, extending our

naturalingredients portfolioand
an acceleration of launches of
innovative new ingredients and
solutions. We are also expanding
into selected "BeyondFlavors”
domains, to co-create the next
generation of food and beverages
and lead dietary transformation
through ourinnovationin four key
areas: sugarand salt reduction
solutions, meatand dairy analogs,
best-in-class nutrition, and natural
transformation and Clean label.

We will deliver our strategy focusing
on three strategic pillars:

1. "Deliver Enhanced Customer
Experience” - delivering
breakthrough innovation and
consolidating Firmenich's
leadershipiningredients
while deploying increased
flexibility in the supply chain

2. "GainValue Share" - further
broadening Firmenich's
commercialreach, while
intensifying its pursuit of
high growth segments

3. "Become More Nimble"” - driving
end-to-end business model
simplification and enhanced
alignment with consumer’s
evolving needs, while leveraging
digitaltechnologiesto enhance
efficiencyand service
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Our future
increasingly
depends on our
ability to innovate
responsibly while
building on our
timeless values
and our legacy

of sustainability
leadership.

OUR SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY

We started our sustainability journey
afullyearbefore the Rio de Janeiro
Earth summit, with the signing, in

1991, of the International Chamber of
Commerce's first sustainability charter.

Our futureincreasingly depends on our
ability toinnovate responsibly while
building on our timeless values and our
legacy of sustainability leadership.

Our sustainability framework is
holistically embedded at the heart of
our company strategy. We see the next
10yearsasatransformation journey
towards business for good powered
by science. However, the global
challenges of the next decade are such
that Firmenich cannot succeed alone.

We willonly meet ourgoalsif we can
engage our stakeholdersin the journey,
working together with our customers,
suppliersand partners.

Ourstrategy focuses on three
streams in which we can make
the biggest difference: Acting

on Climate Change, Embracing
Nature and Caring about People.

"Become More Nimble" - driving end-
to-end business modelsimplification
and enhanced alignment with
consumers' evolving needs, while
leveraging digital technologies to
enhance efficiency and service.

This supports our business objectives
and aligns with the United Nations
Sustainable Development Goals
(SDGs). Itinvolves everyone in our
supply chain, and itempowers every
colleague to make change happen.

To design this strategy, we collected
inputs from a wide range of colleagues,
we conducted online workshops

and we consulted with external
stakeholders to ensure that our new
ambitions have been shaped by co-
ownership and co-accountability.

Firmenich ESG 2025 Targets were
launched in February 2021. Our CEO
and the Executive Team presented our
new vision to the media in tandem with
presentations and dialogue across
the Group. Business divisions have
also designed deployment programs
to create awareness within their
teamsand ensure that all colleagues
integrate our ESG ambitionsin their
own performance objectives. To
secure ourindustry leadershipin ESG
performance, it has been decided to
add two critical ESG criteria to the Long
Term Incentive plan of Senior Leaders
based on CO2reductionand gender

& ethnic diversity of Senior Leaders.
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CARBON NEUTRALITYIN OUR DIRECT OPERATIONS BY 2025 AND CARBON POSITIVE BEYOND THAT DATE
By 2030, we will strive to achieve absolute carbon emission reduction in line with the 1.5°C Science-Based Targets

We will strive to:

OPERATE

DELIVER

PROTECT

%3
0
L
=
@
>
)

2025 TARGETS STREAMS

DRIVERS

globally with the highest standards of governance, ethics and transparency

100% of our products with a measureable improved social and environmentalimpact

the environment, biodiversity and people through impactful science and innovation

Actingon
Climate change

Carbon neutralin our operations

Water neutralin water
stressed areas

Zero waste to landfill
100% renewable electricity
100% plastic recycled

100% renewable fragrances

£

IMPACTFULSCIENCE

Note:see fulldetailin ESG section of www.firmenich.com
1Senior Leaders: Executives, Senior Presidents, selected Vice Presidents, Senior Directorsand Creators thatare members of the Senior Leadership Team (SLT).

Diverse:allmembersidentifyingas female and/or ethnically diverse, i.e. self-identifying with a culture, life background, geographic origin or physical characteristics which are not those of the

RESPONSIBLE SOURCING

in conscious perfumery
in diet transformation
inrenewable ingredients

70% renewable ingredients
90% certified Terpenes & Resins
100% fragrances made of...
99% biodegradeable ingredients

100% certified biodiversity risk
managementapproach

a6

BUSINESS ETHICS

Caucasian culture and characteristics. 2025 Targets for Senior Leader Diversity are under review by the Board of Directors.

Caring about
People

Zero human rights non compliance
in our operations

No gender pay gap -
No ethnic pay gap

100% living wage in our operations
50 certified ingredients

Safety: totalrecordable case
(TRC) rate below 0.20

Industry Leading Diversity of
Senior Leaders’

Hs

DIGITALACCELERATION
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We believe in
being creators
of talent for
today and for the
future, to ensure
our company's
heritage and our
responsibility to
our employees
and society.

OUR PEOPLE

Asafamily-owned company and
people-driven business, we place our
colleagues atthe heart of oursuccess
and are committed to enablinga
working environment where everyone
can thrive around the world.

While fully living our Purpose "For
Good naturally”, we are continuously
engaging our employees and shaping
our organizationinto an environment
where people areinspired, curious
and canunleash their full potential to
grow. At Firmenich, it's notjust WHAT
you achieve, it's HOW you achieve it!
Our Winning Behaviors are the future-
focused ways of thinking and acting
todrive our growth and success.

We take prideininvestinginour
Human Capital to enable learning,
employability and adaptability in our
ever-changing world. How dowe do
this? By equipping our colleagues
with the skills they need to thrive,
today and tomorrow. And, by being
curious about new ways of working,
identifying skills required for the future
workforce, and being flexible and agile
toadjust to change. Mostimportantly,
by ensuring all ouremployeesand
theirroles contribute to the success of
the teamand the broader organization
andthatthey feelrecognized, valued
and rewarded for their contributions.

isastrongassettowininthe new
normal. We believe in the value

of being togetherto co-create

and collaborate through physical
interactionin the office. At the same
time, we recognize the new ways of
working allow us to interact virtually.

L1

Asaresponsible company, we need
torespondto evolving needs of our
People, that's why we have adapted
our Flexible Working guidelines we
issued backin 2018 and implemented
our Smarter Working Guidelines,
enabling us to WIN and be resilientin
the "new normal”. Smarter Working
givesindividuals choice in where, when
and how they work whilst ensuring
collaboration, wellbeing, achieving
resultsand winning asa company.

and we believe in providing
opportunities forour people to learn
every day, through feedback, training,
challenging work assignments, and
career opportunities. By promoting
and measuring the movement of
talentacrossroles, teamsand the
globe, we are building capabilities
forthe future and motivating the
talents we need to develop and
retaintogetthere. Thisyearwe

have launched two new leadership
programs focusing on developing
our new people manager capabilities
and future generations of leaders.



OUR DIVERSITY & BELONGING

OBJECTIVES FOR 2025

OURESG GOALS FOR 2025 RELATED
TODIVERSITYAND BELONGING ARE
THE FOLLOWING:

InMarch 2021, we renewed

and upgraded our Global EDGE
Certification for gender parity in the
workplace. Economic Dividends for
Gender Equality (EDGE), the leading
business certification standard for
gender equality, officially recognized
usfordrivingadiverse andinclusive
workforce worldwide, with equal
opportunities forall. EDGE has
rewarded our progressin expanding
diverserepresentationatall levels,
pay equity and fostering a strong
sense of belongingamong our
diverse workforce worldwide. We
arerated at"Move" level globally
under EDGE's rigorous standards.

Along with ensuring equal pay,
Firmenich is committed to fostering
atransparentand fair working
environment, rewarding employees

WINNING BEHAVIORS

OurWinning Behaviors are
the future-focused ways of
thinking and acting to drive
our growth and success.

ABSOLUTE CUSTOMER FOCUS

based ontheir performance. Equal pay
isaboutamanandawomanreceiving
equal pay forthe same orsimilarjobs.

In May 2021, we published our
Diversity & Belonging policy which
reinforces our commitment to
provide awork environment free
from discrimination, where everyone
isrespected, heard and valued.

In2021, more than 5,000 colleagues
worldwide responded to our global
inclusion survey, demonstrating their
strong sense of belonging as wellas
their diversity. Among the key findings:

—  79% of them feel they
belongat Firmenich

— 33%ofthemidentified as
being part of a minority

In September 2020, Firmenich SA
hasreceived the Swiss LGBTI
Labelforitsinclusive organizational

O

GROWTH MINDSET

c

DATADRIVEN
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Our Diversity &

Belonging strategy
isintegrated in our
ESG goals for 2025.

culture for LGBTI peoplein
Switzerland. We are committed to
obtaining certification across all
markets whereitis organized.

We build leading global teams to

drive winning performance, meeting

the needs of our diverse clients,

employeesand stakeholders. Currently
47% of our Senior Leaders are diverse,

and we are reviewing our ambitions

for2025and beyond to secure that

our leadership optimally reflects our

evolving global company footprint.

TLGTBI: Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, Intersex
2Senior Leaders: Executives, Senior Presidents, selected
Vice Presidents,Senior Directorsand Creatorsthatare

members of the Senior Leadership Team (SLT).

PROACTIVITY

IMPACT OBSESSED
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Our people (continued)

InFY21, Firmenich North America, under
the leadership of the Diversity Council,
has formed a Black Advisory Council,
which evolved into Firmenich's Tst
Employee Resource Group, FirLessly
Black. They launched a Racism Survey
to gaininsight onthose who identified as
partofa minority and their experience
asemployees. Based oninsights from
the survey, they organized Listening
Circlestosupportvaried demographics,
including Black, Asianand LGBTIteam
members. Firmenich North America

is focusing its efforts on accelerating
representation of African Americans/
Blackcitizensin their workforce.

Based on the ethnicity disclosure
datainselected countries we can
now assessand ascertain that
pay practices guarantee equity
forourminority colleagues.

In November 2020, 919 colleagues
including 336 people managers
participatedin ourone-monthresilience
journey, consisting of a series of
webinars, supported by external
experts, during which constructive
reflectionsand practical strategies
were taught to help strengthen our
resilience in our daily lives towards a
more balanced lifestyle. In May 2021,
we launched aresilience program
across our Global Operations, over 450
colleagues took a team diagnosticand
leaders were trained and coached to
help them to see the benefits to their
emotional well-being on performance,
decision-making and creativity for
themselves and theirteams.

People with a different ability are
among the most under-represented
populationsin terms of employment
and educational opportunity. We
wanttoaddress thisinequality by
removing the obstacles that block
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people's progress —aswellas through
tackling stereotypesand bias, in
alignment with our commitment to

The Valuable 500 movement we made
in December2019. By 2025, weaimto
have differently-abled people amount to
5% of our workforce.

Asof FY21, almost 2% of our workforce
has different abilities. We were
recognized in August 2021 by the
President of Singapore, Halimah
Yacob, for our outstanding efforts to
integrate visually impaired employees.
Our program for the visually impaired
beganin2015and now encompasses
five countries, namely China, India,
Mexico, Singapore and the UK.

InFY21, Firmenich Singapore

hired six visually impaired sensory
panelists to augmentits existing
sensory team of five, earning the
program internationalaccoladesasan
example of successfulinclusion.

We partnerwith several organizations
to connect with people of different
abilitiesand help them expand their
professional skillsets. Forexample,

People & organization strategy

MOST BEST
TALENTIN

INDUSTRY

RESPONSIBLE
COMPANY

No pay gap nor Sales force mindset
engagement gap & capabilities

for minority groups S

2500 Youth learning &
employment unlearning
e New Skillsets
100% Living Wage ST
certification Planning
SOO.O/oI&eadlr:ers Augmented Talent
rained on human Ao

rights & mental
health firstaid

100% of employees
trained on bias

we established a long-term pioneering
programwith alocal NGO (SGIPA) at
our Swiss Headquarters to employ 17
intellectually challenged youngsters
andyoung adults.

InFY21,across 17 local organizations:

— 1.8% of ourworkforceis
differently-abled’

— 38blind orvisually impaired
panelists employed
in five countries

Because achieving a sense of
belonging forallis notanautomatic
outcome of diversity, we need

to tackle both. The biases and
structuralinequalities that contribute
toinequality in society can still

be barriersin our workplace.

In North America, over 100 top leaders
completed a Diversity Intensive
Program, covering Microaggressions,
Inclusion & Belonging, Allyship &
Sponsorship and Inclusive Talent
Managementin May 2021.

"Basedoncurrentavailable data, forintegrated
acquisitionsonly

Drive decision
making in market
with maximum
client proximity

New performance
management
ecosystem

Winning Behaviors

Prioritize localroles Nevw shar=tarmm

Be lasersharpon incentive design
what Global CoEs

doand decide New Leadership

Series embedding
Jointaccountability ~ Winning Behaviors
forbusiness

results & goals



WORKFORCE INDICATORS

HEADCOUNT IN FULL-TIME EQUIVALENTS

BY CONTRACTTYPE
FY21

9,934 Total
FY20

9,903 Total

FURTHER WORKFORCE HEADCOUNT

Headcountby region Headcount by division
South East & function
Asia Research & development

Enablers?®

America

12%

12%
India, Middle tTJisytOen&d

East & Africa

35%
Perfumery &
ingredients

20%
North
America

3Enablers: Global Operations non-supply
chain, Legal & Compliance, Finance, Human

Resourcesand Corporate services

GENDER PAY EQUALITYS
Non-exempt Exempt
Men Men 2.41%

The median pay forwomenis
3.13% higher than that of men
for Non-Exempt population

The median pay for
menis 2.41% higher
than that of women for
Exempt population

Strategic Report Our people

HEADCOUNT BY GENDER? B Men M Women
Team (DG 55%

' Percentage calculated only foremployees forwhom datais available

2Senior Leaders: Executives, Senior Presidents, selected Vice Presidents,
Senior Directorsand Creators thatare members of the Senior Leadership Team (SLT)

Headcount by generation Employee total turnover

4
GenZ BabyBoomers by gender, FY21
(1995 onwards)  (1946-1964)

10.0%

(1982-1994)
Men

GenX
(1965-1981)

“Turnoverscope: permanent
contracts; the following acquisitions
are notincluded: Essex, VKL, DRT,
MG International

Middle management Director

Men 2.86% Men

The median pay forwomen
is 1.51% higherthan that
of men at Director level.

The median pay for men
is2.86% higherthan
that of women at Middle
management level.

Non-exempt: Operational levels, who are typically entitled to overtime pay and may be paid on salary or hourly basis
Exempt: Specialist, Middle, Upperand top management levels, who are typically not eligible to overtime pay

5Apositive numberindicates which genderearns more onaverage. 2020 data for Firmenich Group

EMPLOYEE DIVERSITY IN FIRMENICH SIGNATURE LEADERSHIP PROGRAMS

Lead now - people manager focus

Gender Market

28%
Emerging
599, markets
Men

Lead next - next generations of leaders
Gender Market

25%
Emerging
markets

Annual Report2021 // 17
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Revenue
(CHF)

TOTALREVENUE

k2 12m

+l|-.70/0 ORGANIC*

+1 6.80/0 INCL ACQUISITIONS*
FY20:3'878m

PERFUMERY & INGREDIENTS

2'895M

+l|'.l|-0/0 ORGANIC*
+23.50/0 INCL ACQUISITIONS*

FY20:2'450m

TASTE & BEYOND

141/m

+5.20/0 ORGANIC*

FY20:1'428m

Profitability and

free cash flow
(CHF)

ADJUSTED EBITDA

816M191%

-0.0%

OFREVENUE

FY20:859m, 22.1%

FREE CASH FLOW?

517M59%._.

+12.5%

FY20:454m, 55%

Atconstantcurrency

Cash conversionis calculated as the ratio of
Free cash flow to EBITDA.

Free Cash Flow was favorably impacted by
the cash effect of disposals (CHF 42 milion)
and settlement of legal claims (CHF 30
million).

GROUP

Revenue reached CHF 4,272
million, up 4.7% year-over-year
onanorganic basis at constant
currency. Including acquisitions,
Revenueincreased 16.8% year-
over-yearat constant currency.
Onareported basis, Revenue
increased 10.2% year-over-year

EBITDA of CHF 874 million, up
+6.2% year-over-year. Excluding
the impact of acquisitions and
foreign exchange, EBITDAwould
have increased by +10.6%

Adjusted EBITDAof CHF 816
million, down -5.0% year-over-
year. Excluding the impact

of acquisitions and foreign
exchange, Adjusted EBITDA
would have decreased by -1.1%

Adjusted EBITDAmarginas
percentage of revenue of 19.1%,
down -3.0 percentage points
compared to the previous year,
due to the impact of acquisitions,
negative foreign exchange and the
temporary effect of the pandemic
on costsand mix. Excluding the
impact of acquisitions and foreign
exchange, Adjusted EBITDA
margin would have decreased

by -1.2 percentage points

Free Cash Flow of CHF 511 million?,
up +12.5% year-over-year

EBITDAto Free Cash Flow
conversion ratio of 59%

Demonstrated solid organic
revenue growth across Perfumery
& Ingredients and Taste & Beyond
divisions, driven by areboundin
Fine Fragrance, strong customer
demandinIngredients, growthin
Beverages supported by our Sugar
Reduction solutions, and Dairy

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

— Achieveddouble-digitrevenue
growth in key markets of North
America (+11.3%), China (+14.4%)
and India (+17.4%), on an organic
basis at constant currency

— Further progress made integrating
DRT. The pandemic has had an
adverseimpactonrevenue and
profitthisyear, resulting in us
being behind our original business
caseassumptions for FY21. We
saw asignificant revenue rebound
inthe second half of the year, as
wellasimproving profitability

— Strengthened leadership team
with new senior appointments
and upgraded organizations
in Perfumery & Ingredients
and Taste & Beyond

— Accelerated development
of innovative new products
including launch of the world's
first flavorand first consumer
fragrance designed with the
help of Artificial Intelligence

Strengthened responsible
business leadership position with
CDPAAArating forthe 3rd year
running, and anindustry-leading
Sustainalytics ESGrating of 8.6

— Announced ambitious ESG targets
toreach carbon neutrality by
2025, and carbon positive impact
beyond that date. By 2030, we will
strive toachieve absolute carbon
emissionreductionin line with the
1.5°C Science-Based Targets

FY21 continued to be marked by the
Covid-19 pandemic. Against this
backdrop, we delivered anotheryear
of solid results, with an acceleration
inthe second half of the year, while
making progress on the integration
of DRTand MG International.



Revenueincreased +4.7% onan
organic basis at constant currency,
reaching CHF 4,272 million.

Acquisitions contributed CHF

470 million or+12.1 percentage
points torevenue growth, whereas
foreign exchange had animpact of CHF
-255 million or -6.6 percentage points,
due to the appreciation of the Swiss
Franc. Onareported basis, Revenue
increased 10.2% year-over-year.

Perfumery & Ingredients Revenue
increased +4.4%, onan organic
basis at constant currency, driven
by thereboundin Fine Fragrance
(+8.9%, on an organic basis at
constant currency) and strong
customerdemandin Ingredients.

Taste & Beyond Revenue
increased+5.2%, onan organic
basis at constant currency,

driven by growth in Beverages,
supported by our Sugar Reduction
solutions, and growth in Dairy.

Inthe second half of the year, we saw
anaccelerationinrevenue growth,
+6.9% year-over-year, onan organic
basis at constant currency, with
continued momentum from our two
Divisions, and a strong reboundin Fine
Fragrance, which grew by +39%, on
anorganic basis at constant currency.

On ageographicbasis, we have seen
aresumption of revenue growthin
markets where restrictions linked to
the pandemic have eased. As we close
FY21, mostregions had returned to
revenue growth. On an organic basis
at constant currency, revenue grew
by +11.3% year-over-yearin North
America, +9.4%in India, Middle East
and Africa, +9.7%in North & East Asia,
+1.3% in Latin Americaand +0.0%in
SoutheastAsia. In Europe, revenue
declined by -0.7% year-over-year on
an organic basis at constant currency,
butwe saw astrongrebound inthe
second half of the year, linked to the
recoveryin Fine Fragrance. During

Revenue by Division (CHF millions)

Strategic Report Performance review

Change %
onanorganic
Change % Change % basis at
inCHF as at constant constant
Division FY21 FY20 reported currency currency
Perfumery & 2,855 2,450 +16.5% +23.5% 4.4%
Ingredients
Taste & 1,417 1,428 -0.7% +5.2% +5.2%
Beyond
Revenue by Region (CHF millions)
Change %
on an organic
Change % Change % basisat
inCHF as atconstant constant
Region FY21 FY20 reported currency currency
Europe 1,475 1,191 +23.9% +25.8% -0.7%
North America 1,086 977 +11.2% +19.0% +11.3%
Latin America 438 503 -13.0% +3.3% +1.3%
India, Middle 482 435 +10.9% +18.8% +9.4%
Eastand Africa
South EastAsia 439 457 -3.8% +2.2% +0.0%
North & EastAsia 352 315 +11.8% +15.2% +9.7%

FY21, we also achieved double-digit
growth in the key markets of China
(+14.4%) and India (+17.4%), onan
organic basis at constant currency.

The table above provides the
breakdown of ourrevenue by region.

Gross Profitincreased by +1.8%
year-over-yearonareported

basis, reaching CHF 1,759 million.
Acquisitions contributed CHF 80
million to Gross Profit. In comparison
to prioryearrates, foreign exchange
had an unfavorable impact of

CHF -118 million. Excluding the
impact of acquisitions and foreign
exchange, Gross Profit would have
increased by CHF 69 million.

Gross Margin as a percentage of
revenue was 41.2%, a decrease of
-3.4 percentage pointsonareported
basis, compared to the previous year.

Thiswas primarily due to the impact
of acquisitions, which accounted for
-2.9 percentage points, in addition
tothe negative impact of foreign
exchange (-0.3 percentage points),
and negative mix of -0.2 percentage
points, primarily in Taste & Beyond.

Adjusted EBITDAreached CHF 816
million, down -5.0% year-over-year.
Acquisitions contributed CHF 47
million, and foreign exchange had a
negative impact of CHF -80 million.
Excluding theimpact of acquisitions
and foreign exchange, Adjusted
EBITDAwould have decreased by
-1.1% compared to the previous year.

Adjusted EBITDAmarginasa
percentage of revenue was 19.1%, a
decrease of -3.0 percentage points
compared to the previous year.

This was driven by the impact of
acquisitions (-1.2 percentage points),
negative foreign exchange impact
(-0.6 percentage points) as well as the
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Performance review (continued)

temporary impact of the pandemic on
costsand mix. Excluding the impact

of acquisitions and foreign exchange,
Adjusted EBITDA margin would have
decreased by -1.2 percentage points.

Financing costsincreasedto CHF
48.4 millioncomparedto CHF 36.6
millionin the prioryear, asaresult
of theinterest payments on our
bonds. Net other financial expenses
reached CHF 18.9 million compared
to CHF 53.1 millionin the prior year.
The decrease was primarily due to
lower net exchange losses and lower
bank chargesand other financial
charges compared to the prioryear.

Netincome reached CHF 449 million
onareported basis, adecrease of
-2.3% compared to the result of
FY20. This was principally due to
the unfavorable effect of foreign
exchange and acquisitions.

The Group's effective tax rate (ETR)
reached 14.9%, whichisin line
with the Group expected taxrate,
and reflects the geographic mix

of ourbusiness activities. In the
same period in the previous year,
the Group effective tax rate was
17.3%. The reduction was primarily
driven by the financing costs and
theintegration of our acquisitions.

Free Cash Flowreached CHF 511
million, a+12.5% increase compared
tothe previous year, underscoring
our prudent execution and disciplined
working capital management during
the crisis. Free Cash Flow was
favorably impacted by the cash effect

T IAS32 - Financiallnstruments: Presentation

20 /1

reached CHF 5,472 million, and current
assetsstood at CHF 2,855 million.

of disposals (CHF 42 million) and
settlement of legal claims (CHF 30
million). As aresult, our conversion
ratio of reported EBITDAto Free
Cash Flow reached 59%, consistent
with our commitmenttoretaininga
stronginvestment grade credit rating
through solid cash generation.

The Board will propose a dividend
payout of CHF 250 million for this fiscal
year, to be approved by the Annual
Shareholders Meeting in October.

The Group's financial position
remained strong. Net debt stood

at CHF 1,591 million, up from CHF
1,572 millionin June 2020, the increase
being linked to our acquisitions. In
addition, in 2020 we have issued deeply
subordinated fixed rate resettable
perpetual notes for CHF 795 million,
which are accounted forin equityin

the Group's consolidated financial
statements, in accordance with

IFRS, asissued by the International
Accounting Standards Board

(IASB)?, as detailed in note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.
Totalassetsreached CHF 8,328
million, compared to CHF 7,945 million
inJune 2020. Non-current assets
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HISTORICAL SUMMARY

In millions of CHF (exceptemployees) as of June 30: 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
Income statement

Revenue 4,272.1 3,8717.6 3,873.8 3,658.5 3,337.6
Gross profit 1,758.9 1,728.4 1,693.3 1,701.6 1,594.0
Operating expenses (1,164.5) (1,705.8) (986.8) (1,029.2) (948.3)
Operating profit 594.4 622.6 706.5 672.3 6457
Other (expenses) and income (61.6) (63.5) (75.5) (15.3) (72.9)
Taxes (79.6) (96.9) (102.0) (75.3) (110.0)
Netincome (attributable to equity holders) 449.4 460.2 526.7 580.4 461.4
Adjusted EBITDA 815.9 858.8" 832.7 825.5 779.3

Cash flow statement
Cash flows from operating activities 693.3 641.9 618.8 572.7 505.3
Free cash flow 511.3 454.5 421.3 367.0 346.9

Balance sheet

Fixed assets 5,472.3 5132.4 2,586.3 2,207 1,513.3
Inventories 896.1 857.8 669.1 679.5 633.1
Trade, otherreceivablesand prepaid expenses 1,103.5 1,038.9 1,026.0 1,001.7 851.0
Marketable securities, cash and bank balances 794.6 828.0 4489 6171 457.8
Netinvestments 182.0 187.4 197.5 205.8 158.4
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 4,023.6 3,477.4 2,686.9 2,414.6 2,010.9
Non-controllinginterests 44.9 45.0 19.5 18.4 15.3
Borrowings 2,385.5 2,400.1 559.7 603.9 94.7
Other liabilities 1,873.5 2,022.9 1,560.2 1,585.6 1,400.3
Netcash/ (Netdebt) (1,590.9) (1,572.1) (110.6) 13.2 363.0
Personnel

Number of fixed employees atyear end 9,392 9,166 6,918 6,627 6,549
Numberof temporary employees atyearend 542 737 430 413 434
Key ratios

Gross margin 41.2% 44.6% 43.7% 46.5% 47.8%
Operating margin 13.9% 16.1% 18.2% 18.4% 19.3%
Netincome (attributable to equity holders) / Revenue 10.5% 11.9% 13.6% 15.9% 13.8%
EBITDA/Revenue 20.5% 21.2% 21.9% 21.9% 22.8%
Adjusted EBITDA/ Revenue 19.1% 22.1% 21.5% 22.6% 23.3%
Cash flows from operating activities / Revenue 16.2% 16.6% 16.0% 15.7% 15.1%
Totalequity / Total assets 48.9% 44.3% 56.1% 52.6% 57.5%
Net cash (Net debt) / Equity -39.1% -44.6% -4.1% 0.5% 17.9%
Personnelcosts/Revenue 25.6% 23.8% 22.5% 24.4% 24.0%
Revenue by employee 0.455 0.423 0.560 0.552 0.510
EBITDAto Free Cash Flow conversionrate 58.5% 55.3% 49.7% 45.9% 45.7%

"The adoption of IFRS 16 Leases ona prospective basisasof July 1,2019, resulted ina favorable impact on
Adjusted EBITDA of CHF 43.4 million for the yearended June 30,2020, compared to the prioryear

/il
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The pastyear

has beena
challenging and
transformational
one for Perfumery
& Ingredients.

We rose to

the challenge,
delivering
profitable growth

across the business.

Performance review (continued)

PERFUMERY & INGREDIENTS

The pastyearhas beenachallenging
and transformational one for
Perfumery & Ingredients. The
pandemic had significantadverse
effectson Fine Fragrance revenue
and on the profitability of our DRT
business. We rose to the challenge,
delivering profitable growth across
Perfumery & Ingredients.

Inthe second half of the year,
performance reboundedin Fine
Fragrance. The integration of DRT
continues to make progress, with
performanceimprovingin the
second half of the year. We continued
accelerating innovation, driving
digital business transformation,
and enhancing our sustainability
leadership, preparing for the

future through partnerships, and
upgrading our organization through
investmentin our people.

We accelerated ourinnovation,
redefining the future of fragrancein
collaboration with our customers,
based on deep consumerinsights
and world-class scientificresearch.
Backed by science, we are elevating
therole of fragrance toimprove
quality of life through hygiene,
mental health, and wellbeing. We
have alsorolled out enhanced digital
capabilities, launching Scentmate™,
the first fully integrated Al-enabled
fragrance platformaimed at
entrepreneurs andindependent
brands. We have continued to
strengthen our product claims,
performance-driven creation, and
recognized sustainability leadership.

We are leading the call for Conscious
Perfumery, and have committed to
ambitious 2030 ESG targets, such as
99% biodegradable ingredients and
70% renewable or upcycled carbon

content fragrances. We are reinventing
fragrance design through impactful
science, responsible sourcing, and
digital transparency. Our longstanding
focus on sustainability is recognized
by our key customersand is a source of
competitive advantage for Firmenich.

We continue to make progress on

the integration of DRT, the largest
acquisitionin the history of Firmenich,
which makes us the leaderin
renewable and naturally derived
ingredients. Through ouracquisition
of MG International, we reinforced
our presence in the mid-marketin
Turkey and the Middle East. We also
agreed to acquire a non-controlling
stake in Essential Labs, a digitally
native supplier of fragrance solutions
to entrepreneurial businessesin the
US premium home market segment
with a potential future path to control,
depending on performance. We
signed an exclusive partnership with
Coop SCA3P, the world's leading
producer of natural lavandin.

We have streamlined and upgraded
the organization across Perfumery

& Ingredients, reinforcing our close
relationships with global customers,
improving service to regionaland local
businesses, and seizing opportunities
with mid-to-smallsized companies.
We have invested to attract top talent,
including our new Chief Consumer

& Innovation Officer, and senior
regional, functional, and key account
leadersin Consumer Fragrances

and Fine Fragrance, as wellas our
new Chief Supply Chain Officer

and Chief Procurement Officer.

Despite the ongoing challenges
due to the pandemic, we delivered
strong financial performance in FY21.



Revenue reached CHF 2,855 million,
anincrease of +4.4% on an organic
basis at constant currency. Including
acquisitions, revenueincreased
+23.5% year-over-year, at constant
currency. Growth was driven by
resilient performance in Consumer
Fragrancesandstronggrowthin
Ingredients, while Fine Fragrance
salesreboundedinthe second of

half the year, afteradeclinein the
first half. We achieved double-digit
growth in the key markets of China
and North America. Oure-commerce
channelsalesalsoincreased more
than threefold year-over-year,
onanorganic basis at constant
currency. Acquisitions contributed
+19.1 percentage pointstorevenue
growth, while foreign exchange, in
comparison to prioryearrates, had an
unfavorable impact of -7.0 percentage
points. Asaresult, revenue increased
+16.5% on areported basis.

Adjusted EBITDAreached CHF

550 million, anincrease of +3.3%
year-over-year. Adjusted EBITDA
margin was 19.3%, a decrease of

2.5 percentage points. This was

the result of the negative impact of
foreign exchange and the short-term
impact of acquisitions, partly offset by
improving mix linked to the rebound
of Fine Fragrance in the second half
of the year. Excluding the impact of
foreign exchange and acquisitions,
Adjusted EBITDAmargin would have
been flatversus the prioryear.

Fine Fragrance was adversely
impactedin FY21 by retail closures
and travelrestrictions across much
of the world. In the second half of the
year, we saw a significant rebound,
with revenue increasing by a strong
+39% year-over-yeargrowth, onan
organic basis at constant currency.
Asaresult, Fine Fragrance closed
FY21 with revenue up by +8.9%, on
anorganic basis at constant currency.

We achieved solid growth with key
customersin North America and Latin
America, and saw gradualrecovery
in Europe. Asrestrictions were
partially lifted in some geographies,
consumers were able to begin
indulging again in this affordable
luxury category, which gives us
confidence forthe coming year.

During FY21, we built new
momentum with customers through
our RE|GENERATION strategy,
examining the future of Fine Fragrance
by engaging with the fragrance
community, customers, consumers,
artistsand influencers. As part of
this strategy, we enteredintoan
exclusive partnership with world-
renowned artsand design college
Central Saint Martinsin London,
creating 21 projects which provide
aunique vision forgame-changing
fragrances across themessuch

as heatrelief, water conservation
and community empowerment.

We have also accelerated our
digitaltransformation, increasing
ouragility, creation capabilities,
and ability to betterserve our
customers through reinvented
retailand online opportunities.

Above all, Firmenich perfumers

and teams continue to create iconic
fragrances, allowing our customers to
delight consumers. We reinforced our
reputation asacreative powerhouse,
winning 'Fragrance of the Year'and
allthree'Consumer Choice'awards
atthe Fragrance Foundation Awards
inthe USin2020and receiving three
out of four Fine Fragrance prizes
atthe CEW 2020 Beauty Awards,
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aswellasthe'Consumer Choice:
Men's'award and three 'Fragrance
ofthe Year'awards at the Fragrance
Foundation Awards 2021.

During FY21, Consumer Fragrances
revenue grew by low single digits
year-on-year onan organic basis

at constant currency, mainly due to
atough comparisonto the end of
FY20, which had seen high revenue
growth. Revenue growth thisyear
was mainly driven by regional local
customers. We achieved solid growth
in emerging markets, particularly
in health and hygiene solutions.

Ourbusiness focused on small-to-mid-
sized customers enabled ustoachieve
strong double-digitrevenue growth
inthe key markets of Chinaand North
America. We also grew by double
digits with MG Internationalin Turkey.

We conducted large scale proprietary
consumersurveys, and discovered
that fragrance became more essential
than everduring the pandemic. 56%
of the survey population appreciated
fragrance more during lockdown.
Consumers seek fragrances

that evoke a combined feeling of
safety, cleanliness and serenity.

Backed by science, we are elevating
therole of fragrance toimprove
quality of life through hygiene,
mental health and wellbeing. With
thisin mind, we have launched a
setof tools and solutions that drive
emotional benefits, such assleep
quality, stressreliefand focus.
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We continued to
help our customers,
through our
innovation and
consumer insights,
to meet the evolving
needs of consumers
as they adapt to

the new normal
brought about by
the pandemic.

Performance review (continued)

OurIngredients business saw double-
digitrevenue growth, onan organic
basisat constant currency, driven

by solid demand in both Naturaland
Syntheticingredients, particularly
from global customers. We achieved
double-digitrevenue growthin
North America, India, Latin America,
and South EastAsia, onan organic
basisat constant currency. We also
saw a double-digitrevenue rebound
in Europe inthe second half of the
year, linked to Fine Fragrance, onan
organic basis at constant currency.

During FY21, we have made
progresson the integration of DRT,
which offersaunique renewable
ingredients production platform, and
end-market complementarity with
long-term growth and innovation
potential. During the pastyear, the
pandemic had an adverse impact
onrevenue and profit, due to lower
demandinthe DRTindustrialend
markets andin Fine Fragrance. Inthe
second half of FY21, we have seen
asignificantreboundinrevenue,
aswellasimproving profitability.

Following the acquisition of DRT,
Firmenich is now the most vertically
integrated company in the industry
inrenewable ingredients. This
proprietary access provides usalong-
term competitive advantage, allowing
ustomeet our customers' growing
demand for sustainable products.

Fine Fragrance and
Consumer Fragrances

InFY21 we continued to help our
customers, through our innovation
and consumerinsights, to meet the
evolving needs of consumers as they
continue to adapt to the new normal
brought about by the pandemic.

Ourfragrances contribute to
consumers' positive emotional
experiences, whichis a key factor
in purchase decisions. With thisin
mind, we have launched EmotiOn, an
innovative program that combines
proprietary consumerinsights
fromacross the world, our cutting-
edge neuroscientificresearch, and
the expertise of our perfumers,
tohelp ourcustomers deliver
positive emotions to consumers.

Leveraging our digital capabilities
tosupportourcreators, we have
launched laundry care fragrances
that fuse Artificial Intelligence

with human creativity, reinventing
fragrance design. We introduced new
digitally enhanced fragrance design
models, improving the technical
performance of ourfragrancesin
both Fine Fragrance and Consumer
Fragrances, with bettertrailand
bloom characteristics. We also
launched Scentmate™, the first Al-
enabled platform that streamlines
and simplifies co-creation to deliver
winning fragrance solutions for
entrepreneurs andindependent
brands. Toavery fast-growing market,
Scentmate™ givesimmediate access to
exceptional scents, making dedicated
perfumersand experts available
throughout the entire journey.



To continue advancing the
sustainability of our portfolio, we
launched PopScent®Eco (Gen 1), a
fragrance encapsulation technology
that provides a step-change
improvementin biodegradation and
renewability. We also continued our
innovative workin malodor control,
akey leverin tackling the sanitation
crisisin low-income regions. We have
extended our DeodEcode® malodor
elimination technology across several
categories, contributing to solid
growth in malodor controlsolutions.

Ingredients

We drive ouringredient business
through fourinnovative platforms
that we launched in March 2021:

toincrease
renewable contentin our palette.
Thanks to DRT, today 50% of
ouringredientsarerenewable,
the highest levelin the industry.

We have setabold ambition

to deliver 70% of Firmenich
perfumery and taste ingredients
manufactured from renewable
carbonsources by 2030

forsustainable new
molecules with the launch in 2021
of Clementenal™and Osmantol™,
two new members of novel, and
readily biodegradable captives with
agreenchemistry score above 70%

with renewable
ingredients for new specialties
marketsin health & beauty,
nutritionand industry. For
example, we now develop 100%
bio-based and renewable wood
rosinresins, which are used as
stability agentsin beverages

forexcellence
in sustainable procurement
standards, collection of certified
ingredients and strong involvement
atsource, all combined with
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innovation. We launched in 2021,
Path2Farm, a digital traceability
application for naturalingredients
sourcing, from producer to factory.
We alsointroduced the Firgood™
collection, anew range of 100%
natural extracts obtained through
arevolutionary, sustainable
proprietary extraction technology,
enabling the processing of biomass
never previously usedin the
industry for naturalingredients.
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We are transforming
ourselves Beyond,
to co-create the
next generation of
food and beverages
and to lead dietary
transformation
through our
innovation.
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Performance review (continued)

TASTE & BEYOND

Taste & Beyond delivered robust
performancein FY21, adapting with
agility toavery volatile context, while
maintaining robust customer service.

Despite the challenges posed by the
Covid-19 pandemic, we took action to
ensure business continuity, avoiding
disruption of our supply chainand
maintaining manufacturing and laboratory
capabilities to continue to deliver to our
customers consistently, while continuing
to keep our colleagues safe.

From the onset of the pandemic, we
launched deep consumerinsights
surveysacross 22 countries, to better
understand and anticipate consumers'
evolving needs relative to food and
beverage choices. Consumer needs
have changed rapidly, with higher
expectations on what food and
beveragesshould deliver, and we
have worked with customers to help
them adjust their projects. Moving
firstto develop these insights clearly
differentiated Firmenichin FY21,
enabling better customerintimacy,
and allowing us to betteralign our
innovation pipeline to fuel growth.

Embracing the shiftin consumer
expectations, we renamed our division
Taste & Beyond, toreflect our strategic
transformation. We are transforming
ourselves Beyond, to co-create the next
generation of food and beverages and
to lead dietary transformation through
ourinnovation in four key areas:

— Sugarandsaltreductionsolutions

— Meatanddairyanalogs with
SmartProteins®solutions

— Best-in-class nutrition

— Naturaltransformation
and Clean label

Continuing toinvest forthe future,

we increased our stake in ArtSciand
deepened our partnership, taking
advantage of the growth in China. In
meat and dairy analogs, we rolled

out the complete solutions model
developed with our Campus acquisition
in key geographies, including North
America, China and Singapore, offering
complete solutions to customers

with an expanded product portfolio.
We have continued to successfully
build on our previous acquisitions

of VKL, Natural Flavors and
Flavourome. We also signed a strategic
partnership with Authentic Products

in Madagascar, strengthening our
commitment to a sustainable, ethical,
and traceable value chainin vanilla.

We have accelerated on our digital
transformation journey. We are
proud to have launched the world's
first flavor designed with the help of
Artificial Intelligence. We leverage
ourdigitaltools to support our
creators, increase our agility and
responsivenessto client briefs and
streamline the client experience
through oure-commerce channel.

Taste & Beyond delivered strong
resilience throughout FY21,
maintaining growth and solid
profitability despite the challenges
posed by the pandemic.

Revenue reached CHF 1,417

million, anincrease of +5.2% year-
over-year, onanorganic basis at
constant currency. Growth was
driven by strong performance in
Beverages and Dairy, more than
offsetting the impact of the pandemic
on Foodservice. We achieved
double-digitrevenue growthin the



key markets of China, India, and Brazil,
aswellas mid-single digitrevenue
growth in North America. Foreign
exchange, in comparison to prior
yearrates, had an unfavorable

impact of -5.9 percentage points on
revenue. As aresult, revenue declined
by -0.7% on areported basis.

Adjusted EBITDAreached CHF 266
million forthe full year, a decrease
of -18.5% year-over-yearwith a
sequentialimprovementin the second
half of the year. Adjusted EBITDA
margin was 18.8%, a decrease of
-4.1 percentage points. This was the
result of a deterioration in product
mix, partly linked to changing
consumption patterns during the
pandemic, additional costsincurred
to ensure business continuity and
avoid supply chain disruption to
serve customers during the crisis,
raw material price fluctuationsanda
negative foreign exchange impact.

Excluding the impact of foreign
exchange, Adjusted EBITDA
margin would have decreased
by -3.7 percentage points.

Beverages achieved strong double-
digit revenue growth, onan organic
basis at constant currency. We

saw sustained demand in energy
drinks, alcoholic drinks and sodas,
aswellas citrus tonality solutions
and natural flavors, with new
adoptions with key customers.

Onaregional basis, we achieved
double-digitrevenue growth

in key geographies including
China, India, North America,
Latin Americaand Europe.

Beverages delivered a strong growth
rebound from the previous year,

which was greatly impacted by Food
Service closures, asaresult of our
focus on key tonality and innovation
initiatives to help our customerserve
evolving needs of consumers under the
pandemic. Qur Citrus business grew
strongly worldwide, and in Northeast
Asiain particular. Globally, we
strengthened our Citrus leadership and
grew our differentiating capabilities
with authentic, natural solutions.

We leveraged our consumerinsights to
drive connection with our key Beverage
clients, as they soughttoserve

the "athome" consumption needs
linked to the pandemic. Additionally,
the launch of our comprehensive
proprietary Beverage Secrets™
Survey confirmed Firmenich as
thought leadersin the application of
Human Insights to taste creation and
accelerated productinnovation.

In Sweet Goods, strong revenue
growthin Chinaand North America
compensated for lowerrevenue
insome otherregions, including
Europe and India, Middle East

and Africa, caused by the adverse
effect of the pandemic. Asaresult,
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Sweet Goods revenue was stable
vs. the previous year, on an organic
basis at constant currency.

Inthe second half of the year,

we have seen anacceleration of
revenue growthin severalregions, in
particular Europe, India, Middle East
and Africaand Southeast Asia, onan
organic basis at constant currency.

We saw strong momentum within our
vanilla tonality with the significant
increase in cooking and baking from
home during the pandemic and have
continued to develop and launch
natural, cost-effective solutions.

There was an acceleration of consumer
demand shifting towards wellbeing
during the pandemic, including
enhanced nutrition. We quickly
responded by developing solutions for
more active nutritionalingredients like
pre-biotic fibers. We also continued to
focus onsugarreduction, including the
launch ofinnovations aimed at reducing
sugarand lactose in dairy products.

Inthe growing category of plant-
based dairy analogs, we successfully
leveraged our differentiating
masking technologies and texturizing
fiber capabilities through our
expanded Campus portfolio.

Revenueinthe savory category
contracted by low single digits,
onanorganic basis at constant
currency. The savory category,

andin particular Foodservice, was
adversely impacted by lockdown
closuresandrestrictionsinseveral key
markets, including North America.

We have seenastrongreboundin
some regions, with double-digit
revenue growthin the key regions
of Chinaand India, Middle-East
and Africafor FY21,onanorganic
basis at constant currency.

Despite the disruption caused by
the pandemic, customersurveys
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Performance review (continued)

confirm the long-term consumer
shiftto healthier meat alternatives
and flexitarian diets. Demand for

our Savory portfolio and pipeline
remain strong, with new opportunities
arising due to consumers cooking
more, and strong demand for
prepared meals and snacks.

We are prepared for the rebound,
with afocus oninnovation-led growth
and continued investmentin our
people andinfrastructure. We have
expanded our Campus portfolio

and our Savory capabilities in key
markets such as North America,
China and Southeast Asia.

Inresponse to new Covid-related
consumer needs, we have focused
on cookingaids and other culinary-
centricapproachestothe"athome”
shift, while addressing the healthy
eatingand clean label demand by
supporting brands with our natural
umamiand salt reduction solutions.

Pioneering New Solutions
in Sugar Reduction

Sugarreduction solutions were a
strong driver of our performance
across Beveragesand Sweet Goods,
achieving double-digit revenue
growthin FY21, onanorganic

basis at constant currency.

Our consumer surveys show that
reducing sugarintakein their food
and beverage choicesis top of mind
forconsumers. We support this
dietary transformation by providing
the broadest, mostintegrated range
of lowand no-added sugar solutions
that preserve taste authenticity.
Through close collaboration with
our customers, we can co-create
solutions perfectly tailored to their
needs. InFY21, we launched innovative
proprietary new solutions such as
TasteGEM® SWL with Saphera®,
which allows unprecedented
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sugarreductionin dairy products,
without the use of sweeteners, while
keeping a natural sweet taste.

Accelerating in Naturals & Nutrition

Demand for naturals, label
transparency, and origin traceability
isrising, with consumers increasingly
focused on wellbeing and healthy
food and beverage choices. We're
transforming and expanding our
offerings with a superior portfolio

of all-naturalingredients and
innovation programs, with strong
and distinctive technology. During
FY21, we have added over 100 new
all-naturalingredientsto our palette,
created for Clean Label suitability.
Our Nutrition Innovation program
offers an expansive range of botanical
extracts and prebiotic fibers, bringing
new functional tools to help our
customers serve the immunity-
conscious consumer. Our exclusive CO2
extraction capabilities and innovative
gentle extraction techniques enable
usto create the next generation of
eco-extracts. Inaddition, we offer
increased traceability through our
proprietary tools Ingredients360®
and EcoFood Compass™, which
enables ustoincrease transparency
to customers oningredientsourcing
and origin. Asindustry leaderin
naturals, we launched FreshSlice™,
anew collection of all-natural citrus
oils, delivering unique freshness

and authenticity. We have also
responded to the growing demand
fornatural, cost-effective vanilla
solutions with the launch Vanilift™.

Serving the Flexitarian Revolution
with SmartProteins®

Health and environmental concerns
aredrivinganincrease in the number
of flexitarian consumers. Despite

the adverse impact of the pandemic,
due to foodservice closures, plant-
based protein analogs are one of the
largest areas of growth potentialin our
industry. We help our customers serve

this conscious consumer with the next
generation of plant-based proteins.
Qur continuous innovation program,
SmartProteins®, providesintegrated
optionsin meatand dairy analogs with
proprietary solutionsacross Aroma,
Taste, Salt Reduction and Texture. We
provide integrated solutions leveraging
our proprietary flavoring and

masking technology, with the texture
capabilities of our Campus acquisition.
New breakthrough technologies like
Dynarome® SR and TR deliver a natural
and authentic meat-like cooking and
eating experience in plant-based
analogs. Our global expansion of
Innovation Centers, such as ourrecent
launchesin Anaheim and Singapore,
combines the power of our expertise
with deep regional knowledge.
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We are prepared for
therebound, witha
focus on innovation-Le
growth and continue
Investment in our peop
and infrastructure.
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Ourrigorous and
pragmatic ERM
approach promotes
ariskawareness
culture and
fostersresiliency,
sustainability and
value creation.
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ENTERPRISE RISKMANAGEMENT

ERM ensures we adequately protect
the company while allowing to

take calculated level of riskin
running our business. It provides
acommon framework to:

— Helpmanagementidentify

underlying trends and environment
changesthat may affect negatively

or positively the Company

— Mitigate the associated threats and

leverage identified opportunities,
leading to stronger performance

— Supportrisk-informed
decision making

— Safeguard Firmenich
Fundamentalsand the
Company’'s assets

— Providereasonable assurance that
risks willnot prevent our Company

fromreachingits objectives

Our ERM follows arigorous and
pragmatic approach, tailored
tothe Company's needs. It
promotes arisk awareness culture
and empowers management,
fostering the Company'sresiliency,
sustainability and value creation.

We runatwo-yearrisk
management cycle which includes
the following activities:

— Astructuredriskidentification
onthe basis of an overallrisk
universe, leveraginginternal
and externalinputs

— Riskassessment, involving
riskanalysis tounderstand the
underlyingdrivers, and the

definition of likelihood and impact

— Riskmitigation through the
formulation of risk responses
and mitigating actions

— Periodic monitoring and reporting
onrisk evolution and mitigating
actionsimplementation

— Follow-uponthe emergence
of new risks throughout the
risk managementcycle

The Finance, Audit & Risk
Committee of Firmenich's Board

of Directors (FARC) oversees the
Company's strategicapproach torisk
management. The FARC reviews, at
minimum annually, the top corporate
risks and mitigation strategies.

The Risk Committee oversees

the execution of the ERM process
and meetsonaquarterly basis. It
reviews and validates the results of
theriskassessmentand assigns top
corporate risk sponsorship. The Risk
Committeeis chaired by the Chief
Executive Officerandis composed of
the Chief Financial Officer, the Chief
Operating Officer, the Presidents

of the Commercial Divisions, the
General Counsel, the Chief Supply
Chain Officerand the VP Enterprise
Risk Management (secretary).



Firmenichis exposed to anumber of strategic

and commercialrisks, including:

— Riskofchanging consumer preferences and
emergence of new consumption trends

— Riskofbusiness modelinadequacy or
obsolescence, including key customerrisks

— Risksassociated with the execution of our
digital business transformation

— Riskofincreased competitionasaresult of
change in market dynamics or emergence of
new market entrants

— Risksassociated with the integration of
acquisitions

Risk of climate change

Climate change may impact our ability

to operatein certain locations or disrupt
operations; it may also create sourcing issues,
in particular for natural raw materials.

Risk linked to increasing demand for
responsible products

Thereisanincreasing demand for responsible
products. Firmenich's ability to respond to this
consumer macro trend in terms of sustainability
and transparency bearsrisk with respect to
supplierselectionand their ESG performance,
as wellas raw material traceability.

Due toits global footprint, Firmenichis exposed

to anumber of operational risks, including:

— Riskof disruption or breakdown of our
operations asaresult of externalorinternal
factorsand events that may threaten our
ability to produce and deliver quality products
onatimely basis

— Riskof raw material availability and price
volatility that may hinder our ability to
produce quality products on atimely basis ata
competitive price

— Cybersecurity risks that may resultin loss or
theft of data, or disruption of operations

— Riskofnotacquiringand retaining the right
talentsand missing critical competencies

— Geopoliticalrisks, uncertainty and events
that may resultin business disruptionand / or
security threats

Firmenich is exposed to usual financialrisks,
including foreign exchange risk, interest
raterisk, creditriskand liquidity risk.

Legal & compliancerisks

Ourinternational operations are subject to
regulatoryand compliance risks. Illegal or
unethical behaviors, including fraud and
corruption, may resultin business interruption,
financialand reputational damages.

Product compliance risks
Anon-compliant product from a quality or
safety standpoint may resultin consumer
healthissues, customer complaints,

and product liability claims leading to
financial or reputational damages.
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M|t|gat|on strategy:

We run an efficient consumerand clientinsights function
We leverage strong business intelligence and monitor the
competitive landscape

Our management and Board regularly reassess and adapt
ourbusiness modeland strategy

We have established a digital transformation roadmap and
continuously trackits realization

We apply a thorough acquisition integration approach and
continuously monitorthe realization of the acquisition
business cases

Mltlgatlon strategy:

We continuously improve and lead change in sustainable and
environmentally responsible business, aligning our goals
with science on a path to climate neutrality

We monitor changing environmental laws and aim to lead
theindustryinour ESG outcomes

We have created specialized programs to strengthen
ourresponsible sourcing commitment, guided by our
Responsible Sourcing Policy

Mltlgatlon strategy:

The Business Continuity Management (BCM) process
enables us toidentify and mitigate risks that could affect our
business, operations and manufacturing plants

We are committed to protecting our people, processesand
assets. The health, safety and security of ouremployeesare
our highest priority

We run effective raw material sourcing and supplier risk
management processesand tools to prevent supply
shortages

We continuously monitor safety stocks and work on single
source reduction, includingin-house production capabilities
forkey raw materials

We monitor cyberrisks onan ongoing basis. We continuously
upgrade our systems and infrastructure and train people to
mitigate occurrence and impact of cyber threats

We leverage strong employer branding to attract the
besttalents. HR practicesin place support talent growth,
retentionand succession planning

We proactively monitor the geopolitical landscape and trade
regulations

Mltlgatlon strategy:

We have Finance Corporate policiesin place todrive
financialrisk managementacross the group and we monitor
theirexecution centrally

Group Treasury is actively monitoring the foreign currency
exposure and implements the hedging strategy

The Credit Committee monitors and manages clients'
financialrisk exposure

Mitigation strategy:

Our Fundamentals, the Code of Ethics and the Corporate
Policies provide a comprehensive framework to manage
legaland compliance risks and we continuously promote
best practicesandriskawareness

We proactively monitor the regulatory evolutionin areas
relevantto Firmenich and anticipate businessimpacts
Our Quality, Health, Safety, and Environment (QHS&E)
Principlesand Codes aim to provide high product quality and
service to clients. We market, produce, distribute and sell
products that meet orexceed clientrequirementsand aim
toachieve the highest standards of QHS&E performance,
startingin product design stage

We have rigorous regulatory and QHS&E processes and
systemsto ensure product safety and compliance
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Corporate governance

FIRMENICH GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK

Our governance framework supports sustainable financial performance as well as long-term value creation
forall our stakeholders: ourshare and bondholders, our employees, our customers and the communities
in which we operate. To support our commitment to maintaining the highest standards, the Governance

and Compensation Committee regularly reviews the Company’s corporate governance principles and the

key governance documents against evolving best practice standards and new developments.

Governance Bodies

Inline withitsinalienablerights, the General Meeting of Shareholders approves Firmenich's Annual Report
and consolidated financial statements; decides the appropriation of available earnings and the dividend,
approves the compensation of the Board and the Executive Committee; elects the Chairman, the members
ofthe Board and the Governance and Compensation Committee, and the externalauditors; adopts and
modifies the Articles of Association; and approves changes to the equity/capital stock of the Company.

The Chairman leads the Board of Directors ensuring the company moves forward with its strategies
and activities.

Governance &
Compensation
Committee (6cc)

Nomination Committee (NoM) Finance, Audit & Risk

Committee (FARC)

Inaccordance with Swiss law, the Articles of Incorporationand the Board Regulations, the duties of the
Board of Directorsinclude the overallmanagement of the Company, defining the organization, overseeing
risk control, the ultimate supervision of the persons entrusted with managing the company, in particular
with regard to compliance with the law, organizing the accounting, financial controland financial planning
systems, notification of the courtin case of insolvency, verification of the qualifications of the auditors and
overseeing the managementand maintenance of the Fundamentals. It sets strategic direction for Firmenich,
appointsand overseesthe CEO and executive committee, prepares for the Annual Shareholders' meeting
(including the Annual Report) and approves major transactions and investments.

Responsible for operational management of Firmenich

Audit Firmenich
International SA
consolidated financial
statementsandits
subsidiaries (the Group)
inorderto provide opinion
onwhetherconsolidated
financial statements
giveatrueand fairview
inaccordance with
International Financial
Reporting Standards
(IFRS), comply with Swiss
lawandaninternal control
system exists. Audit
Firmenich International
SAfinancialstatementsin
orderto provide opinion
onwhetherfinancial
statements comply with
Swiss law, the company's
articles ofincorporation
andaninternal control
system exists.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Corporate governance Board of Directors

According to the Articles of Incorporation, the Firmenich Board of Directors may consist of between
seven and nine members, with a majority being independent members. Firmenich currently has
nine Board members, comprised of four Firmenich family members, including the Chairman,
Patrick Firmenich, and five independent directors, including the Vice-Chair, Barbara Kux.

The Board members each bring their
own unigue skills and experience across
the Fragrance and Taste industry,
science-driven organizations, consumer
and fast moving goods companies, as
wellasin environmental, socialand

governance (ESG) matters. Together, they
have broad international experience.

Atthe Annual Shareholders' meeting
in October 2020, the mandates of
Karen Jones Easton and Ajai Puri

Composition of the Board of Directors and its committees

expired and they were re-elected
forafurtherthree-year period.

In addition at that October Shareholders'
meeting, the members of the Governance
and Compensation Committee were
re-elected for the following year.

PATRICK FIRMENICH BARBARA KUX
Chairman Vice-Chairman
NOM FARC GCC

Patrick Firmenich ®
Michel Firmenich
Barbara Kux

AET ]

Assists the Board inidentifyingand
vetting individuals to become (orto be
re-elected) Board members, CEO and

DG members; and overseeing family
associates employed within the Company.

Chair: Patrick Firmenich

Pierre Bouchut ®
Antoine Firmenich
Barbara Kux
Andre Pometta

Assists the Board in overseeing the
Group'saccounting & financial reporting,
treasury and funding, risk management
andinternal control processes, and the
work of itsinternaland external auditor.

Chair: Pierre Bouchut

Karen Jones Easton ®
Antoine Firmenich
Michel Firmenich
Richard Ridinger

Assists the Boardin governance and the
compensation strategy, the design of
compensationandincentive plans, the
compensation of the Board members,
the Chairman, CEQO and members

of the Executive Committee.

Chair: Karen Jones Easton

Meeting attendance FY21

Board meetings/calls FARC meetings/calls NOM meetings/calls
heldintheyear 9 heldintheyear 5 heldintheyear 4
Number of Board Number of FARC Number of NOM
Board Member meetings/callsattended  FARC Member meetings/callsattended NOM Member meetings/calls attended
Pierre Bouchut 9  Pierre Bouchut 5  MichelFirmenich 4
Antoine Firmenich 8  Antoine Firmenich 5 PatrickFirmenich 4
Michel Firmenich 9  BarbaraKux 5 BarbaraKux 4
Patrick Firmenich 9 André Pometta 5 AraiPuri 4
KarenJones Easton 9
Barbara Kux 9  GCC Meetings/Calls
heldinthe year 6
André Pometta 9
Number of GCC meetings/
AjaiPuri 8 GCCMember callsattended
Richard Ridinger 9  Antoine Firmenich 6
_ Michel Firmenich 6
Board Meetings
November2,2020 - Antoine Firmenich & Ajai Puri excused KarenJones Easton 6
March 25,2021 (15h00-18h00) - K J East
arch 25, ( ) - KarenJones Easton e O e 5

presentforthe first2 hours
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NOM
Chairman

Swiss national, born 1962
Board membersince 2002
Chairman of the Board since 2016.

Patrick Firmenich was appointed Chairman
of the Board of Firmenich in October 2016,
afterfirstjoining the Board in 2002 when
he became CEO of Firmenich. Patrick
servedasthe Group's CEQ for 12 years,
from 2002 to 2014. During this time,

he maintained Firmenich's leadership

in Perfumery and Ingredients, while
implementing a long termvision for the
Company's Flavors Business Unit. He
alsosustained Firmenich's above average
investmentin R&D and legacy of game-
changingtechnologies, while settingan
ambitious sustainability strategy for the
Company and leading the Company to
achieve world class HS&E performance.

Patrickfirstjoined Firmenich in 1990, and
spentadecade successfully leading the
strategic development of the Company's
International Fine Fragrance businessin
New Yorkand Paris before being appointed
to the Executive Committeein 1999.

Patrickisa Board member of the UBS
Group SA, Jacobs Holding AG, INSEAD,
and the INSEAD World Foundation. He
alsoservesasamemberof the Advisory
Council of the Swiss Board Institute.

Heisthe winnerof the 2020 EY
Entrepreneur of the Year™ Switzerland
award for Family Business.

Patrick holds a law degree from the
University of Geneva and qualified asa
barristerin 1987. He also holds a Master's
degree in Business Administration

from INSEAD in Fontainebleau.
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NOM+FARC
Vice-Chairman

Swiss national, born 1954
Firstjoined 2008-2011, rejoined 2013

Barbaraserved on the Firmenich Board
from May 2008 to October2011. She
rejoined the Boardin 2013 and was
appointed Vice-Chairmanin 2016.

Barbara has over30years of experience

in management positions with leading
internationalindustrialand consumer
goods companies. She started her careeras
amanagement consultant with McKinsey.

In2008, she was appointed the first woman
to the Managing Board of Siemens AG
where sheincreased results from supply
chainmanagementand greentechnologies,
asshe haddoneinherpreviousrole at
Royal Philips, where she was a Member of
the Group Management Committee from
2003t02008.As Member of the SDSN
Leadership Councilforthe UN she has
contributed to the development of the
Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs).

Barbarais Member of the Supervisory
Board of Grosvenor Group, HenkelAG &
Co.KGaAand LiveKindly Collective. She
was alsorecently appointed a member of
the International Advisory Board of Adobe.

Sheisa lecturerforsustainability
atthe University of St.Gallen and
hasbeen appointed Director for
Corporate Governance at INSEAD.

Barbara holds a Master's degreein
Business Administration with Distinction
from INSEAD in Fontainebleau.

FARC
Board Member

French national, born 1955
Firstjoined 2016

Pierre was the Chief Operating Officer
for Europe and Indonesiaand amember
of the Management Board of Ahold
Delhaize until September2018. Prior
tothe mergerof Ahold and Delhaize,
Pierre was the Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer of Delhaize
Group havingjoined themin 2012.

Before joining Delhaize Group, Pierre was
Chief Financial Officerand then Executive
Director of Growth Markets at Carrefour,
overseeing operationsin Latin America,
Turkey, India, Indonesia and Malaysia. He
alsooversaw Carrefour Personal Financial
Services operations worldwide and was

in charge of ITand Real Estate globally.
Pierre also worked at the Schneider Group
as Chief Financial Officerand member

of the Management Board, developing
numerous initiativesin structured finance,
riskmanagementand externalgrowth; was
CEO of Casino group; worked at McKinsey
& Company asa consultantin the corporate
finance and integrated logistics practices;
and priorto that, was with Citibankin Paris.

HeisaBoard Member of Geopost SA (a
subsidiary of the French Post Office),
Albioma SA (a company specialized in the
production of “green” electricity), Entain
Plc (asports betting and gaming group) and
Pepco NV (apan-European retail group).

Agraduate of HEC Paris, he holds a
Master's degree in Applied Economics
fromthe University of Paris Dauphine.

Key:

NOM Nomination Committee

FARC Finance, Audit & Risk Committee

G6cC Governance & Compensation
Committee




GCC+FARC
Board Member

Swiss national, born 1965
Firstjoined 2009

Antoine Firmenich joined the Board of
Firmenichin2009. He was a Board Member
of Sentarom SA, Switzerland, the holding
company of the Firmenich group of
companies, from 2004 until 2015, serving
asits Chairman from 2009 until 2015.

Since 2008 Antoineis the CEO & Managing
Directorof Aquilus Pte Ltd in Singapore.
Heisafounding partner of Alatus Capital, a
value investment management firm which
hasworked overthe pastdecadeanda
half with a number of preeminent global
foundations, pension funds, endowments,
and discerning long-terminvestors.

Overthe last few years, Antoine has
beenincreasingly involvedin climate
and sustainability issues, specifically
supporting basicresearch projectson
several continents, and driving high
impactinvestmentand policy initiatives
centered onthe long-term health of
oceansand coastal ecosystems.

Priorto his currentrole, Antoine worked
atFirmenichinanumberof leadership
roles within the Flavors division, which
included responsibility for the Flavors
division Sweet Goods Global Business
Unit, its Savory Global Business Unit
and forall Encapsulated solutions.

He hasserved onanumberof corporate
boards, including SIX-listed Nobel
Biocare, the world's largest dentalimplant
and digital dentistry company (since

taken over by Danaherinthe U.S).

He holdsa BSin Life Sciences from the
Massachusetts Institute of Technology
(MIT), aPhDin Biochemistry from
Stanford University School of Medicine
and an MBA from the Stanford University
Graduate School of Business.

NOM+ GCC
Board Member

Swiss national, born 1953
Firstjoined 2013

MichelFirmenich joined the Board of
Firmenichin2013. He was appointed
Chairman of Sentarom SA, the holding
company of the Firmenich group of
companiesin 2015and continues to hold
this position. Prior to joining the Firmenich
Board, Michel worked at Firmenich for 27
yearssuccessfully holding a broad scope
of executive management roles within

the Company'’s Information Systems (IS)
division. He served as Vice President, Head
of ISfrom 2005 until his retirement in 2008.

HeisaBoard Memberof Ecole
"laDécouverte” SAin Geneva.

He holdsaBSinIT Management, from
the University of Geneva's Faculty of
Socialand Economic Sciences.

GCC
Board Member

British national, born 1956
Firstjoined 2011

Karen has over 30 years of experience
increating, developing, and leading
hospitality businessesacrossthe U.K.
She was previously CEO of Spirit Group
Ltd (a2,500strong pub group) and Co-
Founded the Pelican Group Plc, the owner
of severalsuccessfulrestaurant chains.

Karenis Executive Chairman of Prezzo, chairs
Hawksmoor (backed by Graphite Capital),
Mowgli Street Food (backed by Foresight
Group) and Frontier Pubs (a JV with Ei
Group/Stonegate Pubs). She was appointed
as Commissioner for The Crown Estatein
2020and recently joined the Board of online
food delivery company, Deliveroo Plc.

Karen chairs the Board of National Theatre
Enterprises Ltd, sitsonthe Imbiba Advisory
Boardandisa Patron of the National Society
forthe Prevention of Cruelty to Children.

She holdsaBAin Englishand American
Literature from the University of East Angliain
the UK, which also awarded heran honorary
doctorate and where sheis now Chancellor.
ShespentayearatWellesley College, USA.

FARC
Board Member

Swiss national, born 1965
Firstjoined 2003

André Pometta joined the Firmenich Boardin
2003. He was aboard member of Sentarom
SAfrom2000to2008 and re-joinedin 2014.

Today, André works exclusively oninnovative
projects with investors, successful
entrepreneurs, and executives. He advises
and supportsbusinessesand start-upsin

the fields of socialintegration, clean tech,
animalhealth and affordable tourism.

Priortoworkingindependently, André was
amemberof Firmenich's Flavour Executive
Teamuntil2013 and was appointed President
of Firmenich Chinain 2008. He played
anactiveroleintherestructuring of the
division, building a culture of customer &
consumer centricity, and was instrumental
inestablishing Chinaasits ownindependent
region within the organization.

André joined Firmenichin 1997 inthe
Fragrance division. He spent most of his career
working for customersin China, Southeast
Asia, Eastern Europe and the Middle East,
where he successfully ledand implemented
strategiesthat delivered significant growth
with local customersin emerging markets.
André started his careerin the Philippines
working more than fouryears forthe Zuellig
Group where he held various positions
insales, marketingand operations.

AndréisaBoard Member of Smixin SA
(acleantech company) and Cluster1
SA (an Animal Health company).

André holdsaBSin Economics from
HEC Lausanne, Switzerland.

Corporate governance Board of Directors

NOM
Board Member

U.S./U.K. national, born 1953
Firstjoined 2014

From 2003 to 2007, Ajaiserved as Executive
Board Memberand President - Research,
Developmentand Product Integrity at Royal
Numico, a specialized nutrition company. At
Royal Numico, now part of Groupe Danone,
he wasresponsible fordevelopingand
implementing a highly successfulscience
driven, consumer-led R&D strategy inthe
areas of early life and medical nutrition. He
alsoservedas Principal Crisis Management
Officeratthe Company. Priorto Royal
Numico, Ajai had along careerat The Minute
Maid Company/The Coca-Cola Company
inthe U.S. During this 22 year period, he
held various positions of global scope
including that of SeniorVice President
Technical (Science and Technology).

Ajaiholds non-executive directorships
at Britannia Industries Ltd, one of India's
largestindependent food groups, Olam
International, a leading global food and
agri-businessandat IMI Plc, a specialist
engineering group. His previous board
mandatesinclude non-executive
directorships with Nutreco NV, Barry
CallebautAGand Tate & Lyle Plc.

He holdsa Ph.D.inFood Science from
the University of Maryland, College
Park, United Statesand an MBA
fromthe Crummer School, Rollins
College, Orlando, United States.

GCC
Board Member

German national, born 1958
Firstjoined 2016

Richard has extensive experiencein
science-driven organizations. His most
recentrolewasasthe CEO of Lonza, a
globalleaderin Life Sciences which he held
until2019. In this position, he strengthened
Lonza's market positionin relevant markets,
and drove competitive capabilitiesand
productivityimprovementin criticalareas.
Priortobecoming CEO at Lonza, he was
responsible for Care Chemicals, the largest
group at Cognis, a formerdivision of Henkel,
with approximately 3,000 employees. A
trained chemicalengineer, his experience
spans process development, production
management, productand marketing
management, leading global business
unitsand responsibility for leading a
worldwide specialty chemicals group.

Richardis Chairman of the Board of
Recipharm AB, Chairman of the Advisory
Committee of Zentiva, Board Member

of Evolva Holding AG and SHL Medical
AG, Member of the Advisory Group

of NOVO Holdingand member of the
Supervisory Board of Brenntag AG.

He holds a Master'sdegree in chemical
engineering from the University
of Karlsruhe in Germany.
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CEO

Gilbert Ghostine joined Firmenichin October
2014 asthe Group's first non-family member
CEQ. Building on Firmenich's legacy of world-
classresearchand creativity, exemplified
byaNobelPrize, heisfirmly focused on
shaping winning solutions for our customers
todelight theirconsumers worldwide. A
champion of inclusive capitalism, Gilbert

is constantly balancing the short-term
pressures of execution with the long-term
investmentsrequired to create value forthe
Group, its business partnersand stakeholders,
and has embedded ourindustry-leading
sustainability strategy across the business
worldwide. Priorto leading Firmenich,
Gilbertacquired adeep understanding of

the Consumer Goods and Luxuryindustries,
during 21 years with Diageo, the premium
drinks company. He led the Diageo businesses
across four continents: Africa, Asia Pacific,
the United Statesand Europe. Gilbertholdsa
Master’'s Degree in Business Administration
from SaintJoseph University, Lebanon

and completed Harvard Business School's
Advanced Management Program.

President Perfumery

Ilaria Resta was named President, Global
PerfumeryinMarch 2020, and is transforming
our Fine Fragrance and Consumer Fragrances
business. Ilariais leading organizational
change and pioneering digital innovation
totake on new markets, augment creative
excellence, and drive sales for winning
performance with our customers. A
passionate business leader with expertisein
brand building, salesand P&L management,
Ilaria has more than 22 years of experience
with Procter & Gamble, building iconic brands
suchas Tide, Ariel, Fairy, Swiffer, Duracell,
Pantene, Head & Shoulders, Herbal Essences
andAussie, across Europe, Middle-East,
Chinaand North America. She was recognized
as 2020 Brand Builder of the Yearin the US

by WWD. Highly creative, collaborative,
directand positive, Ilariabelievesinthe
power of people and partnership to drive
breakthrough businessresults. Ilaria
holdsaBachelor's degree in Marketingand
Economics from the University of Naples
anda Master'sin Financial Mathematics.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
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President, Ingredients

Boet Brinkgreve has atrackrecord of
driving strategic growth and transformation
at Firmenich since 2007. As President

of Ingredients, heisresponsible for
strengthening the Group's leadership

in naturals, biotech, biodegradable and
renewable ingredients. Focused ondriving
the most competitive palette in the industry
across perfumery and flavors, Boet leads
the Group's end-to-end Ingredients
business, spanning sales, portfolio
managementand industrial operations,
aswellas new business segments, such
asadhesives, cosmeticsand agriculture.
Heisalsoresponsible forthe strategic
leadership of Procurement, overseeing
globalsourcing, procurementand supplier
collaboration. Previously, Boet held the
position of Chief Supply Chain Officer.
Priortojoining Firmenich, Boet worked for
DuPontinseveralseniorroles, in private
equity and ranvarious start-ups. Boet
holds a Bachelor's degree in Mechanical
Engineering from HTS Den Bosch, and

an Executive MBA from INSEAD.

Chief Financial Officer

Benoitjoined Firmenich as Chief Financial
Officerin September2020. Heisresponsible
forleading the Company's global finance
organizationandservesas Secretary

of the Finance, Audit & Risk Committee

of the Board of Directors. Benoit brings
extensive experience of buildingand leading
finance organizations at globaltechnology
companies, including Business Objects,
SAPand Criteo. Inhismostrecentrole as
Criteo’'s CFO he had a pivotalroleinscaling
the company through rapid growth and
leadingits highly successfulNASDAQ

IPO. Heis passionate about developing
finance excellence to maximize company
performance and enable sustainable
businesssuccess. Benoitholdsa Master's
inManagement from the ESLSCA Graduate
School of Businessin Paris, a Master's
degreein Finance from Dauphine University
inParisandan MBA from INSEAD.
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President Taste & Beyond

Emmanuel Butstraen joined Firmenich
in2018 and has beendriving the
transformation to become the global
innovation partner of choice in taste and
beyond, leading growth across the Group's
three segments: Beverages, Sweet Goods,
and Savory. Creating winning solutions for
our customers with a focus on enhanced
wellbeing, heis putting Firmenich's
expertise to work making healthier choices
taste great, from sugar & salt reduction,

to plant proteins, clean label offerings

and functional nutrition solutions. Prior

to Firmenich, Emmanuelwas President

of Solvay's Novecare GBU, preceded by

17 years with BASF, where he served as
Strategy Senior VP of the Agricultural
Products division. Emmanuel graduated
asanAgricultural Engineerand obtained
an MBA, both from the University of Lille.
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Chief Human Resources Officer

Mieke Van de Capelle joined Firmenich as
Chief Human Resources OfficerinJune
2016.Sheisresponsible for leading the
GlobalHuman Resources, Sustainability
and Corporate Communications functions,
setting ourstrategy and winning culture as
aresponsible business, andis the Secretary
of the Governance and Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directors.

Under herleadership, Firmenich obtained
the EDGE global certification for gender
equality, as one of only seven companies
worldwide, and Ethical Corporation’s
global Diversity & Inclusion Award. Mieke
isatthe forefront of defining the shiftin
workforce capabilities to meet changing
demandsimpacted by digitalization and
focusesonourcorevaluesand purpose to
uphold humanrights. Aseasoned leader
with 20+years of broad consumer goods
experience, Mieke has worked across
Europe, the USand Asia. She holds a Master's
Degreein International Communication
Strategy from the University of Burgundy

in Dijon, France, as wellas aMaster's
Degreein Philology from Ghent University,
aDiplomain Business Administrationand
Management, and a Diplomain Organizational
Leadership from IMD Business School.

|

Dr. Sarah Reisinger, Chief Research
Officer, isdriving Firmenich towards new
frontiers of scientific excellence, building
onthe Group's legacy of industry-leading
innovation. Sheis committed to embracing
new technology to deliver breakthrough
solutionsin our fast-changing world,
harnessing the Research & Development
team’s multidisciplinary and global
approach. Dr. Reisinger combinesan
extensive backgroundin biotechnology
withastrongtrackrecordiningredients
and technology development for the
consumer goods industry. Priortojoining
Firmenichin2018 as VP Biotechnology
and Process Engineering, she held pivotal
roles at Ginkgo Bioworks, Intrexonand
Amyris, afterstarting her careerinthe
field of biology and cancer therapeutics.
Dr. ReisingerholdsaB.S. in Biology from
Harvey Mudd College, US, aswellasan M.S.
in Plant Biologyand a Ph.D. in Microbiology
from the University of California, Berkeley.

Chief Research Officer
(SinceJuly 1,2021)

Chief Operating Officer

EricNicolas oversees Corporate Strategy
& M&A, Digitalization and Information
Services, Business Process Excellence,
Global Workplace Solutions, and Supply
Chain. Achampion of sustainable finance,
heisaBoard Memberofthe Livelihoods
Carbon Fund, rated as "Best Corporate
Offsetting Program” by the Voluntary
Carbon Markets Rankingsin2016. Prior
tojoining Firmenich, Eric served as Senior
Vice President, Corporate Controllerand
Group Strategy of the Renault Groupin
Paris, France. Ericholds a Master'sin
Econometrics from the University of Paris
1 Panthéon-Sorbonne, a Doctoratein
Economyand Organizational Sciences,
aMaster'sin Finance from HEC in Paris,
and has successfully completed the
International Directors Program at INSEAD.

Corporate governance Executive Committee

Chief Research Officer
(UntilJune 30,2021)

Genevieve Bergeris committed to driving
Firmenich towards its next level of scientific
excellence, building on the Group's

legacy of world-classresearch and our
multidisciplinary approach to Research
and Development. Aninternationally
recognized science and business leader,
Dr. Bergeris passionate aboutimproving
quality of life through science. Prior to
Firmenich, her experience has spanned
Chief Research & Development Officer

at Unilever, leading the French National
Science Research Council, CNRS, and
Medical Doctorand Professorat the Hopital
de la Pitié-Salpétrierein France. She

holds three doctoratesin Physics, Human
Biology and Medicine. Dr. Bergerretired
from the Executive Committee on June
30,2021, andisstayingonasan advisor
tothe CEO untilDecember31,2021.

General Counsel

Jane Sinclair leads the governance functions
of the company and brings over 30 years

of international experiencein FMCG,
pharmaceuticals and research companies.
With extensive experience in emerging

and mature markets, Jane is committed

to building trust to last by conducting
responsible business for presentand

future generations. In addition to being the
GeneralCounsel, Jane leads the Legal &
Compliance functionsacross our worldwide
operations with direct oversight of Legal;
Intellectual Property; Quality, Health, Safety
& Environment; Regulatory; Business
Ethicsand Trade Compliance. With her
commitment toresponsible business, the
company's leadership in environmental,
safetyand regulatory stewardship has
beensecured. Priortojoining Firmenich,
Jane worked in multiple seniorrolesin the
Asia Pacific, USA, Europe and Australia

for Abbott, AbbVie, Geneaand The Coca-
Cola Company.JaneholdsanLL.B.in

Asian Studies and Law from the Australian
National University, an MBAin Business
Administration and Management from Deakin
University, and successfully completed the
INSEAD International Directors Program.
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Financial statements Consolidated financial statements

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

Forthe yearendedJune 30

In millions of CHF Notes 2021 2020
Revenue 27 4272.1 3877.6

Cost of goods sold 20/21 (2 513.2) (2 149.2)
Gross profit 1758.9 1728.4

as % of revenue 41.2% 44.6%
Distribution expenses 20/21 (121.5) (91.9)
Research and development expenses 20/21 (397.7) (366.5)
Commercial and marketing expenses 20/21 (448.2) (378.7)
Administration expenses 20/21 (276.3) (283.9)
Other operating income 20 79.2 15.2

Operating profit 594.4 622.6

as % of revenue 13.9% 16.1%
Financing costs 22 (48.4) (36.6)
Net other financial expenses 23 (18.9) (53.1)
Remeasurement to fair value of pre-existing interest in an acquiree - 30.1

Share of profit / (loss) of jointly controlled entities and associates, net of taxes 6 5.7 (3.9)
Income before taxes 532.8 559.1

Income tax expense 24 (79.6) (96.9)
Net income for the period 453.2 462.2

Attributable to:

Non-controlling interests 14 3.8 2.0

Equity holders of the parent 449.4 460.2

as % of revenue 10.5% 11.9%
Basic and diluted earnings per A share (in CHF) 13 554.88 568.11

Basic and diluted earnings per B share (in CHF) 13 55.49 56.81

The notes 1 to 33 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Financial statements Consolidated financial statements

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Forthe yearendedJune 30

In millions of CHF Notes 2021 2020
Net income for the period 453.2 462.2
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to the income statement
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations (44.1) (104.6)
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations in jointly controlled entities and associates (6.6) (13.3)
Items that will not be reclassified to the income statement
Remeasurement of employee benefit obligations 15 246.1 (101.3)
Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income 153.8 7.4
Related tax on remeasurement of employee benefit obligations 24 (38.3) 15.9
Related tax on equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income 24 (21.6) (1.0)
Total other comprehensive income for the period, net of tax 289.3 (196.9)
Total comprehensive income for the period 742.5 265.3
Attributable to:
Non-controlling interests 14 34 0.6
739.1 264.7

Equity holders of the parent

The notes 1 to 33 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Financial statements Consolidated financial statements

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

AsatJune 30

In millions of CHF Notes 2021 2020
Assets

Goodwill and intangible assets 3 2888.4 2 805.7
Property, plant and equipment 4 1635.0 1555.3
Financial investments and loans 5/25 686.1 577.5
Investments in jointly controlled entities and associates 6 146.3 71.6
Deferred tax assets 24 116.5 122.3
Total non-current assets 54723 51324
Inventories 7 896.1 857.8
Trade accounts receivable 8/25 958.2 878.4
Other receivables and prepaid expenses 9 145.3 160.5
Derivative financial instruments assets 10/25 1.8 9.4
Current income tax assets 59.2 78.9
Financial investments 11/25 223.2 123.3
Cash and cash equivalents 25 571.4 704.7
Total current assets 2 855.2 2 813.0
Total assets 8327.5 7945.4
Equity and liabilities

Share capital 12 40.5 40.5
Retained earnings and other reserves 4755.5 4384.3
Remeasurement of employee benefit obligations (244.8) (461.4)
Translation of foreign operations (527.6) (486.0)
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 4023.6 3477.4
Non-controlling interests 14 44.9 45.0
Total equity 4 068.5 3522.4
Employee benefit obligations 15 463.0 706.5
Provisions 16 12.7 19.0
Deferred tax liabilities 24 301.8 268.3
Long-term borrowings 17/25 2287.5 2249.0
Redemption liabilities 18 77.4 50.0
Other debt 18 18.1 18.9
Total non-current liabilities 3160.5 3311.7
Trade accounts payable 25 354.1 309.5
Other payables and accrued expenses 19 529.4 488.8
Derivative financial instruments liabilities 10/25 6.5 75.7
Employee benefit obligations 15 18.2 6.7
Provisions 16 11.5 5.8
Current income tax liabilities 80.8 73.7
Short-term borrowings 17/25 98.0 151.1
Total current liabilities 1 098.5 11113
Total liabilities 4 259.0 4423.0
Total equity and liabilities 8327.5 7945.4

The notes 1 to 33 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

Financial statements Consolidated financial statements

Remeasure-
ment of
Retained employee Translation of  Attributable to Non-
earnings and benefit Fair value foreign  equity holders controlling
In millions of CHF Share capital ~ other reserves obligations reserve operations of the parent interests (*) Total Equity
Balance as at July 1, 2019 40.5 3389.4 (375.9) (367.1) 2 686.9 19.5 2706.4
Net income for the period 460.2 460.2 2.0 462.2
Other comprehensive income for
) P 2.4 (85.5) 6.5 (118.9) (195.5) (1.4) (196.9)
the period
Total comprehensive income
? 462.6 (85.5) 6.5 (118.9) 264.7 0.6 265.3
for the period
Dividends (210.6) (210.6) (0.9) (211.5)
Acquisition of subsidiary with non-
quisttion Y (50.0) (50.0) 294 (20.6)
controlling interests (note 18)
Deeply subordinated fixed rate
resettable perpetual notes 794.5 794.5 794.5
Changes in non-controllin
nang & 8.1) (8.1) (3.6) (11.7)
interests
Net change in other equity items 525.8 525.8 24.9 550.7
Balance as at June 30, 2020 40.5 4377.8 (461.4) 6.5 (486.0) 3477.4 45.0 3522.4
Balance as at July 1, 2020 40.5 4377.8 (461.4) 6.5 (486.0) 3477.4 45.0 3522.4
Net income for the period 449.4 449.4 3.8 453.2
Other comprehensive income for
X (17.5) 216.6 132.2 (41.6) 289.7 (0.4) 289.3
the period
Total comprehensive income
. 431.9 216.6 132.2 (41.6) 739.1 3.4 742.5
for the period
Dividends (180.2) (180.2) (1.5) (181.7)
Remuneration on deeply
subordinated fixed rate resettable (7.6) (7.6) (7.6)
perpetual notes
Changes in non-controllin
nane & (5.1) (5.1) (2.0) (7.1)
interests
Net change in other equity items (192.9) (192.9) (3.5) (196.4)
Balance as at June 30, 2021 40.5 4616.8 (244.8) 138.7 (527.6) 4 023.6 44.9 4 068.5

) Refer to note 14

The notes 1 to 33 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Financial statements Consolidated financial statements

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

FortheyearendedJune 30

In millions of CHF Notes 2021 2020
Cash flows from operating activities

Net income for the period 453.2 462.2

Income tax expense 24 79.6 96.9

Income before taxes 532.8 559.1

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4/20 170.8 129.9

Amortization of intangible assets 3/20 102.6 68.3

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment 4/20 5.8 1.7

Changes in provisions and employee benefits 41.9 (27.0)
Other non cash items (53.7) 38.1

Net interests 44.4 32.7

Share of (profit) / loss of jointly controlled entities and associates 6 (5.7) 39

Adjustment for non-cash items 306.1 247.6

Changes in inventories (37.6) (50.2)
Changes in trade and other receivables (44.9) (24.4)
Changes in trade and other payables 72.5 38.7

Changes in working capital (10.0) (35.9)
Interests paid (39.5) (33.7)
Income tax paid (96.1) (95.2)
Cash flows from operating activities 693.3 641.9

Cash flows used in investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 4/27 (185.7) (157.6)
Purchase of intangible assets 3/27 (38.1) (33.9)
Disposal of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment 41.8 4.1

Net investments (182.0) (187.4)
Acquisition of businesses (net of cash) 2 (123.8) (1815.3)
Acquisition of jointly controlled entities and associates (net of cash) 6 (65.6) -
Acquisition of short-term financial investments (103.8) (56.0)
Proceeds / (acquisition) of long-term financial investments 1.8 (391.1)
Interests received 4.0 3.9

Dividend received from jointly controlled entities and associates 6 3.0 3.1

Cash flows used in investing activities (466.4) (2 442.8)
Cash flows (used in) / from financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings 17 41.8 2957.2

Repayments of borrowings 17 (135.5) (1356.3)
Proceeds from deeply subordinated fixed rate resettable perpetual notes - 793.0

Payment of lease liabilities 17 (46.4) (35.1)
Payment of redemption liability and other debt (29.7) (0.9)
Remuneration on deeply subordinated fixed rate resettable perpetual notes (7.6) -
Dividend payment to equity holders of the parent (180.2) (210.6)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests 14 - (7.1)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests 14 (1.5) (0.9)
Cash flows (used in) / from financing activities (359.1) 2139.3

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents (132.2) 338.4

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 704.7 376.4

Net effect of currency translation on cash and cash equivalents (1.1) (10.1)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 571.4 704.7

Cash and cash equivalents variation (132.2) 338.4

The notes 1 to 33 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIALSTATEMENTS

1. Accounting information and policies

Firmenich Group

Firmenich International SA is incorporated and domiciled in Switzerland (7, rue de la Bergere, 1242 Satigny, Canton of Geneva). These
consolidated financial statements comprise Firmenich International SA and its subsidiaries (the Group).

The Firmenich Group operates worldwide and has affiliated companies and representative offices in over 30 countries. The Group is a
global supplier of fragrances and flavors.

Firmenich International SA is controlled by Sentarom SA. The ultimate controlling party is the Firmenich family.
A list of main entities of the Group is disclosed in note 33.

The financial year 2021 covers the period from July 1, 2020 to June 30, 2021.

Basis of accounting

The Group’s consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with the accounting and reporting requirements of the
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and Swiss law. The
consolidated financial statements are prepared on an accrual basis and using the historical cost convention, unless otherwise stated.

The Firmenich International SA Board of Directors approved for issue these consolidated financial statements on August 5, 2021. They are
subject to the approval by the Annual General Meeting on October 5, 2021.

In the following notes all amounts are shown in millions of Swiss francs (CHF) unless otherwise stated.

Critical accounting estimates and judgments

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses, disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements. Actual outcomes could differ from those estimates. The estimates and underlying
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

Furthermore, the application of the Group’s accounting policies may require management to make judgments, apart from those involving
estimates that can have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements.

The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying value of assets and liabilities
within the next twelve months are:

a) Impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment, in accordance with IFRS. The recoverable amounts of cash-
generating units (i.e. CGU) have been determined based on value-in-use calculations.
These calculations require the use of estimates (refer to note 3).

b) Pensions and other post-employment benefits

The Group operates various pensions and post-employment benefit plans. The net defined liability recognized in the statement of financial
position is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period less the fair value of plan assets. The
defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method and is determined by
discounting the estimated future cash outflows. The latter will depend on assumptions such as expected salary increases, pension
increases, plan participants withdrawal rate and life expectancy. The actuarial assumptions (including the discount rate) used may differ
materially from actual results e.g. due to changes in market and economic conditions, higher or lower withdrawal rates or longer or
shorter life spans of participants and significantly impact the amount of pension costs and pension liabilities to be recognized (refer to note
15).

I &1



Financial statements Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Changes in significant accounting policies

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the annual financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2020, as
described in the 2020 consolidated financial statements with the exception of the adoption as of July 1, 2020, of the standards and
interpretations described below.

A number of new amendments are effective from July 1, 2020, but they do not have a material effect on the Group's financial statements.
Amendments to IFRS 3, Definition of a Business, clarifies whether a transaction results in an asset or a business acquisition. The
amendments include an election to use a concentration test. This is a simplified assessment that results in an asset acquisition if
substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or a group of similar identifiable assets.

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform, provide temporary relief from applying specific hedge
accounting requirements to hedging relationships directly affected by inter-bank offered rate (IBOR) reform. The reliefs have the effect
that IBOR reform should not generally cause hedge accounting to terminate.

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8, Definition of Material, refine the definition of the concept of materiality to align it across IFRS standards
and the Conceptual Framework.

Amendment to IFRS 16, COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions, provides practical relief for lessees in accounting for rent concessions by
introducing an optional practical expedient under which lessees are not required to assess whether eligible rent concessions are lease
modifications, and instead are permitted to account for them as if they were not lease modifications.

Amendments to References to Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards, have implications for how and when assets and liabilities are
recognized and derecognized in the financial statements.

Standards issued but not yet effective

A number of standards are effective for annual periods beginning after July 1, 2020 and earlier application is permitted. However, the
Group has not early adopted the new or amended standards in preparing these consolidated financial statements.

The Group is currently considering the implications of all other amendments and new standards on its consolidated financial statements.
Group significant accounting policies

Principles of consolidation

|. Business combinations

The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when control is transferred to the Group. The Group 'controls'
an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. The consideration transferred (the assets given up, shares issued or liabilities undertaken at the
date of acquisition) in the acquisition is generally measured at fair value, as are the identifiable net assets acquired.

Transaction costs are recognized in the income statement, except if related to the issue of debt or equity securities. Identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at fair values at the acquisition
date, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill, which is tested annually for impairment. If the cost of acquisition is less than the
fair value of the net assets of the affiliated company acquired, a bargain purchase gain is recognized directly in the income statement.

Il. Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled (directly or indirectly) by the Group. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the
consolidated financial statement from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and are no longer consolidated from the date
that control ceases.

Ill. Non-controlling interests (NCI)

NCI are measured initially at their proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets at the date of acquisition. Changes in the
Group's interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions.
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IV. Loss of control

When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognizes the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, and any related NCI and other
components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is recognized in the income statement. Any interest retained in the former subsidiary is
measured at fair value when control is lost.

V. Interests in joint ventures and associates

Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control or joint control, over the financial and operating
policies. A joint venture is an arrangement in which the Group has joint control, whereby the Group has rights to the net assets of the
arrangement, rather than rights to its assets and obligations for the liabilities.

Interests in jointly controlled entities and associates are accounted for using the equity method. They are initially recognized at cost, which
includes transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, the consolidated financial statements include the Group's share of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income (OCl) of jointly controlled entities and associates, until the date on which joint control or significant
influence ceases. Under this method, these investments are shown in the statement of financial position at the Group's share of the net
assets of the companies and the movement for the year in these investments is shown in the income statement.

V. Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated.
Unrealized gains arising from transactions with jointly controlled entities and associates are eliminated against the investment to the
extent of the Group's interest in the investee. Unrealized losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains, but only to the extent
that there is no evidence of impairment.

Foreign currencies
The Group's presentation currency is Swiss francs (CHF), which is the parent company's functional currency.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, are translated into CHF
at the exchange rates ruling at the year-end. The income statement accounts are translated into CHF at the exchange rates at the dates of
the transactions. Foreign currency differences are recognized in OCl and accumulated in the translation reserve, except to the extent that
the translation difference is allocated to NCI. Statement of cash flows are translated into CHF by applying to the foreign currency amount
at the exchange rate at the dates of the transactions. On the disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative translation adjustments
relating to that foreign operation are recognized in the income statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currencies of Group companies at the exchange rates ruling
at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the respective
company's functional currency at the exchange rate at the reporting date. Foreign currency differences are generally recognized in income
statement and presented within Net other financial expenses, including the effects of forward contracts, except for transactions qualified
as net investment in a foreign operation. Exchange gains and losses arising on such transactions are recognized in other comprehensive
income.

Revenue

The Group generates revenue from contracts with customers for the sale of fragrance and flavor products. The performance obligation is
satisfied when control over a good is transferred to the customer. Revenue is recognized at that point in time based on the price specified
in the contract, net of the estimated volume discounts provided that it is highly probable that a significant reversal will not occur. The
Group recognizes revenue when it transfers control over a good to a customer which is deemed upon shipment.

No element of financing is deemed present as the sales are made with a short-term credit term.

Other significant accounting policies are included in the relevant notes and applied throughout the consolidated financial statements.
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2. Business combinations

2.1 Businesses acquired
2.1.a Business acquired in 2021

Business acquired Cash generating unit Date of acquisition

MG International Perfumery July 1, 2020

On July 1, 2020, the Group acquired 69% of Gllgigek Kimya ve Ugan Yaglar Sanayive Ticaret A.S. (MG International) for a purchase price of
CHF 125.3. MG International is a leading middle-market Fragrance company based in Turkey with an extensive reach across its broader
region. The Group also entered into a forward agreement to acquire the remaining interests in MG International of 18% in March 2021 and
of 13% in January 2023 respectively. A redemption liability of CHF 54.3 has been recognized for the purchase of the remaining shares (refer
to note 18). The contract is accounted for as an anticipated acquisition of the underlying non-controlling interests. Therefore, the
redemption liability is included in the purchase consideration and consequently no non-controlling interest is recognized.

Since acquisition date, MG International contributed CHF 58.9 to revenue and CHF 9.2 to net income. The identifiable assets and liabilities
are recorded at fair value at the date of acquisition. The resulting goodwill of CHF 55.7 is attributable to the revenue growth and synergies
expected to be achieved by developing the Group's presence in the Middle East. Transaction costs of CHF 3.1 have been expensed
(included in Administration expenses) and are part of the Cash flows from operating activities. The goodwill is not deductible for tax
purpose.

The Group has completed the purchase price allocation in the twelve months period from acquisition date in accordance with IFRS 3
Business combinations.

2.1.b Businesses acquired in 2020

Businesses acquired Cash generating units Date of acquisition
VKL Seasoning Private Ltd Taste & Beyond July 31, 2019
Evonik CO, extraction o Perfumery & Ingredients October 31, 2019
Les Dérivés Résiniques et Terpéniques group (DRT) ) Perfumery & Ingredients May 28, 2020

(*) Firmenich initially acquired 60% of the shares and voting interests of VKL Seasoning Private Ltd (VKL). Founded in 1996, VKL is
recognized for its strong understanding of taste and its leading reputation in India.

(**) With more than 30 years of experience in botanical raw material extraction, Evonik's CO2 business will allow to develop natural
products palette and address demand for authentic, natural taste and scent experiences. Firmenich acquired the entire CO2 extraction
business.

(***) Les Dérivés Résiniques et Terpéniques (DRT) has been one of the Group's key suppliers for more than 30 years as well as a partner in
the Fider joint venture. Being at the forefront of the development and supply of high-quality, sustainable and naturally-derived ingredients,
DRT enables the Group to create fragrances with a higher content of in-house specialties and, at the same time, a renewable profile. It also
brings new capabilities in health & nutrition, cosmetics, as well as new markets, including adhesives, coatings and agriculture. Firmenich
acquired 100% of the DRT group.

The Group has completed the purchase price allocation of these acquisitions in the twelve months period from acquisition date in
accordance with IFRS 3 Business combinations.
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2.2 Assets and liabilities recognized at the date of acquisition

2.2.a Assets and liabilities recognized at date of acquisition in 2021

MG
In millions of CHF International
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 86.2
Property, plant and equipment 35.7
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1.5
Inventories 15.5
Trade accounts receivable 21.9
Other receivables and prepaid expenses 3.0
Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities (19.5)
Long-term borrowings (0.5)
Current liabilities
Trade accounts payable (5.1)
Other payables and accrued expenses (2.9)
Short-term borrowings (11.9)
Total identifiable net assets attributable to the Group 123.9
Goodwill arising on acquisition " 55.7
Consideration transferred 179.6
Less redemption liability (note 18) (54.3)
Purchase price paid 125.3

) With information obtained in the measurement period about MG International's tax position, an adjustment of CHF 1.9 was made on current income tax
liability, increasing goodwill to CHF 55.7.

2.2.b Assets and liabilities recognized at date of acquisition in 2020

In millions of CHF DRT VKL Other Total
Non-current assets

Intangible assets 464.1 28.3 - 492.4
Property, plant and equipment 353.3 11.9 3.2 368.4
Financial investments and loans 28.1 4.0 1.0 33.1
Deferred tax assets 7.5 31 - 10.6
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 31.5 1.0 1.3 33.8
Inventories 177.2 5.9 1.0 184.1
Trade accounts receivable 49.2 5.8 - 55.0
Other receivables and prepaid expenses 14.9 1.8 - 16.7
Non-current liabilities

Provisions (17.9) (0.4) (5.0) (23.3)
Deferred tax liabilities (153.6) (12.8) (0.6) (167.0)
Long-term borrowings (34.5) (4.8) - (39.3)
Current liabilities

Trade accounts payable (60.9) (5.5) - (66.4)
Other payables and accrued expenses (40.3) (5.3) (0.3) (45.9)
Short-term borrowings (42.8) (11.5) - (54.3)
Total identifiable net assets acquired at fair value 775.8 21.5 0.6 797.9
Non-controlling interests at the proportionate share of the acquiree's net assets (20.8) (8.6) - (29.4)
Fair value of pre-existing interest in Fider SA (39.8) - - (39.8)
Goodwill arising on acquisition 1067.3 52.9 0.2 1120.4
Consideration transferred 1782.5 65.8 0.8 1849.1
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2.3 Cash flow on acquisitions

2.3.a Cash flow on acquisitions in 2021

MG
In millions of CHF International
Purchase price paid (125.3)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired 1.5
Net cash outflow (123.8)
2.3.b Cash flow on acquisitions in 2020
In millions of CHF DRT VKL Other Total
Cash consideration (1782.5) (65.8) (0.8) (1849.1)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired 315 1.0 1.3 33.8
Net cash outflow (1751.0) (64.8) 0.5 (1815.3)

3. Goodwill and intangible assets

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of businesses is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets are initially
recorded at cost of purchase or development and are measured at cost less accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment
losses.

Amortization of intangible assets

The amortization on a straight-line basis is done over the following periods:

Customer base 15 to 20 years
Technology and formulas 5 to 10 years
Brands and trademarks 10 to 20 years
Software and other 5 to 20 years
Impairment

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its intangible assets to determine whether there is an indication of
impairment. If any such indication exists, then the assets' recoverable amount are estimated. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that
are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or CGUs.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal. Value in use is based on
the estimated future cash-flows, discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount.
Goodwill

Goodwill is allocated to CGUs according to the geography and business segment that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
business combination.

In millions of CHF 2021 2020

CASH GENERATING UNITS

Perfumery & Ingredients ) 1103.7 10715
Perfumery 42.9 -
Consumer fragrance (formerly 'Perfumery functional') 241.3 248.0
Taste & Beyond (formerly 'Flavor') 554.7 552.8
Total goodwill 1942.6 1872.3

Refer to note 2 for the allocation of goodwill arising from acquisitions to their respective CGUs.

) The goodwill allocated to the Ingredients CGU in 2020 (CHF 10.6) was reclassified to Perfumery & Ingredients CGU.

52 11



Financial statements Notes to the consolidated financial statements

The recoverable amount of CGUs is determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections based on
financial business plans and budgets approved by management covering a five-year-period. The discount rates used are based on the
Group's weighted average cost of capital adjusted for currency risks associated with the cash flow projections. A pre-tax discount rate of
7.6% was applied to cash-flow projections for the Perfumery & Ingredients, Perfumery and Consumer fragrance CGUs, and 6.8% for the
Taste & Beyond CGU.

The key sensitivities for the impairment tests are the growth in revenues, the operating margin and the discount rate. Reducing the
expected revenue growth rate, the operating margin or increasing the discount rate by reasonable basis points would not result in the
carrying amount of a cash-generating unit exceeding its recoverable amount.

No impairment loss resulted from the impairment tests for goodwill.

Customer base

Customer base consists of client relationships to key customers that complement the Group’s client portfolio and increase market share.

Technology and formulas

Application technologies and formulas consist of manufacturing recipes, production and natural extraction know-how acquired via
business combinations.

Brands and trademarks

The Group acquired several brands and trademarks as part of business combinations for the Taste & Beyond and Perfumery & Ingredients
divisions.

Software and other

Software

Costs associated with developing or maintaining internally generated computer software programs are recognized as an expense as
incurred. Costs that are directly associated with the production of identifiable and unique software products controlled by the Group, and
that will probably generate future economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one year, are recognized as intangible assets. Direct costs
include the software development costs, comprising employees’ and consultants’ cost, and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Patents, licenses

Acquired patents, licenses and other purchased rights are initially recorded at their acquisition cost and are amortized on a straight-line
basis over the lower of their estimated economic lives or legal duration, up to a maximum of 20 years. Incorporation expenses are not
capitalized but recognized as an expense when incurred.

Research and development

Research expenditure is recognized as an expense as incurred. Development costs are recognized as intangible assets only if the costs can
be reliably measured, future economic benefits are probable, the product is technically feasible and the Group has the intent and the
resources to complete the project. Capitalized development costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the period of the expected
benefit. In most cases development costs are expensed as incurred, as they do not meet the criteria for recognition as an asset.

Development in progress

Development in progress consists of development expenses with external partners for a new selling platform CHF 9.1 (2020 : CHF 0.0), a
digital platform for Perfumery fragrance development managers, oral care specialists and Taste & Beyond application teams CHF 1.7 (2020
: CHF 0.0), a tool for mass reformula and molecules development (Amyris Inc) CHF 1.4 (2020: CHF 9.5) and various other projects including
software developments CHF 32.3 (2020: CHF 30.5).

These intangible assets not being yet available for use, they are subject to a review for impairment annually, or more frequently if events
or circumstances indicate this is necessary. Any impairment is charged to the income statement as it arises.
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Customer Technology and Brands and Software Development

In millions of CHF Goodwill base formulas trademarks and other in progress Total
COST
Opening balance 2020 785.9 3725 352.4 66.3 419.4 429 2039.4
Additions - 0.4 0.4 - 2.6 30.5 33.9
Disposals - - - - (0.4) (0.2) (0.6)
Transfers ) - - 0.3 - 33.6 (33.7) 0.2
Acquisition of businesses 11204 318.2 91.4 53.0 29.4 0.4 1612.8
Currency translation adjustment (34.0) (10.3) (3.9) (2.9) (2.0) 0.1 (53.0)
Closing balance 2020 1872.3 680.8 440.6 116.4 482.6 40.0 3632.7
Additions - - - - 0.8 37.3 38.1
Disposals - - - - (0.6) (0.4) (1.0)
Transfers " - (1.1) 93 1.5 243 (32.4) 1.6
Acquisition of businesses 55.7 34.5 26.5 23.2 2.0 - 141.9
Currency translation adjustment 14.6 (2.6) (6.1) (4.6) 0.3 - 1.6
Closing balance 2021 1942.6 711.6 470.3 136.5 509.4 44.5 3814.9
ACCUMULATED AMORTIZATION
Opening balance 2020 157.0 217.8 12.4 375.3 762.5
Charge of the year 23.0 15.5 6.8 23.0 68.3
Disposals - - - (0.2) (0.2)
Transfers " 19 - - (1.9) -
Currency translation adjustment (1.1) (0.6) (0.6) (1.3) (3.6)
Closing balance 2020 180.8 232.7 18.6 394.9 827.0
Charge of the year 38.7 24.8 11.1 28.0 102.6
Disposals - - - (0.6) (0.6)
Transfers " 0.8 (0.4) (0.1) (1.9) (1.6)
Currency translation adjustment (0.3) (0.1) (0.3) (0.2) (0.9)
Closing balance 2021 220.0 257.0 29.3 420.2 926.5
NET BOOK VALUE
Closing balance 2020 18723 500.0 207.9 97.8 87.7 40.0 2 805.7
Closing balance 2021 1942.6 491.6 213.3 107.2 89.2 44.5 2 888.4
) Transfers from development in progress to other intangibles categories.
4. Property, plant and equipment

Buildings and Construction
In millions of CHF Land infrastructure Equipment in progress Total
Acquired property, plant and equipment 83.6 542.3 556.5 212.0 1394.4
Right-of-use of assets 2.7 126.3 319 - 160.9
Closing balance 2020 86.3 668.6 588.4 212.0 1555.3

Buildings and Construction
In millions of CHF Land infrastructure Equipment in progress Total
Acquired property, plant and equipment 71.3 583.6 597.9 206.2 1459.0
Right-of-use of assets 2.3 137.9 35.8 - 176.0
Closing balance 2021 73.6 721.5 633.7 206.2 1635.0
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Acquired property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost of purchase or construction and depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
expected useful lives of the assets. Subsequent expenditure on an item is capitalized at cost only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Impairment

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment to determine whether there is an
indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the assets' recoverable amount are estimated.

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.

Depreciation

The depreciation on a straight-line basis is done over the following periods:

Buildings 25 to 50 years
Infrastructure 10 to 20 years
Equipment 3 to 20 years

Land is not depreciated. The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

Gains and losses on disposal of land, buildings, infrastructure and equipment are determined by reference to their carrying amount and are
recognized in the income statement.

Buildings and Construction
In millions of CHF Land infrastructure Equipment in progress Total
COST
Opening balance 2020 54.6 1201.3 1350.1 162.8 2768.8
Additions ") 0.9 4.8 8.2 144.3 158.2
Disposals - (3.6) (86.4) (0.1) (90.1)
Transfers " - 75.6 72.6 (148.6) (0.4)
Acquisition of businesses 30.4 71.2 193.5 58.8 354.0
Currency translation adjustment (2.3) (32.0) (46.9) (5.2) (86.4)
Closing balance 2020 83.6 1317.3 1491.1 212.0 3104.0
Additions " 0.2 45 12.5 169.3 186.5
Disposals (11.1) (138.5) (42.8) (0.3) (192.7)
Transfers!™") (7.3) 73.7 104.6 (175.1) (4.1)
Acquisition of businesses 9.4 17.6 7.7 0.1 34.8
Currency translation adjustment (3.5) (1.1) 5.1 0.2 0.7
Closing balance 2021 71.3 1273.5 1578.2 206.2 3129.2
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
Opening balance 2020 754.6 990.6 1745.2
Charge of the year &) 38.7 54.7 93.4
Impairment losses 0.1 1.6 1.7
Disposals (0.8) (85.3) (86.1)
Transfers ™ - 0.1 0.1
Currency translation adjustment (17.6) (27.1) (44.7)
Closing balance 2020 775.0 934.6 1709.6
Charge of the year ' ! 424 83.9 126.3
Impairment losses 0.9 33 4.2
Disposals (126.6) (42.6) (169.2)
Transfers (1.5) 0.5 (1.0)
Currency translation adjustment (0.3) 0.6 0.3
Closing balance 2021 689.9 980.3 1670.2

(*) Additions of Property, plant and equipment exclude the government grants received of CHF -0.8 (2020: CHF -0.6).
(**) Depreciation charge of the year for Property, plant and equipment exclude the release of government grants of CHF -2.3 (2020: CHF -2.1).

(***) Include transfers from construction in progress to land, buildings and infrastructure and equipment.
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The sale of the site located in La Jonction (Geneva, Switzerland) was completed and transfer of ownership to the buyer occurred on
February 1, 2021. Of the total proceeds of CHF 70.0, cash inflows for the year amounts to CHF 42.0, CHF 7.0 were already received in
December 2016 and CHF 21.0 will be received in 2023. The transaction results in a capital gain of CHF 48.0 recorded under Other operating
income (refer to note 20).

Right-of-use assets

The Group leases land, offices, warehouses, vehicles, machinery and IT equipment. Lease arrangements are typically made for fixed
periods but may have extension options. The Group has applied judgement to determine the lease term at lease commencement date,
which affects the amount of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets recognized, by assessing whether the Group is reasonably certain to
exercise such options. These extension options are exercisable only by the Group and not by the lessors.

The Group recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset is initially measured
at cost, and subsequently at cost less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of
the lease liability.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the Group
will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, or the lease term will be extended.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.

The lease liability is subsequently increased by the interest cost on the lease liability and decreased by lease payments made.

It is remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, a change in the estimate of the
amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or as appropriate, changes in the assessment of whether a purchase or
extension option is reasonably certain to be exercised or a termination option is reasonably certain not to be exercised.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The Group has elected not to separate lease and non-lease components for
lease arrangements other than real estate and accounts for these as a single lease component. However, for leases of real estate the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to the lease and non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices.

Buildings and
In millions of CHF Land infrastructure Equipment Total
COST
Opening balance 2020 3.0 157.5 254 185.9
Additions - 9.5 7.3 16.8
Derecognition - (9.5) (2.2) (11.7)
Acquisition of businesses - 2.2 12.3 14.5
Currency translation adjustment (0.1) (11.7) (2.8) (14.6)
Closing balance 2020 2.9 148.0 40.0 190.9
Additions - 44.6 24.3 68.9
Derecognition (0.3) (13.6) (5.4) (19.3)
Acquisition of businesses 0.1 0.1 0.7 0.9
Currency translation adjustment (0.1) 3.7 0.7 4.3
Closing balance 2021 2.6 182.8 60.3 245.7
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
Opening balance 2020 - - - -
Charge of the year 0.2 29.0 9.4 38.6
Derecognition - (6.1) (0.9) (7.0)
Currency translation adjustment - (1.2) (0.4) (1.6)
Closing balance 2020 0.2 21.7 8.1 30.0
Charge of the year 0.2 27.5 19.1 46.8
Impairment losses - 1.6 - 1.6
Derecognition (0.1) (6.6) (3.1) (9.8)
Currency translation adjustment - 0.7 0.4 1.1
Closing balance 2021 0.3 44.9 24.5 69.7
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5. Financial long-term investments and loans

In millions of CHF 2021 2020
Equity instruments at fair value through OCI 556.4 475.9
Financial assets at fair value through income statement 73.3 68.1
Loans at amortized cost 56.4 33.5
Land use rights 13.5 12.1
Other loans and receivables 34.5 11.3
Loans to related parties 7.3 8.9
Loans to personnel 1.1 1.2
Financial long-term investments and loans 686.1 577.5

For accounting policy on financial investments and loans refer to note 25.

Equity instruments at fair value through OCI

The Group owns 21.8% of Robertet SA's share interests, representing circa 11% of voting rights. This equity instrument is a long-term
strategic investment (not held for trading). On initial recognition, the Group irrevocably elected to present subsequent changes in the
investment’s fair value in other comprehensive income (also refer to note 25).

During the year, the Group received a net dividend income of CHF 1.9 (2020: CHF 0.0) from this investment.

Financial assets at fair value through income statement

Long-term financial investments held at fair value through income statement include funds in relation with a deferred compensation
scheme of CHF 53.5 (2020: CHF 47.3) that are restricted to employee benefits use only. Assets are invested mainly in various mutual funds
to cover the company’s obligations under deferred compensation arrangements (also refer to note 15). They mainly consist of insurance
policy and deposits covering employee benefits.

Loans at amortized cost

Other loans and receivables mainly consist of the long-term receivable of CHF 21.0 due to the sale of La Jonction site in Geneva (refer to
note 4).

Loans to related parties mainly consist of a long-term financing granted to Prolitec Inc of CHF 6.0 (2020: CHF 6.1).

6. Associates and joint ventures

The following is a summary of the movements in the jointly controlled entities and associates. Jasmine Concrete Exports Private Ltd and
InnovAroma SA are joint ventures in which the Group has a joint control. The other investments are associated companies in which the
Group has a significant influence.

In February 2021, the Group increased its ownership in ArtSci Biology Technologies Co Ltd (ArtSci) from 24.99% to 49.99% for a price of
CHF 65.6. ArtSci remains an associate.

The liquidation of Negev Aroma (Ramat Hovav) Ltd initiated in May 2017 was completed in January 2021.

ArtSci Biology Jasmine Concrete
Technologies Co Biomass Energy Exports Private The Nelixia

In millions of CHF Ltd. Solutions VSG SAS Ltd Company SA Other (*) Total
MOVEMENT IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

Opening balance 2020 48.9 - 8.3 8.9 13.1 79.2

Acquisition - 13.0 - - - 13.0

Share of profit / (loss) 33 - (0.4) (0.1) 0.7 3.5

Impairment loss - - - (7.4) - (7.4)
Dividend paid (2.8) - - - (0.3) (3.1)
Change in control - - - - (9.8) (9.8)
Currency translation adjustment (2.7) - (0.9) 0.2 (0.4) (3.8)
Closing balance 2020 46.7 13.0 7.0 1.6 33 71.6

Acquisition 65.6 - - - - 65.6

Share of profit / (loss) 4.4 0.9 (0.1) 0.7 (0.2) 5.7

Dividend paid (3.0) - - - - (3.0)
Currency translation adjustment 6.0 0.4 (0.1) 0.2 (0.1) 6.4

Closing balance 2021 119.7 14.3 6.8 2.5 3.0 146.3

in 2021, Prolitec Inc, InnovAroma SA, Novali A.S. and Kalsangi Pte. Ltd are included under Other.
In 2020, Fider SA, Prolitec Inc, InnovAroma SA, Negev Aroma Ltd, Novali A.S. and Kalsangi Pte. Ltd are included under Other.
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The jointly controlled entites and associates have no significant contingent liabilities to which the Group is exposed.

The Group has no outstanding capital commitments to the jointly controlled entities.

7. Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of finished goods and work-in-progress comprises raw
materials, direct labor, other direct costs and related production overheads (based on normal operating capacity), but excludes borrowing
costs. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the cost of completion and selling expenses.
Allowances for slow-moving and obsolete inventories have been made. Cost is determined using the weighted average cost formula.

In millions of CHF 2021 2020

INVENTORY SPLIT BY CATEGORY

Raw material and supplies 301.8 282.0
Work in progress 366.3 341.1
Finished goods 266.6 259.2
Allowance for slow-moving and obsolete inventories (38.6) (24.5)
Total inventories 896.1 857.8
In millions of CHF 2021 2020

MOVEMENT IN INVENTORY ALLOWANCE

Opening balance (24.5) (20.7)
Increase in allowance (57.7) (38.1)
Use and reversal of allowance 43.8 32.7
Currency translation adjustment (0.2) 1.6
Closing balance (38.6) (24.5)

Total inventory losses for the year ended June 30, 2021 reached CHF 40.7 (2020: CHF 33.7) and are included in the Cost of goods sold.

8. Trade accounts receivable

Trade accounts receivable are initially measured at the transaction price and classified as financial assets at amortized cost less loss
allowance. They are carried at non-discounted values as they do not contain a significant financing component.

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses (ECL) which uses a lifetime expected credit loss
allowance for all trade receivables. ECL's are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present
value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive). ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.

In millions of CHF 2021 2020
Trade accounts receivable (gross) 969.1 885.8
Allowance for doubtful debts (10.9) (7.4)
Total trade accounts receivable 958.2 878.4

The Group has several major global clients, as well as a vast number of customers internationally dispersed. As a consequence, the credit
risk with respect to trade accounts receivable is limited. Their carrying amount approximates the fair value.

In millions of CHF 2021 2020

AGEING OF PAST DUE BUT NOT IMPAIRED

Neither past due nor impaired 924.2 827.2
Less than 30 days 30.9 40.5
30 to 60 days 6.0 8.9
60 to 90 days 3.1 4.1
More than 90 days 4.9 5.1
Less allowance for doubtful debts (10.9) (7.4)
Total trade accounts receivable 958.2 878.4

58 1/



Financial statements Notes to the consolidated financial statements

In millions of CHF 2021 2020

MOVEMENT IN LOSS ALLOWANCE FOR IMPAIRMENT

Opening balance (7.4) (8.0)
Increase in allowance for impairment (22.3) (48.5)
Reversal of allowance for impairment 17.3 45.5
Use of allowance for impairment 1.5 2.5
Currency translation adjustment - 11
Closing balance (10.9) (7.4)

Total trade accounts receivable written-off for the year ended June 30, 2021 are CHF 1.7 (2020: CHF 2.5).

9. Other receivables and prepaid expenses

In millions of CHF 2021 2020
VAT receivables 711 61.7
Other receivables and accrued income 435 64.2
Prepaid expenses 30.7 34.6
Total other receivables and prepaid expenses 145.3 160.5

10. Derivative financial instruments

In millions of CHF 2021 2020

Fair value Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
Forward exchange contracts 13 53 8.8 1.8
Currency options 0.5 1.2 0.6 0.7
Other option arising from financial derivatives - - - 73.2
Total derivative financial instruments 1.8 6.5 9.4 75.7

The fair value of derivative financial instruments is determined based on information obtained from financial institutions.

Also refer to note 25 for the classification of Derivative financial instruments according to IFRS 9.

11. Financial short-term investments

In millions of CHF 2021 2020
Fixed term deposits over 48 hours 220.8 118.1
Bonds and debentures - 2.2
Equity securities 2.4 2.8
Hedge funds - 0.2
Financial investments 223.2 123.3

For accounting policy on financial investments and further details, refer to note 25.

There are no restrictions on marketable securities.
In millions of CHF 2021 2020

FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS SPLIT BY CURRENCIES

CHF 150.0 78.6
UsD 38.6 1.6
CNY 1.0 7.0
INR 26.1 34.3
Other 7.5 1.8
Total 223.2 123.3
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12. Share capital and retained earnings

2021 2020

Registered A shares

Number 729 000 729 000
Nominal value (in CHF) 50.0 50.0
Total A shares (in millions of CHF) 36.45 36.45
Registered B shares

Number 810 000 810 000
Nominal value (in CHF) 5.0 5.0
Total B shares (in millions of CHF) 4.05 4.05
Share capital (in millions of CHF) 40.5 40.5

Each share carries the right to one vote. When a dividend on ordinary share is declared, holders of A shares are entitled to a preferential
dividend equivalent to 10% of the nominal share value in priority to other dividend payments.

The ordinary share capital of Firmenich International SA has been authorized, issued and fully paid.

Deeply subordinated fixed rate resettable perpetual notes

Firmenich International SA issued EUR 750.0 (CHF 794.5) deeply subordinated fixed rate resettable perpetual notes on June 3, 2020 with a
coupon of 3.75% payable annually at the sole discretion of the issuer until the first reset date i.e. September 3, 2025. Thereafter, the
interest rate is reset every 5 years. As of June 30, 2021 the remuneration on the deeply subordinated fixed rate resettable perpetual notes
amounts to CHF 7.6.

In accordance with the provisions of IAS 32 Financial Instruments — Presentation, this instrument is accounted for in equity in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

13. Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net income attributable to shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year.

In millions of CHF (except for earnings per share) 2021 2020
Net income attributable to Firmenich International SA 449.4 460.2
A shares part of share capital in % 90.0% 90.0%
A shares part of net income from ordinary activities 404.5 414.2
B shares part of share capital in % 10.0% 10.0%
B shares part of net income from ordinary activities 44.9 46.0
Earnings per A share (in CHF) 554.88 568.11
Earnings per B share (in CHF) 55.49 56.81

The Group has not issued share capital related instruments that could have affected earnings per share.

Dividend distribution

At the General meeting held in October 2020, a distribution on financial year 2020 net income of CHF 222.5 gross per A share and CHF
22.25 gross per B share was approved (October 2019: CHF 260.0 per A share and CHF 26.0 per B share).

This year the Board proposes a dividend of CHF 309.0 gross per A share, which includes the 10% preferential dividend, and CHF 30.9 gross
per B share.
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14. Non-controlling interests

The following provides information on the non-controlling interests of the Group's subsidiaries.

Kunming
DRT Anthea Firmenich
Aroma Chemicals PT Firmenich VKL Seasoning Aromatics Co. Essex
In millions of CHF Pvt. Ltd Indonesia Private Ltd Ltd.  Laboratories LLC Other Total
MOVEMENT IN NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
Opening balance 2020 - 7.4 - 5.2 4.3 2.7 19.5
Share of profit / (loss) - 1.8 (0.5) 0.3 0.5 (0.1) 2.0
Acquisition of businesses 20.8 - 8.6 - - - 29.4
Dividends - (0.6) - (0.1) (0.2) - (0.9)
Transactions with non-controlling ) ) (0.9) ) ) 2.7) (3.6)
interests
Currency translation adjustment - (0.4) (0.8) (0.3) (0.1) 0.1 (1.4)
Closing balance 2020 20.8 8.2 6.4 5.1 4.5 - 45.0
Share of profit / (loss) 2.6 1.3 (1.0) 0.2 0.5 0.2 3.8
Dividends (0.7) (0.5) - (0.1) (0.2) - (1.5)
Other movements (3.4) - - - - 1.4 (2.0)
Currency translation adjustment 0.1 (0.4) (0.1) 0.2 (0.1) (0.1) (0.4)
Closing balance 2021 19.4 8.6 5.3 5.4 4.7 1.5 44.9
15. Employee benefit obligations
In millions of CHF 2021 2020
Non-current employee benefit obligations
Pension plans and other post-employment benefit obligations 377.3 634.3
Other employee benefits 85.7 72.2
Total non-current employee benefit obligations 463.0 706.5
Current employee benefit obligations
Other employee benefits 18.2 6.7
Total current employee benefit obligations 18.2 6.7

15.1 Pension plans and other post-employment benefit obligations

The Group companies operate various defined benefit and defined contribution pension plans in accordance with local conditions and
practices in the countries concerned. The pension plans are generally funded by payments from employees and by the relevant Group
companies, taking into account the recommendations of independent qualified actuaries.

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The Group has no legal
or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay the benefits relating to employee
service in the current and prior periods. A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that is not a defined contribution plan.

Defined benefit plans define an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more
factors such as age, years of service and compensation.

The net defined liability recognized in the statement of financial position in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the present value of
the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period less the fair value of plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is
calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is
determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows in respect of prior service using the yields on high-quality corporate bonds
that are denominated in the currency and approximate duration of the related defined benefit pensions obligation.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are charged or credited to the
statement of other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. Past service costs are recognized immediately in the income
statement.

Pension assets and liabilities in different defined benefits plans are not offset unless the Group has a legally enforceable right and
obligation to use the surplus in one plan to settle obligations in the other plan.
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Net defined benefit assets are only recognized to the extent that the Group is able to derive future economic benefits in the way of refunds
from the plan or reductions of future contributions.

The Group’s contributions to defined contribution pension plans are charged to the income statement in the period to which the
contributions relate.

The Group distinguishes two categories of defined benefit plans i.e. pension plans and other post-employment benefits. The most
significant plans are held in Switzerland, the United States of America and the United Kingdom.
15.1.a Defined benefit pension plans

Defined benefit pension plans are either funded or unfunded plans. The assets of funded plans are held independently of the Group’s
assets in separate funds.

15.1.b Other post-employment benefits

Other post-employment benefits are not funded and comprise healthcare benefits, jubilees, long-service leaves, other discretionary
benefits as well as temporary benefits in relation to retirements of corporate management. The entitlement to healthcare benefits is
usually conditional on the employee remaining in service up to retirement age and the completion of a minimum service period. The
expected costs of these benefits are accrued to the date when further service will lead to no material amount of further benefits using the
same accounting methodology as used for defined benefit pension plans.

The table below outlines defined benefit plans reflected in the financial statements.

In millions of CHF 2021 2020
OBLIGATIONS

Defined benefit pensions 250.3 501.3
Other post-employment benefits 127.0 133.0
Liability in statement of financial position 377.3 634.3
INCOME STATEMENT CHARGES

Defined benefit pensions 56.4 52.2
Other post-employment benefits 6.0 6.7
Total included in income statement 62.4 58.9
REMEASUREMENT

Defined benefit pensions (239.0) 91.9
Other post-employment benefits (7.1) 9.4
Total remeasurement included in other comprehensive income (246.1) 101.3

For further details please refer to sections 'Main defined benefit pension plans description' and 'Other post-employment benefits
description' respectively.

During the financial year, expenses related to defined contribution plans recognized in the income statement are CHF 46.2 (2020: 44.8).
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Funded and Impact of Net (Assets) /
unfunded defined minimum funding Liabilities
benefit  Fair value of plan requirement/ recognized in the
In millions of CHF obligations assets asset ceiling balance sheet
MOVEMENT IN NET (ASSETS) / LIABILITIES OVER THE YEAR
Opening balance 2021 1829.2 (1327.9) 501.3
INCLUDED IN INCOME STATEMENT
Current service cost 47.6 47.6
Plan administration expenses 5.6 5.6
Interest expense / (income) 12.5 (9.3) 3.2
Total included in income statement 60.1 (3.7) 56.4
INCLUDED IN OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Remeasurement arising from:
Loss / (gain) from change in demographic assumptions (89.2) (89.2)
Loss / (gain) from change in financial assumptions 46.7 46.7
Experience loss / (gain) (17.4) (17.4)
Return on plan assets excluding interest income (183.4) (183.4)
Asset ceiling change, excluding movement through income statement e 43 4.3
Total included in other comprehensive income (59.9) (183.4) 4.3 (239.0)
OTHER
Benefits paid (59.8) 59.8 0.0
Contributions by plan participants 13.5 (13.5) -
Employer contributions (57.0) (57.0)
Currency translation adjustment and other 0.8 (12.2) (11.4)
Total other (45.5) (22.9) (68.4)
Closing balance 2021 1783.9 (1537.9) 4.3 250.3

) The defined benefit pensions measurement is the consequence of changes in demographic and financial assumptions, in particular on the Swiss pension
funds, longevity and disability tables adopted in 2021 (BVG 2020 G, CMI LTR 1.5%) and higher interest credit rate assumption (from 0.45% to 1.75%).

) One of the Group's Swiss pension plans has a surplus that is not recognized, on the basis that future economic benefits are not available to the Group in

the form of a reduction in future contributions or a cash refund.
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Funded and
unfunded defined

Impact of
minimum funding

Net (Assets) /
Liabilities

benefit  Fair value of plan requirement/ recognized in the
In millions of CHF obligations assets asset ceiling balance sheet
MOVEMENT IN NET (ASSETS) / LIABILITIES OVER THE YEAR
Opening balance 2020 1666.3 (1 258.7) - 407.6
Acquisition of businesses 19.8 (4.2) 15.6
INCLUDED IN INCOME STATEMENT
Current service cost 42.1 42.1
Plan administration expenses 6.0 6.0
Interest expense / (income) 18.5 (14.6) - 3.9
Loss / (gain) on settlements 0.2 0.2
Total included in income statement 60.8 (8.6) - 52.2
INCLUDED IN OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Remeasurement arising from:
Loss / (gain) from change in demographic assumptions (0.4) (0.4)
Loss / (gain) from change in financial assumptionsm 107.8 107.8
Experience loss / (gain) 20.9 20.9
Return on plan assets excluding interest income (36.4) (36.4)
Total included in other comprehensive income 128.3 (36.4) - 91.9
OTHER
Benefits paid (43.7) 43.7 0.0
Contributions by plan participants 13.3 (13.3) -
Employer contributions (58.1) (58.1)
Settlements (4.0) - (4.0)
Currency translation adjustment (11.6) 7.7 (3.9)
Total other (46.0) (20.0) - (66.0)
Closing balance 2020 1829.2 (1327.9) - 501.3

™) The defined benefit pensions measurement is the consequence of changes in financial assumptions, in particular, the lower discount rate on the Swiss

pension funds (from 0.65% to 0.3%)

In millions of CHF 2021 2020
PLAN ASSETS SPLIT BY CATEGORY

Equity 494.2 438.9
Bonds 489.9 433.7
Hedge funds 161.8 127.8
Derivatives 7.7 6.1
Commodities 0.1 0.1
Property 204.1 178.8
Insurance policies 48.5 49.4
Other 80.5 58.0
Cash and bank deposits 51.1 35.1
Total plan assets 1537.9 1327.9

The expected contributions to post-employment benefit plans for the year ended June 30, 2022 are CHF 47.2.

Equities and bonds: all significant positions are quoted in an active market.

Property, hedge funds, commodities, insurance policies: not quoted in an active market.
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The table below outlines the funding situation by geographic area:

June 30, 2021
United States of

In millions of CHF Switzerland America United Kingdom Other countries Total
DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS
Funded and unfunded defined benefit obligations 1416.3 233.4 78.7 55.5 1783.9
Fair value of plan assets (1234.2) (220.9) (76.7) (6.1) (1537.9)
Net excess of liabilities/(assets) over obligations ) 182.1 12.5 2.0 49.4 246.0
Unrecognized assets due to asset ceiling 4.3 4.3
Net excess of liabilities/(assets) over obligations recognized 186.4 12,5 2.0 49.4 250.3
) One of the Group's Swiss pension plans has a surplus of CHF 4.3 that is not recognized.
June 30, 2020

United States of
In millions of CHF Switzerland America United Kingdom Other countries Total
DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS
Funded and unfunded defined benefit obligations 1463.5 238.5 74.8 52.4 1829.2
Fair value of plan assets (1 065.6) (184.1) (71.4) (6.8) (1327.9)
Net excess of liabilities/(assets) over obligations 397.9 54.4 3.4 45.6 501.3

Key actuarial assumptions

United States of

2021 Switzerland America  United Kingdom  Other countries
Discount rate 0.29% 2.84% 1.70% 0.6 % to 6.95 %
Salary increases 1.50% 2.75% 0.00% 0%-87%
Pension increases 0.00% 0.00% 2.75% 0%-8%

Pri-2012 S3PA with CMI
. . BVG 2020 G Generational 2020, 1.25%

Mortality assumptions .

CMILTR 1.5% Mortality Table long-term
with MP 2020 trend

Life expectancy at age 65 for a male/female member currently aged 65 21.9/23.6 20.5/22.4 21.9/24.3

United States of

2020 Switzerland America  United Kingdom  Other countries
Discount rate 0.29% 2.77% 135% 0.8%t06.9%
Salary increases 2.00% 4.00% 0.00% 2%-87%
Pension increases 0.00% 0.00% 1.75% 0%-175%

Pri-2012 S3PA with CMI
. i Generational 2019, 1.25%

Mortality assumptions BVG 2015 G .

Mortality Table long-term
with MP 2019 trend

Life expectancy at age 65 for a male/female member currently aged 65 22.7/24.8 20.6/22.6 21.9/24.2
Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to changes in the principal actuarial assumptions is:

Change in Increase in Decrease in

In millions of CHF assumption assumption assumption
Discount rate 0.50% (126.2) 143.0
Future salary increases 0.50% 15.5 (14.6)
Future pension increases 0.50% 80.7 (3.6)
Life expectancy 1year 52.4 (51.9)

The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions constant. In practice, this is

unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated.
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Main defined benefit pension plans description

Switzerland

According to the Swiss Federal Law on Occupational Retirement, Survivors and Disability (LPP/BVG), the Swiss Pension plans are managed
by independent and legally autonomous entities which have the legal structure of foundation.

The Pension Boards are composed of equal numbers of employee and employer representatives. Each year, the Pension Boards decide the
level of interest, if any, to apply to the retirement accounts in accordance with the pension policy.

It is also responsible for the investment of the assets and defining the investment strategy for long-term returns with an acceptable level of
risk. The Pension Funds provide benefits on a defined contribution basis.

The Base Plan insures all employees of Firmenich SA. The complementary plan insures exclusively the members of the Direction Générale
(DG).

The purposes of both plans are to protect the employees against the economic consequences of retirement, disability and death.

The employer and employees pay contributions to the pension plan at rates set out in the pension plans rules based on a percentage of
salary.

The amount of the retirement account can be taken by the employee at retirement in the form of pension or capital.

Under IAS 19 Employee benefits, the pension plans are classified as defined benefit plans due to the promises and underlying benefits
guarantees. Consequently the pension obligation is calculated by using the projected unit credit method.

The Group expects to contribute CHF 37.5 to these plans during the year ending June 30, 2022.

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 16.1 years.

International Pension Plan

The purpose of the plan is to ensure that key international employees obtain a level of benefits in case of disability, death, retirement or
termination of employment close to those they would have had if they were covered by the Swiss pension system applicable to the
employees of Firmenich SA, taking of course into account any local coverage that these employees may have abroad. The benefit, if any,
can only be paid as a lump-sum to the Participant or the Beneficiary.

This plan is intended to be an unfunded and unsecured plan maintained primarily for the purpose of providing pension benefits for key
international employees.

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 5.2 years.

United States of America

The US pension plan is qualified under and is managed in accordance with the requirements of US federal law. In accordance with federal
law the assets of the plan are legally separate from the employer and are held in a pension trust. The law requires minimum and maximum
amounts that can be contributed to the trust, together with limitations on the amount of benefits that may be provided under the plan.

There are named fiduciaries that are responsible for ensuring the plan is managed in accordance with the law. The fiduciaries are
responsible for defining the investment strategy for long-term returns with an acceptable level of risk as well as the oversight of the
investment of plan assets.

The employees do not contribute to the plan and the employer contributes to the plan amounts which are at least equal to the minimum
required by the law and not more than the maximum that would limit the tax deductibility of the contributions. The plan provides benefits
on a defined benefit basis, and is closed to all new employees. The plan was also closed to the majority of current employees for future
benefit accruals. The grandfathered Group of participants to the defined benefit plan continue to accrue benefits which are payable at
retirement and on death in service. With exceptions for optional lump sum amounts for certain sections of the plan, the benefits are paid
out as annuities. Under IAS 19 Employee benefits, the pension obligations are calculated by using the projected unit credit method.

The Group expects to contribute CHF 7.7 to these plans during the year ending June 30, 2022.

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 11.4 years.
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United Kingdom

The occupational pension scheme Firmenich Wellingborough Employee Benefits Plan is arranged under the applicable UK Pension Schemes
and Pension Acts and is managed as a legally autonomous pension trust by the Board of Trustees.

The Board of Trustees is composed of two member-nominated representatives (one of whom is a current pensioner of the Scheme) and
two employer-nominated representatives. The Board of Trustees is responsible for the investment of the assets, defining the investment
strategy for long-term returns with an acceptable level of risk. The Trust provides benefits on a defined benefit basis. This defined benefit
Scheme is closed to new members.

The scheme is closed to accrual of further benefits. Previous active members of this scheme now receive contributions from the
Company's Group Personal Pension Plan. At the last Scheme Funding Assessment for the Firmenich Wellingborough scheme a shortfall in
the assets below the liabilities was identified — as a result, the employer has agreed to contribute fixed sums to the Scheme in order to
address this shortfall. With exceptions for trivial amounts, transfer values, lump sum death benefits and tax free lump sums, the benefits
are paid out as regular payments to Scheme members for life (and for the life of their spouse or a dependent where applicable).

Under IAS 19 Employee benefits, the defined benefit pension obligations in the Firmenich Wellingborough Employee Benefits Plan are
calculated by using the projected unit credit method.

The Group expects to contribute CHF 0.6 to this plan during the year ending June 30, 2022.

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 13 years.

Asset - liability management and funding arrangement

Plan trustees or General Assemblies are responsible for determining the mix of asset classes and target allocations of the plans with the
support of investment advisors. Periodical reviews of the assets mix are made by mandating external consultants to perform asset-liability
matching analyses. Such analyses aim at comparing dynamically the fair value of assets and the liabilities in order to determine the most
adequate strategic asset allocation.

The overall investment policy and strategy for the Group’s funded defined benefit plans is guided by the objective of achieving an
investment return which, together with the contributions paid, is sufficient to maintain reasonable control over the various funding risks of
the plans. As those risks evolve with the development of capital markets and asset management activities, the Group addresses the
assessment and control process of the major investment pension risks. In order to protect the Group’s defined benefit plans funding ratio
and to mitigate the financial risks, protective measures on the investment strategies are in force. To the extent possible, the risks are
shared equally amongst the different stakeholders.

Risks related to defined benefit plans

The Group is exposed to a number of risks in relation to operating defined benefit plans. The most significant risks are longevity risk as well
as market and liquidity risks. In order to minimize these risks, the Group regularly reviews related assumptions. When and where feasible,
measures to reduce or transfer the risks are considered.

Il 61



Financial statements Notes to the consolidated financial statements

15.1.b Other post-employment benefits

In millions of CHF 2021 2020
MOVEMENT IN OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

Opening balance 133.0 123.2
Acquisition of businesses (0.0) 0.2
INCLUDED IN INCOME STATEMENT

Current service cost 53 5.7
Interest cost 0.7 1.0
Total included in income statement 6.0 6.7
INCLUDED IN OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Remeasurement arising from:

Loss / (gain) from change in demographic assumptions (6.0) (0.0)
Loss / (gain) from change in financial assumptions 0.6 6.4
Experience loss / (gain) (1.7) 3.0
Total included in other comprehensive income (7.1) 9.4
OTHER

Benefits paid (4.8) (6.5)
Currency translation adjustment (0.1) (0.0)
Total other (4.9) (6.5)
Closing balance 127.0 133.0
In millions of CHF 2021 2020
AMOUNTS RECOGNIZED IN INCOME STATEMENT

Contributions to medical insurance 3.1 3.0
Annual premium 0.4 0.4
Other pensions 0.1 0.0
Retirement compensation 24 3.3
Total included in income statement 6.0 6.7
AMOUNTS RECOGNIZED IN STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Contributions to medical insurance 84.9 92.9
Annual premium 12.1 12.9
Other pensions 24 2.2
Retirement compensation 27.6 25.0
Total other post-employment benefits 127.0 133.0

Key financial actuarial assumptions

2021

United States of
Switzerland America

Discount rate
Medical cost trend rate

0.3% 2.5%
4.5% to 7.25%

2020

United States of
Switzerland America

Discount rate
Medical cost trend rate

0.5% 2.8%
4.5% to 7.75%
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Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to changes in the principal actuarial assumptions is:

. Change in Increase in Decrease in
In millions of CHF assumption assumption assumption
Discount rate 0.5% (8.4) 9.6
Life expectancy 1year 3.3 (3.3)
Medical cost trend rate 1.0% 15.2 (9.1)
The table below outlines the funding situation by geographic area:
June 30, 2021

. United States of X
In millions of CHF Switzerland . Other countries Total
America

Present value of unfunded obligations 117.5 8.2 1.3 127.0

June 30, 2020
. United States of X
In millions of CHF Switzerland . Other countries Total
America

Present value of unfunded obligations 123.7 8.5 0.8 133.0

Other post-employment benefits description

Switzerland

The Swiss post-employment benefits plans are not funded and comprise healthcare benefits, jubilees, long-service leaves, other
discretionary benefits as well as temporary benefits in relation to retirements of corporate management. The entitlement to these other
post-employment benefits is usually conditional on the employee remaining in service up to retirement age.

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 16.5 years.

United States of America

The US retiree medical plan provides certain medical benefits to retirees of the US subsidiary. There are no funded plan assets for these
benefits and the related unfunded liability is included in the Group's balance sheet. The defined benefit obligation associated with this plan
is reappraised annually by an independent actuary. In July 2002, the plan was closed to all future employees. In January 2013, the plan was
closed to all previously grandfathered employees who retire after June 30, 2014.

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 7.6 years.

15.2 Other employee benefits
The plans described below qualify as employee benefits.

Long-term incentives

The long-term incentive (LTI) plans are delayed payment schemes eligible to senior management and tied to the performance of the
Group.

Deferred compensation

Deferred compensation liability is mainly covered by assets that are primarily invested in various mutual funds to cover the Group’s
obligations under deferred compensation arrangements (refer to note 5).

NON-CURRENT OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

In millions of CHF 2021 2020
Provision for long-term remuneration incentives 28.0 21.0
Deferred compensation 57.7 51.2
Closing balance 85.7 72.2

CURRENT OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

In millions of CHF 2021 2020
Provision for long-term remuneration incentives 18.2 6.7
Closing balance 18.2 6.7
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Deferred Provision for long:

In millions of CHF compensation term incentives Total
MOVEMENT IN DEFERRED COMPENSATION AND PROVISIONS FOR LTI

Opening balance 2020 50.8 51.9 102.7
Additional provisions 5.1 19.7 24.8
Unused provisions reversed 0.0 (16.5) (16.5)
Used during year (3.4) (26.5) (29.9)
Transfer 0.8 - 0.8
Currency translation adjustment (2.1) (0.9) (3.0)
Closing balance 2020 51.2 27.7 78.9
Additional provisions 14.3 24.2 38.5
Unused provisions reversed - (4.2) (4.2)
Used during year (6.5) (3.7) (10.2)
Transfer - 2.2 2.2
Currency translation adjustment (1.3) (0.0) (1.3)
Closing balance 2021 57.7 46.2 103.9

16. Provisions

Provisions are recognized when there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, when it is probable that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and when a reliable estimate of the amount can be made.

Judgment is required by the management in determining the various provisions. A range of possible outcomes are determined to make
reliable estimates of the obligation that is sufficient for the recognition of a provision.

The underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances. Differences between the final obligations and the estimates impact the income statement in the

period in which such determination is made.

Provision for

Long service

Provision for
restructuring

Provision for  Product warranty

In millions of CHF business risk leaves charges litigation liability ~ Other provisions Total
MOVEMENT IN PROVISIONS

Opening balance 2021 5.0 2.8 23 0.4 23 12.0 24.8
Additional provisions - 0.9 5.6 0.1 0.7 0.9 8.2
Unused provisions reversed - - (0.1) - (0.7) (0.2) (1.0)
Used during year (0.3) (0.6) (3.1) - (0.4) (0.2) (4.6)
Reclassification - - - - - (3.4) (3.4)
Currency translation adjustment (0.1) 0.2 - - (0.1) 0.3 0.3
Closing balance 2021 4.6 33 4.7 0.5 1.8 9.4 24.2
Total non-current provisions 0.1 3.1 - 0.4 - 9.1 12.7
Total current provisions 4.5 0.2 4.7 0.1 1.8 0.3 115
17. Bonds and borrowings

In millions of CHF Notes 2021 2020
Bonds 2110.8 2 060.7
Long-term bank borrowings 34.2 60.8
Long-term lease liabilities 142.5 127.5
Short-term bank borrowings 59.8 115.6
Short-term lease liabilities 38.2 35.5
Total Bonds and borrowings 25 2385.5 2400.1
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Long-term bank
borrowings and

Short-term lease

Long-term lease

In millions of CHF borrowings bonds liabilities liabilities Total
CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Opening balance 2020 523.2 36.4 - - 559.7
Lease liabilities recognized at July 1 - - 69.8 116.0 185.8
New lease contracts - - 3.9 129 16.8
Leases termination of contract - - (4.3) (1.5) (5.8)
Proceeds from borrowings 896.9 2 060.3 - - 2957.1
Repayments of lease liabilities and borrowings (1354.2) (2.1) (35.1) - (1391.3)
Reclassification 3.5 (3.5) - - -
Acquisition of businesses 50.7 28.4 3.5 10.9 93.5
Currency translation adjustment (4.5) 2.0 (2.3) (10.8) (15.5)
Closing balance 2020 115.6 2121.5 35.5 127.5 2400.1
New lease contracts - - 16.4 52.5 68.9
Leases termination of contract - - (1.2) (7.8) (9.0)
Proceeds from borrowings 33.9 7.9 - - 41.8
Repayments of lease liabilities and borrowings (103.9) (31.6) (46.4) - (181.9)
Reclassification 4.4 (4.4) 33.1 (33.1) -
Acquisition of businesses 11.5 - 0.4 0.5 12.4
Currency translation adjustment (1.7) 51.6 0.4 2.9 53.2
Closing balance 2021 59.8 2145.0 38.2 142.5 2 385.5
AMOUNTS RECOGNIZED IN INCOME STATEMENT

In millions of CHF 2021 2020
Interest on lease liabilities (4.1) (4.8)
Variable lease payments not included in the measurement of lease liabilities (7.5) (5.8)
Total expenses recognized in income statement (11.6) (10.6)

BONDS

Bonds are initially recorded at the amount of proceeds received, net of transaction costs. They are subsequently carried at amortized cost
with the difference between the proceeds, net of transaction costs, and the amount due on redemption being amortized using the
effective interest rate method and charged to interest expenses over the period of the relevant bond.

Face value Year of issue - Effective Carrying amount

In millions of CHF 2021 2020 Coupon maturity interest rate 2021 2020
ISSUER/FACE VALUE
Firmenich Productions
Participations SAS (France)/ 823.5 799.0 1.375% 2020-2026 1.44% 819.9 794.9
EUR 750
Firmenich Productions
Participations SAS (France)/ 823.5 799.0 1.750% 2020-2030 1.84% 815.8 790.7
EUR 750
Total bonds issued in EUR 1 500 1647.1 1598.0 1635.7 1585.6
Firmenich International SA/

425.0 425.0 1.000% 2020-2023 0.99% 424.9 424.9
CHF 425
Firmenich International SA/

50.0 50.0 1.000% 2020-2023 0.81% 50.2 50.2

CHF 50
Total bonds issued in CHF 475 475.0 475.0 475.1 475.1
Total bonds 2122.1 2073.0 1.49% 2110.8 2 060.7

The total fair value of bonds issued is CHF 2 276.5 (2020: CHF 2 139.9).
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18. Redemption liabilities and other debts

In millions of CHF Notes 2021 2020
Redemption liabilities 25 77.4 50.0
Government grants 17.8 18.9
Other long-term borrowings 0.3 -
Total redemption liabilities and other debt 95.5 68.9

Redemption liabilities
The Group recognized redemption liabilities in relation to the following business combinations:

- In July 2020, a redemption liability of CHF 54.3 has been recognized for the purchase of the remaining shares in MG International (also
refer to note 2). In March 2021, the redemption liability decreased by CHF 31.5 with the second installment included in the Payment of
redemption liability and other debt in the Statement of cash flows. At June 30, 2021, the remaining liability was valued at CHF 22.2
(including exchange differences of CHF 0.6) and will be redeemed in 2023.

- In financial year 2020, the Group entered into a put option agreement to purchase the remaining shares of VKL owned by non-controlling
interests. The option is expected to be exercised within 5 years from acquisition date. A redemption liability of CHF 50.0 was recognized
accordingly against equity. At June 30, 2021, the liability amounts to CHF 55.2.

Government grants

The Group received various government grants that will be released to the income statement over the useful live of the underlying assets.
These grants are included in liabilities as deferred income.

- Two grants are to indemnify for the forced relocation of production sites in China. In Kunming, the amount is to compensate the
relocation costs and the related investments. In Shanghai, the amount is to compensate part of the lease land of the new location. At June
30, 2021, the remaining value of these two grants was CHF 15.5.

- Other grants are to help fund environmental projects in China and France. At June 30, 2021, the remaining value of these grants was CHF
2.3.

During the current year, CHF 2.3 (2020: CHF 2.1) have been released to the income statement.

19. Other payables and accrued expenses

In millions of CHF 2021 2020
Payables to other creditors 208.4 221.7
Accruals for rebates and interest payables 172.8 146.3
Employee-related liabilities and social security payables 124.7 92.7
VAT payables and other 14.5 28.1
Other payables and accrued expenses 529.4 488.8

20. Expenses by nature

Significant expenses by nature consist of:
In millions of CHF Notes 2021 2020

COST OF GOODS SOLD AND OPERATING EXPENSES BY NATURE

Raw material and consumables used 1790.6 1617.1
Employee benefits 21 1093.6 923.0
Supplies 126.1 103.3
Services 438.2 406.7
Depreciation, amortization and impairment of assets 279.2 199.9
(Gain) / loss on assets (40.8) 3.4
Operating taxes 22.0 16.8
Other income " (31.2) (15.2)
Total expenses 3677.7 3255.0

M The gain on sale of the site located in La Jonction (CHF 48.0) is reported under Other operating income in the income statement. Refer to note 4 for more
details on the transaction.

) Other income mainly consists of an income related to a legal case settlement (CHF 30.1) in current year and indemnities related to business interruption
in prior year.
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21. Employee benefits

In millions of CHF 2021 2020

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

Wages and salaries 805.5 680.8
Social security 155.4 1235
Post-employment benefits 85.1 80.1
Other expenses 47.6 38.6
Total employee benefit expenses 1093.6 923.0
In full time equivalent 2021 2020

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES WITHIN THE GROUP

Fixed employees at year end 9392 9166
Temporary employees (including agencies) 542 737
Total workforce at year end 9934 9903
Average number of employees during the year (average total workforce) 9919 8 626

For the year ended June 30, 2021, the total personnel costs include CHF 9.9 (2020: CHF 6.3) of restructuring charges of which CHF 9.2
(2020: CHF 5.9) are departure indemnities costs, with related social charges of CHF 0.7 (2020: CHF 0.4).

The total personnel costs with regards to key executives (Board of directors and corporate management) for the year ended June 30, 2021
are CHF 45.8 (2020: CHF 34.1). In these amounts are included CHF 24.2 of short-term employee benefits (2020: CHF 29.0), CHF 6.6 (2020:
CHF 5.3) post-employment benefits and CHF 15.0 (2020 : CHF -0.2) of other long-term employee benefits.

22. Financing costs

In millions of CHF 2021 2020

FINANCING COSTS

Interest expenses 44.5 31.5
Interest on net defined benéefit liability 3.9 5.1
Total Financing costs 48.4 36.6

23. Net other financial expenses

In millions of CHF 2021 2020
Interest and dividend income 2.0 0.2
Fair value gains 1.3 0.6
Gains on sale on financial investments 0.7 -
Losses on commodity options - (5.5)
Results on investments held at fair value through income statement 4.0 (4.7)
Other interest and dividend income 2.0 4.0
Other results on financial assets - (3.4)
Net exchange losses (0.6) (35.7)
Net exchange (losses) / gains on currency options and contracts (16.6) 6.6
Net of cash discount received and (granted), (bank charges and other financial charges) (7.7) (19.9)
Net other financial expenses (18.9) (53.1)
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24, Taxes

Income tax expense
In millions of CHF 2021 2020

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Current income tax expense 95.6 105.5

Previous year tax adjustment 3.1 (2.4)
Deferred tax (income) / expense (6.5) (6.2)
Previous year adjustment on deferred tax (12.6) -
Income tax expense 79.6 96.9

Income tax expense at the Group's average applicable tax rate 87.3 101.3

Tax effect of:

Loss on withholding tax 10.5 10.9

Income not taxable (16.4) (14.2)
Expenses not deductible 111 5.4

Utilization of tax loss carry forward (5.1) -
Change in income tax rate (4.3) (3.9)
Prior year and other adjustments (9.5) (2.4)
Current year losses for which no deferred tax asset is recognized 6.3 -
Recognition of previously unrecognized tax losses 0.2 (0.2)
Recognition of previously unrecognized (derecognition of previously recognized) deductible temporary differences (0.4) -
Income tax expense at the Group's effective tax rate 79.6 96.9

Since the Group operates internationally, it is subject to income taxes in many different tax jurisdictions. The Group calculates its average
applicable tax rate as a weighted average of the tax rates in the tax jurisdictions in which the Group operates, including research tax credits
and withholding tax on dividends, interest and royalties.

The Group'’s effective tax rate decreased to 14.9% in 2021 (2020: 17.3%). This decrease results mainly from the changes of the composition
of the Group’s taxable income.

Deferred taxes

Given the fact that temporary differences are created between local books and reporting submitted, deferred tax impacts have to be taken
into account.

Deferred taxation is provided using the full liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. The principal temporary differences arise from intangible assets, property, plant
and equipment, inventories, revaluation of derivative contracts, provisions for defined benefit pension plans and other post-employment
benefits.

A deferred tax liability of CHF 11.9 (2020: CHF 11.1) for withholding tax that would be payable on the unremitted earnings has been
recognized as at June 30, 2021. The amount of undistributed earnings on which no withholding tax has been accrued represents CHF 946.6
(2020: CHF 868.0).

Current and deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when the income tax expense is levied by the same taxation authority and when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset them. Determination of deferred tax expenses / income is based on present enacted tax rate or
substantively enacted income tax rate.

In millions of CHF 2021 2020
DEFERRED TAXES

Deferred tax assets 116.5 122.3
Deferred tax liabilities (301.8) (268.3)
Net deferred tax liabilities (185.3) (146.0)
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Deferred tax liabilities on intangible assets are mainly relating to customer base and extraction technology resulting from acquisitions.

Deferred tax assets on provisions are mainly relating to provision for defined benefit pension plans and other post-employment benefits in
Switzerland and the United States of America.

The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the current year, without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances
within the same tax jurisdiction, is usually charged / (credited) to the income statement. Deferred tax movements relating to employee
benefit obligations and to equity investments at fair value through OCI for an amount of CHF -59.9 (2020: 14.9) are credited to other
comprehensive income with no material amount of currency translation adjustments.

In millions of CHF 2021 2020
Amount of tax losses available ) 289.6 226.3
Amount of tax losses considered to accrue deferred tax assets 97.3 60.2

) With information obtained about DRT’s tax losses as of acquisition date, the 2020 amount of taxes losses available was adjusted to CHF 226.3. This
change has no impact on the deferred tax assets.

As at June 30, 2021, the Group had CHF 289.6 of tax losses available (2020: CHF 226.3). However, only CHF 97.3 are considered to carry
forward against future taxable income (2020: CHF 60.2). The deferred tax assets relating to tax losses carried forward are recognized as at
June 30, 2021 for CHF 23.3 (2020: CHF 13.9). They are recognized only to the extent that realization of the related tax benefit is probable.

Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax assets have been recognized amount to CHF 192.3 (2020: CHF 166.2) with a potential tax
benefit of CHF 47.9 (2020: CHF 41.6). These unused tax losses are mainly located in affiliates in France, the USA and China.

June 30, 2021

(Credited) / (Credited) / Currency

Debited to Debited to other translation

Acquisition of income comprehensive adjustments /
In millions of CHF Opening balance businesses statement income Set off tax Other Closing balance
Intangible assets 0.2 - 0.7 - (0.2) (0.4) 0.3
Property, plant and equipment 1.4 - (2.3) - (0.6) 3.1 1.5
Long-term assets 4.1 - (3.9) - (1.5) 5.1 3.9
Inventories 4.4 - 1.1 - (24.6) 24.3 5.3
Prov. for def. benefit obligations 63.3 - (32.8) (35.3) (11.2) 64.7 48.7
Long-term liabilities 8.6 - (1.1) - (3.9) 6.2 9.8
Tax loss carry forwards 13.9 - 10.3 - 0.0 (1.0) 23.3
Other assets 4.5 - 14.1 (0.3) (3.3) (6.7) 8.3
Other liabilities 22.0 - 13.0 (10.3) (6.7) (2.5) 15.5
Deferred tax assets 122.3 - (0.9) (45.9) (52.0) 93.0 116.5
Intangible assets (152.7) (19.8) (1.5) - 25.4 (45.7) (194.3)
Property, plant and equipment (36.2) (0.0) (24.2) - 6.0 3.6 (50.9)
Long-term assets (10.3) - (0.9) (11.3) 2.5 (1.2) (21.1)
Inventories (7.6) 0.2 (1.5) - 1.0 (0.3) (8.2)
Prov. for def. benefit obligations (55.5) 0.1 8.8 (2.7) 16.0 11.7 (21.6)
Long-term liabilities (0.0) - (0.7) - 0.0 0.4 (0.3)
Other assets (6.0) - 2.4 - 0.6 (2.0) (5.0)
Other liabilities (0.1) - (0.5) - 0.6 (0.3) (0.3)
Deferred tax liabilities (268.3) (19.5) (18.1) (14.0) 52.0 (33.9) (301.8)
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June 30, 2020

(Credited) / (Credited) /
Debited to Debited to other Currency
Acquisition of income comprehensive translation
In millions of CHF Opening balance businesses statement income Set off tax adjustments Closing balance
Intangible assets 0.2 - (1.4) - (0.1) 1.5 0.2
Property, plant and equipment 1.7 - 0.1 - (0.8) 0.4 1.4
Long-term assets 0.1 - 3.0 - (2.5) 3.5 4.1
Inventories 6.0 - 0.2 - (21.4) 19.6 4.4
Prov. for def. benefit obligations 82.4 0.2 (0.2) 14.4 (31.8) (1.7) 63.3
Long-term liabilities - 1.4 5.7 - (5.0) 6.5 8.6
Tax loss carry forwards 12.8 2.9 (0.3) 0.0 0.0 (1.4) 13.9
Other assets 1.9 - 1.6 1.5 (2.5) 2.1 4.5
Other liabilities 10.3 6.2 3.4 10.2 (12.8) 4.7 22.0
Deferred tax assets 115.4 10.6 12.0 26.1 (76.9) 35.1 122.3
Intangible assets (87.4) (88.5) (4.6) - 33.2 (5.5) (152.7)
Property, plant and equipment (20.5) (23.1) (1.0) - 5.9 2.5 (36.2)
Long-term assets (1.1) - (2.0) (11.3) 1.7 2.4 (10.3)
Inventories (9.1) - 0.4 - 1.3 (0.2) (7.6)
Prov. for def. benefit obligations (0.0) (55.4) (9.6) (0.0) 20.2 (10.7) (55.5)
Other assets (4.9) - (2.0) - 14.5 (13.6) (6.0)
Other liabilities (0.7) - 0.6 - 0.0 (0.0) (0.1)
Deferred tax liabilities (123.6) (167.0) (18.2) (11.3) 76.9 (25.1) (268.3)

25. Financial risk management

Financial risk factors

The Group, as a result of its financing activities, is exposed to a variety of risks, including the effects of volatility of foreign currency
exchange rates and interest rates, which may adversely affect its results of operations and financial conditions. In seeking to minimize the
risks and costs associated with such activities, the Group manages exposure to changes in foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates
and commodity prices, when deemed appropriate, through the use of derivative financial instruments. The instruments utilized include:
forward contracts, currency options, commodity options, interest rate swaps. The Group does not use financial instruments for speculative
or trading purposes.

Financial risk management is carried out by a central treasury department (Group Treasury) under Group policies and principles as
described in Treasury manual. Group Treasury identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close co-operation with the operating
units. Group policies also cover areas such as (net debt) /net cash management and bank relationship management.

Classification and measurement of financial instruments

The Group classifies and measures financial instruments as follows.

Financial assets

IFRS 9 contains three principal classification categories for financial assets: measured at amortized cost, measured at fair value through
income statement and measured at fair value through other comprehensive income.

The classification depends on the business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows.
Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

Under IFRS 9, derivatives embedded in contracts where the host is a financial asset in the scope of the standard are never separated.
Instead, the hybrid financial instrument as a whole is assessed for classification.

The Group recognizes loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECLs) only on financial assets measured at amortized cost. The Group
measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs except for debt securities and bank balances, which are measured at 12-
month ECLs in case of low credit risk or non significant evolution of the credit risk since initial recognition. Lifetime ECLs result from all
possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument. 12-month ECLs are the portion that result from default events that
are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date.
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a) Financial assets at amortized cost

The Group classifies its financial assets as at amortized cost only if both of the following criteria are met:

- the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and

- the contractual terms give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of the principal and interest.

These assets are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. The amortized cost is reduced by
impairment losses.

Financial assets at amortized cost comprise cash and cash equivalents, loans, trade accounts receivable, other receivables in the Statement
of financial position. They are included in current assets, except for maturities exceeding 12 months after the end of the reporting period,
which are classified as non-current assets.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise petty cash, cash on hand, bank balances and short-term deposits at 48 hours. The same definition is
applied to cash and cash equivalents as disclosed in the Statement of cash flows. Bank overdrafts are included in Short-term bank
borrowings in current liabilities.

b) Financial assets at fair value through income statement

Financial assets at fair value through income statement comprise marketable securities and derivative financial assets not designated as
hedging instruments. Marketable securities are mainly composed of short-term deposits over 48 hours and equity and debt securities,
which are traded in liquid markets. They are classified as current assets as they are potentially realizable within 12 months of the reporting
date.

On initial recognition the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at
amortized cost as at fair value through income statement if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would
otherwise arise.

All purchases and sales of marketable securities are recognized on the trade date, which is the date that the Group commits to purchase,
or sell the asset. Marketable securities are initially recorded at cost and subsequently measured at fair value. Fair value is determined by
reference to share exchange quoted selling prices and net asset values determined and communicated by hedge fund managers at close of
business on the reporting date.

Realized and unrealized gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through income statement
are included in the income statement in the period in which they arise.

¢) Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income comprise equity securities which are not held for trading, and which
have been irrevocably elected at initial recognition to be recognized in this category. This election is made on an investment-by-investment
basis. These are long-term strategic investments and this classification is considered to be more relevant.

At initial recognition, financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income are measured including transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.

These equity securities are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends continue to be recognized in the income statement, unless the
dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment, whereas other net gains and losses are recognized in OCI and
are never reclassified to the income statement.

On derecognition any related balance within the fair value through other comprehensive income reserve is reclassified to retained
earnings.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortized cost or fair value through income statement. A financial liability is classified as at
fair value through income statement if it is classified as held-for-trading, it is a derivative or it is designated as such on initial recognition.
Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense and foreign
exchange gains and losses are recognized in the income statement. Any gain or loss on derecognition is also recognized in the income
statement.

I



Financial statements Notes to the consolidated financial statements

June 30, 2021

At fair value
At fair value through other
At amortized  through income comprehensive
In millions of CHF Notes cost statement income Total
FINANCIAL ASSETS
Long-term financial investments and loans 5 56.4 73.3 556.4 686.1
Trade accounts receivable 8 958.2 958.2
Other receivables 9 435 43.5
Derivative financial instruments assets 10 1.8 1.8
Short-term financial investments 11 220.8 2.4 223.2
Cash and cash equivalents 571.4 571.4
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Long-term borrowings 17 22875 2287.5
Redemption liabilities ) 18 77.4 77.4
Short-term borrowings 17 98.0 98.0
Trade and other payables a 766.6 766.6
Derivative financial instruments liabilities 10 6.5 - 6.5
™) The movements of fair value of the redemption liabilities are recognized directly in equity.
) Accrued expenses that are not financial liabilities (CHF 116.9) are not included.
June 30, 2020
At fair value
At fair value through other
At amortized  through income comprehensive
In millions of CHF Notes cost statement income Total
FINANCIAL ASSETS
Long-term financial investments and loans 5 33.5 68.1 475.9 577.5
Trade accounts receivable 8 878.4 878.4
Other receivables 9 64.2 64.2
Derivative financial instruments assets 10 9.4 9.4
Short-term financial investments 11 118.1 5.2 123.3
Cash and cash equivalents 704.7 704.7
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Long-term borrowings 17 2249.0 2249.0
Redemption liabilities ) 18 50.0 50.0
Short-term borrowings 17 151.1 151.1
Trade and other payables o 681.5 681.5
Derivative financial instruments liabilities 10 2.5 73.2 75.7

) The movements of fair value of the redemption liabilities are recognized directly in equity.

) Accrued expenses that are not financial liabilities (CHF 116.8) are not included.

Except where mentioned in the relevant notes, the carrying amount of each class of financial assets and financial liabilities disclosed in the

above tables approximates the fair value.
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Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

Derivative financial instruments are classified as at fair value through income statement and initially recognized in the statement of
financial position at fair value including directly attributable transaction cost and subsequently remeasured at their fair value based on
quoted market prices at the reporting date. On the date a derivative contract is entered into, the Group designates certain derivatives as
cash flow hedges.

Certain derivative transactions, while providing effective economic hedges under the Group’s risk management policies, do not qualify for
hedge accounting under the specific rules in IFRS 9. Changes in the fair value of derivative instruments that do not qualify for hedge
accounting under IFRS 9 are recognized immediately in the income statement.

a) Derivatives designated as hedge accounting

The Group documents at the inception of the transaction, the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged item, as well as its
risk management objective and strategy for undertaking hedge transactions. The Group also documents its assessment, both at the hedge
inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting
changes in cash flows of hedged items.

In prior year, a short-term exposure to price risk arose from the Group's investments in financial assets. The Group hedged the
corresponding market risk, and qualified the hedging transaction in a fair value hedge relationship. The hedged risk arose from the
fluctuation of observable market prices until maturity of the underlying contract occurs. The Group aimed at achieving a hedge ratio of
100% and no ineffectiveness was expected due to the mirroring characteristics of the hedged item and the hedging instrument.

To assess hedge effectiveness, the Group determines the economic relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item by
comparing changes in the carrying amount of the financial asset that is attributable to change in market prices of the designated hedged
items.

In prior year the carrying amount of the hedged item was CHF 73.2, which corresponded to the accumulated fair value adjustments
accounted in OCI, and was offset by the fair value of the designated hedging instruments. In financial year 2021, the underlying contract
matured as planned which led to the termination of the hedge relationship.

b) Derivatives not designated as hedge accounting

Gains and losses, realized or unrealized, from forward exchange contracts and currency options used to hedge potential exchange rate
exposures are included in the year’s results. Interest differentials under swap arrangements used to manage interest rate exposures are
recognized by adjustments to interest expenses.

Impairment of financial assets
Loss allowances for trade receivable and other short-term financial assets are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and when estimating ECL,
the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both
quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience and informed credit assessment and
including forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full or the
financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

The Group considers a debt security to have a low credit risk when its credit risk rating is equivalent to the globally understood definition of
'investment grade'. The Group considers this to be Baa3 or higher rate per Moody's or BBB- or higher per Standard & Poor's.

Lifetime ECLs result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument. 12-month ECLs are the portion that
result from default events that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the
instrument is less than 12 months). ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present
value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive). ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortized cost are credit-impaired. A financial asset is 'credit-
impaired' when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have
occurred.
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Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:

- significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

- a breach of contract such as a default or being more than 90 days past due;

- the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise;
- it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Group has no reasonable expectations of recovering a financial asset
in its entirety or a portion thereof. The Group expects no significant recovery from the amount written off. However, financial assets that
are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Group's procedures for recovery of amounts due.

Additional information about how the Group measures the allowance for impaiment is described below under "Credit risk".

Market risk
a) Foreign exchange risk
The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures primarily with respect

to US Dollar, Euro and to a lesser extent to Asian and Latin American currencies.

Therefore, exchange rate fluctuations have a significant impact in the form of both translation risk and transaction risk on the Group’s
income statement and other comprehensive income statement. Transaction risk arises when future commercial transactions or recognized
assets or liabilities are denominated in a currency that is different from the functional currency. Translation risk arises from the conversion
of net assets of the Group’s foreign operations to the presentation currency.

The major foreign exchange transaction risk is managed centrally by Group Treasury by entering into forward contracts as well as currency
options. The use of these instruments is limited to the hedging of the underlying position.

Only residual foreign exchange risk being foreign exchange exposure not covered either by Group Treasury hedging activity or by bank
overdraft/credit lines representing natural hedges in terms of amount and currency is managed by local Group companies under
supervision of Group Treasury.

The Group manages its currency exposures on current and forecasted transactions. Group Treasury centrally monitors the exposures on a
regular basis and takes appropriate actions. The Group has set up currency limits for the current exposures.

It is the Group’s policy to enter into derivative transactions to hedge current and forecasted foreign currency transactions.

Main currency exposures
June 30, 2021

In millions of CHF EUR/ CHF USD / CHF SGD / CHF IDR / CHF USD / ARS EUR/INR
Currency exposure without hedge +263.1 +30.0 -42.2 +12.9 -14.3 +7.6
Hedged amount " -294.4 -109.8 +41.5 -12.9 +14.8 8.0
Currency exposure including hedge -31.3 -79.8 -0.7 -0.0 +0.5 -0.4

+ long position; - short position

YEUR/CHF hedged amount includes CHF -275.3 of foreign exchange forward contract and CHF -19.1 of currency options maturing within three to twelve
months. USD/CHF hedged amount includes CHF -59.3 of foreign exchange forward contracts and CHF -50.5 of currency options maturing within three to
twelve months. USD/ARS hedged amount includes CHF 4.6 of foreign exchange forward contracts and CHF 10.2 of currency options maturing within three

to twelve months.

June 30, 2020

In millions of CHF EUR / CHF USD / CHF SGD / CHF IDR / CHF CHF / MXN INR / CHF
Currency exposure without hedge +415.6 +255.8 -41.5 +13.5 +21.5 +20.8
Hedged amount ! -406.5 -287.4 +29.0 -13.3 -35.5 -20.7
Currency exposure including hedge +9.2 -31.6 -12.5 +0.2 -13.9 +0.1

+ long position; - short position

* EUR/CHF hedged amount includes CHF -382.4 of foreign exchange forward contract and CHF -24.0 of currency options maturing within three to twelve
months. USD/CHF hedged amount includes CHF -213.6 of foreign exchange forward contracts and CHF -73.8 of currency options maturing within three to
twelve months.
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Sensitivity analysis

The following table summarizes the Group’s sensitivity to transactional currency exposures of the main currencies. The sensitivity is based
on the net exposure after hedging at June 30 and based on assumptions, which have been deemed reasonable by the management,
showing the impact on income before taxes. To determine the reasonable change, the Group uses historical volatilities of the below
currency pairs.

June 30, 2021

In millions of CHF EUR / CHF USD / CHF SGD / CHF IDR / CHF USD / ARS EUR/INR
Reasonable shift in % 5% 5% 10% 10% 20% 15%
Impact on net income if underlying currenc

P ving Y (0.9) (2.4) (0.1) (0.0) 0.1 (0.1)
strengthens
Impact on net income if underlying currenc

P ving Y 0.9 2.4 0.1 0.0 (0.1) 0.1
weakens

June 30, 2020

In millions of CHF EUR / CHF USD / CHF SGD / CHF IDR / CHF CHF / MXN INR / CHF
Reasonable shift in % 5% 5% 10% 15% 15% 15%
Impact on net income if underlying currenc

P ving Y 12 (0.9) (1.3) 0.0 2.1) 0.0
strengthens
Impact on net income if underlying currenc

P ving v (1.2) 0.9 13 (0.0) 21 (0.0)
weakens

In the exposure calculations the intra-Group positions are included.

b) Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity and bond securities price risk because of investments held by the Group (refer to note 11). To manage its
price risk arising from investments in equity and bond securities, the Group diversifies its portfolio. Diversification of the portfolio is done
in accordance with the limits set by the Group.

The Group is indirectly impacted by oil price evolution, as it influences the cost of certain chemical products used as raw materials.
The Group entered into call option contracts on oil hedging that matured between 2017 and 2020 (refer to note 10). This commodity has

been identified as the exposure having potentially a more significant impact on the future cost of our raw materials. This hedge on oil does
not qualify for hedge accounting.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to equity and bond price risks at the reporting date. The equity
portfolio of the Group includes a residual part of alternative investments, in liquidation. As such the sensitivity analysis cannot be based on
the historical volatility as it should in normal circumstances.

If equity prices had been 5% higher/lower, the net income for the year would have increased/decreased by CHF 0.1 (2020: CHF 0.1) and
the OCl would have increased/decreased by CHF 27.8 (2020: CHF 4.9).

c) Interest rate risk

Cash flow interest rate risk arises when the Group invests or borrows funds at floating rates whereas exposure to fair value interest rate
risk arises when the Group invests or borrows funds at fixed rates.
The Group mainly borrows funds at fixed interest rates but also uses credit lines and other financial facilities granted by third party

financial institutions at floating interest rates to finance part of its activity.
Interest rate hedging is managed in full by Group Treasury which transacts in the name and for the account of the holding company, in

which the risk is located. The use of these instruments is limited to the hedging of the underlying position and no leverage is authorized.

Group Treasury is also entitled to obtain long-term credit lines from first quality financial institutions.
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A fundamental reform of major interest rate benchmarks is being undertaken globally, including the replacement of some interbank
offered rates (IBORs) with alternative nearly risk-free rates (referred to as ‘IBOR reform’). There is uncertainty over the timing and the
methods of transition in some jurisdictions that the Group operates in.

The Group anticipates that IBOR reform will impact its risk management. An IBOR transition project has been set up comprising the
streams risk management, tax, treasury, legal, accounting and systems, to identify the potential business impacts resulting from IBOR
exposures. Group treasury monitors and manages the Group’s transition to alternative rates and evaluates the extent to which contracts
reference IBOR cash flows, whether such contracts will need to be amended as a result of IBOR reform and how to manage
communication about IBOR reform with counterparties.

Sensitivity analysis

The analysis below shows the sensitivity of the Group to interest rate changes. The sensitivity is based on the exposure at June 30 and
based on assumptions, which have been deemed reasonable by the management, showing the impact on income before taxes and equity.

In millions of CHF 2021 2020
Reasonable shift in basis point (bps) 150 bps 150 bps
Impact on net income if interest rate increase (1.3) (1.5)
Impact on net income if interest rate decrease 13 1.5
Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual
obligations, and arises principally from the Group's receivables from customers and investments in debt securities. Credit risk is managed
by affiliates and controlled on a Group basis.

The carrying amounts of financial assets and contract assets represent the maximum credit exposure.

Trade accounts receivable are subject to a policy of active risk management which focuses on the assessment of country risk, credit limits,
ongoing credit evaluation and account monitoring procedures.

The Group is exposed to credit risk on cash and cash equivalents, fixed-term deposits and derivative financial instruments. The Group has
minimized financial counterpart risk by concentrating core financing needs with high quality banks having significant experience and
reputation in the field of the related deals.

There are no significant concentrations within trade accounts receivable of counter-party credit risk, due to the large number of customers
that the Group deals with and their wide geographical spread. Country risk limits and exposures are continuously monitored.

The following table presents the Group’s credit risk exposure of cash and cash equivalents to individual financial institutions:

In millions of CHF 2021 2020
AA- to AAA 128.8 148.3
A- to A+ 345.0 407.6
BBB- to BBB+ 66.3 102.9
BB+ and below 1.3 16.4

Ratings shown are assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and short-term financial investments, the availability of funding
through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions. Due to the dynamic nature of the
underlying businesses, Group Treasury maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining availability under committed and uncommitted credit
lines.

Group Treasury monitors and manages cash at Group level. Furthermore Group Treasury defines affiliates’ cash level. Affiliates’ short-term
cash needs and long-term excesses are managed through the cash-pooling structure. Structural financing needs for affiliates are arranged
either by using the in-house bank structure or, if not possible, by arranging local financing with banks selected by Group Treasury. There is
no significant amount of cash and cash equivalents held by the Group that is not available for use.

The Group invests in short-term deposits with high quality banks and in bonds and other interest rate instruments issued by a high quality
issuer, where the amount issued allows high liquidity when dealing. Furthermore, the Group is also invested in low liquidity assets, which
are subject to delayed fund availability when sold. These low liquidity assets are limited to a proportion, which should not affect the global
liquidity of the Group.
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The following table analyzes the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for financial liabilities.

June 30, 2021

6upto 12 More than 5
In millions of CHF Up to 6 months months 1to 5years years Total
Short-term bank borrowings 59.8 - 59.8
Accounts payable - trade and other ) 766.6 - 766.6
Gross derivative financial instruments - outflows (1 209.6) (41.7) (11.1) - (1262.4)
Gross derivative financial instruments - inflows 1226.6 40.0 5.5 - 1272.1
Total current financial liabilities 843.4 (1.7) (5.6) - 836.1
Long-term bank borrowings and bonds 1324.0 821.0 2145.0
Redemption liabilities 77.4 77.4
Total non-current financial liabilities 1401.4 821.0 22224
Total financial liabilities 843.4 (1.7) 1395.8 821.0 3058.5

) Accrued expenses that are not financial liabilities (CHF 116.9) are not included.

The undiscounted cash flows related to lease liabilities are CHF 22.1 within 6 months, CHF 19.2 within 6 to 12 months, CHF 107.2 within 1
to 5 years and CHF 55.8 thereafter.

June 30, 2020

6 upto 12 More than 5
In millions of CHF Up to 6 months months 1to 5years years Total
Short-term bank borrowings 115.6 - 115.6
Accounts payable - trade and other ) 681.5 - 681.5
Gross derivative financial instruments - outflows (1356.9) (46.8) (8.8) - (1412.5)
Gross derivative financial instruments - inflows 1356.5 45.7 4.8 - 1407.0
Total current financial liabilities 796.7 (1.1) (4.0) - 791.6
Long-term bank borrowings and bonds 534.0 1587.5 2121.5
Redemption liability 50.0 50.0
Total non-current financial liabilities 584.0 1587.5 21715
Total financial liabilities 796.7 (1.1) 580.0 1587.5 2963.1

) Accrued expenses that are not financial liabilities (CHF 116.8) are not included.

The undiscounted cash flows related to lease liabilities are CHF 17.1 within 6 months, CHF 18.8 within 6 to 12 months, CHF 79.6 within 1 to
5 years and CHF 52.3 thereafter.

Fair value measurements recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position

The following table presents the Group's assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value at June 30, 2021, grouped into levels 1 to 3 on
the degree to which the fair value is observable:

Level 1: fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2: fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices);

Level 3: fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability that are not
based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

The redemption liabilities disclosed under level 3 are based on a valuation model considering the present value of the net cash flows
expected. The cash flow projections include specific estimates for the remaining four years. The expected net cash flows are discounted
using a risk-adjusted discount rate.
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June 30, 2021

In millions of CHF Notes Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FINANCIAL ASSETS
Non-current assets 5
Financial investments 624.5 - 5.2 629.7
Current assets - derivatives 10
Forward foreign exchange contract and options 1.8 1.8
Current financial investments 11
Equity securities 2.4 - 2.4
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Redemption liabilities 18 77.4 77.4
Current liabilities - derivatives
Forward foreign exchange contract and options 10 6.5 6.5
June 30, 2020
In millions of CHF Notes Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FINANCIAL ASSETS
Non-current assets 5
Financial investments 536.4 0.3 7.3 544.0
Current assets - derivatives 10
Forward foreign exchange contract and options 9.4 9.4
Current financial investments 11
Hedge funds 0.2 0.2
Equity securities 2.8 - 2.8
Bonds and debentures 2.2 - 2.2
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Redemption liability 18 50.0 50.0
Current liabilities - derivatives
Forward foreign exchange contract and options 10 75.7 75.7
There has been no significant movements in the fair value hierarchy.
Reconciliation of movements in Level 3 valuations

Assets Liabilities
In millions of CHF 2021 2020 2021 2020
Opening balance 7.5 6.3 50.0 -
Acquisition of businesses - - 54.3 60.4
Reclassification (2.5) (0.6) - -
Purchases and new issues 0.3 2.0 - -
Sales and settlements (0.2) (0.1) - -
Movement of redemption liabilities - - (25.8) (3.2)
Currency translation adjustment - (0.1) (1.1) (7.2)
Closing balance 5.2 7.5 77.4 50.0
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Fair value estimation

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is determined by reference to share exchange quoted selling prices at the
close of business on the reporting date.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in active markets is determined by reference to observable market transactions
and on valuations provided by reputable financial institutions and hedge fund managers.

The carrying value less allowance for doubtful debts of trade accounts receivable and payable are assumed to approximate fair values, due
to their short-term nature. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual
cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Group.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Methods and assumptions used to estimate the
fair values are consistent with those used in the year ended June 30, 2020.

Capital risk management
The objective of the Group when managing capital is to maintain the ability to continue as a going concern in order to maximize
shareholder value through an optimal balance of debt and equity and to optimize the cost of capital.

We define Net Debt as the sum of short term and long term financial debt less cash, cash equivalents and short-term financial investments.
Net Debt comprises:

In millions of CHF Notes 2021 2020
Short-term bank borrowings and lease liabilities 17 (98.0) (151.1)
Long-term bank borrowings, bonds and lease liabilities 17 (2 287.5) (2 249.0)
Cash and cash equivalents and short-term financial investments 794.6 828.0
Net debt (1590.9) (1572.1)

26. Risk assessment

Corporate management (the "Direction Générale", abbreviated "DG") is responsible for enterprise risk management, whereas the Group’s
Board of directors provides oversight and discusses with Corporate management the status of corporate risks on an annual basis.

According to Board of directors request, a bi-annual assessment of corporate risks is led by Corporate audit and risk management and
involves the participation of senior management ("DG", "DG-1" and selected "DG-2" levels) for all divisions and all regions. The scope of
risk is a holistic view of all corporate risks that would prevent the company from reaching its strategic objectives or that would lead to
losing significant assets.

Following that assessment, mitigation strategies are defined for significant risk exposures, corporate risks analysis is integrated into the
strategic plans, and the annual internal audit plan is derived from the findings of the latest risk assessment.

27. Operating segments

Business segment information

For management purposes, the Group identifies two divisions as operating segments: 'Perfumery & Ingredients' and 'Taste & Beyond'
(formerly 'Flavor'). Each of these divisions is monitored based on a regular basis and allows the Executive Team to make decisions about
the resources to be allocated to the division and assess its performance.

Perfumery & Ingredients

The Perfumery & Ingredients segment develops, manufactures and sells fragrances into three global business lines: fine fragrance,
consumer fragrances and ingredients.

Taste & Beyond

The Taste & Beyond segment develops, manufactures and sells products used in the production of foods (savory and sweet) and
beverages.
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Group financing (including financial income
operating segments.

Inter-segment sales are not significant.

and expenses) and income taxes are managed on a Group basis and are not allocated to

Perfumery & Ingredients Taste & Beyond Total
In millions of CHF 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
Revenue 2854.8 2 450.0 1417.3 1427.6 4272.1 3877.6
esITDA 571.7 509.6 301.9 312.9 873.6 822.5
Depreciation and amortization (183.9) (107.4) (95.3) (92.5) (279.2) (199.9)
Operating profit 387.8 402.2 206.6 220.4 594.4 622.6
Financing costs (48.4) (36.6)
Net other financial expenses (18.9) (53.1)
Remeasurement to fair value of pre-existing i 301
interest in an acquiree
Share of profit / (loss) of jointly controlled entities
and associates, net of taxes >7 (3.9)
Income before tax 532.8 559.1
Income tax expense (79.6) (96.9)
Net income for the period 453.2 462.2

) EBITDA is defined as earnings before financial income (expense), tax, depreciation and amortization. It corresponds to operating profit before

depreciation, amortization and impairment losses.

Capital expenditure

Purchase of property, plant, equipment and

. . 171.0 116.7 52.8 74.8 223.8 191.5
intangibles
Geographical information

Revenue Non-current assets
In millions of CHF 2021 2020 2021 2020
Switzerland 60.7 50.4 538.7 546.0
Europe 1414.2 1140.4 2387.9 2322.7
North America 1085.8 976.6 1080.1 1013.1
Latin America 437.7 503.4 88.4 88.2
India, Middle East and Africa 481.9 434.6 216.9 179.4
South East Asia 439.4 457.0 69.8 72.2
North and East Asia 352.4 315.3 287.8 210.9
Total 4272.1 3877.6 4669.7 4432.5

No customer exceeds 10% of revenue. In 2020, CHF 418.6 of revenue derived from a single customer. These revenues were mainly

attributable to the Perfumery & Ingredients division.

28. Contingent assets and liabilities

Contingent assets

The Group has no contingent asset.

Contingent liabilities

From time to time and in varying degrees, the Group operations and earnings continue to be affected by political, legislative, fiscal and
regulatory developments, including those relating to environmental protection, in the countries in which it operates. The activities in which
the Group is engaged are also subject to risks of various kinds. The nature and frequency of these developments and events, not all which
are covered by insurance contracts, as well as their effects on future operations and earnings are not predictable.
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An entity of the Group continues to be named as a defendant in some butter flavor lawsuits brought against flavor houses in the United
States. There are 116 remaining cases, involving 147 plaintiffs.

29. Commitments

As of June 30, 2021 the Group has several commitments resulting from contractual obligations as well as capital commitments.

Commitments resulting from contractual obligations

In millions of CHF 2021 2020

Commitments resulting from contractual obligations 4.7 49

Contractual commitments include an agreement to finance sustainable agriculture projects with Livelihoods Fund For Family Farming.

Capital commitments

Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not yet incurred is as follows:

In millions of CHF 2021 2020
Property, plant and equipment 10.6 11.9
Intangible assets 2.7 3.5
Total 13.3 15.4

30. Restrictions on the titles to assets

At the closing date, there is no material restriction on the title to assets, except those disclosed in note 5 (deferred compensation scheme).

31. Subsequent events

There is no subsequent event after the reporting period that might have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements as of
June 30, 2021.

32. Exchange rates

The following major exchange rates are used to establish the consolidated financial statements:
- closing rates for the consolidated statement of financial position correspond to the exchange rates prevailing at June 30, 2021 and 2020.
- average rates for the consolidated income statement account and the statement of cash flows.

2021 2020
ISO code Units Closing rate Average rate Closing rate Average rate
usb 1 0.924 0.911 0.951 0.978
EUR 1 1.098 1.085 1.065 1.083
CNY 1 0.143 0.137 0.134 0.139
SGD 1 0.688 0.676 0.681 0.708
GBP 1 1.279 1.223 1.168 1.236
JPY 100 0.835 0.857 0.882 0.905

1181



Financial statements Notes to the consolidated financial statements

33. List of main entities of the Group

The consolidated financial statements include the following main entities.

Share in Share capital
Country Entity name percentage Currency in thousands
Switzerland Firmenich International SA 100 CHF 40 500
Firmenich SA ) 100 CHF 30000
Firmenich Finance SA " 100 CHF 100
Fragar (America) SA ) 100 CHF 20000
Fragar Trading SA"" 100 CHF 2500
Fragar (Europe) SA ® 100 CHF 2 500
Firmenich Trading Corporation e) 100 CHF 12 500
Argentina Firmenich S.A.I.C. y F. 100 ARS 5452
Australia Firmenich Limited 100 AUD 2780
Austria Firmenich Ges.m.b.H 100 EUR 37
Belgium Firmenich Belgium SA 100 EUR 1240
Brazil Firmenich & Cia Ltda. 100 BRL 83115
Bulgaria Watt Burgas OOD KD 80 BGN 5
Canada Firmenich of Canada Ltd. 100 CAD 1
China Kunming Firmenich Aromatics Co. Ltd. 80 CNY 167 281
Firmenich Aromatics (Shanghai) Co. Ltd. 100 CNY 4139
Firmenich Aromatics (China) Co. Ltd. 100 CNY 564 605
Firmenich Aromatics (ZhangjiaGang) Co., Ltd 100 CNY 220697
Colombia Firmenich S.A. 100 cop 8163 346
Denmark Firmenich Denmark APS 100 DKK 11625
France Firmenich & Cie SAS 100 EUR 5000
Firmenich Productions SAS 100 EUR 13 600
Firmenich Grasse SAS 100 EUR 25756
Fider SA 100 EUR 2 500
Alpha-Beta Investco 100 EUR 171357
Alpha Beta International SAS 100 EUR 248 683
Alpha-Beta Participation SASU 100 EUR 242 469
Les Dérivés Résiniques et Terpéniques 100 EUR 19 961
Société Béarnaise de Synthese SASU 100 EUR 50
Resimmo SCI 100 EUR 10
DRT Approvisionnement Biomasse SAS 64 EUR 700
Action Pin SA 100 EUR 1372
Germany Firmenich GmbH 100 EUR 6 300
Firmenich Trostberg GmbH 100 EUR 25
India Firmenich Aromatics Production (India) Private Ltd 100 INR 2322 400
VKL Seasoning Private Ltd 65 INR 12 750
DRT-Anthea Aroma Chemicals Private Limited 50 INR 19 116
Indonesia PT Firmenich Indonesia 85 IDR 5305 000
Firmenich Aromatics Indonesia 100 IDR 45 097 500
Italy Firmenich S.p.A. 100 EUR 103
Firmenich Holding (Italy) SPA 100 EUR 30 000
Campus S.r.l. 100 EUR 501

) Direct investments of Firmenich International SA.
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Share in Share capital
Country Entity name percentage Currency in thousands
Japan Nihon Firmenich K.K. 100 JPY 90 000
Korea Firmenich Co. Ltd. 100 KRW 500 000
Mexico Firmenich de Mexico S.A. de C.V. 100 MXN 103 827
Firmenich Servicios de Mexico S.A .de C.V. 100 MXN 500
Campus Italia de Mexico S. de R.L. de C.V. 100 MXN 91123
Nigeria Firmenich Western Africa Limited 100 NGN 10 000
Norway Firmenich Bjgrge Biomarin AS 100 NOK 125 250
Campus Scandinavia AS 100 NOK 100
Philippines Firmenich (Philippines) Inc. 100 PHP 13075
Poland Firmenich Sp. Z.o.o. 100 PLN 2 000
Russia Firmenich LLC 100 RUB 44 481
Singapore Firmenich Aromatics Pte Ltd. 100 SGD 500
Firmenich Asia Pte Ltd. 100 SGD 6 000
South Africa Firmenich (Pty) Ltd. 100 ZAR 220 000
Spain Firmenich S.A. 100 EUR 300
Thailand Firmenich Thailand Ltd. 100 THB 100 000
Turkey Firmenich Dis Ticaret Limited Sirketi 100 TRY 166
Gulcicek Kimya ve Ucan Yaglar Sanayi ve Ticaret A.S. 87 TRY 30 000
UAE Firmenich FZ-LLC 100 usb 400
UK Firmenich UK Ltd. 100 GBP 7 000
Bergere Ltd. " 100 usb 391
USA Firmenich Inc. 100 usb 31350
Chem-Fleur Inc. 100 usD 27 641
Intercit Inc. 100 usb 567
MCP Food Inc. 100 usb 5000
Essex Laboratories LLC 75 usb 9637
Agilex Holdings, Inc. 100 usD 163 603
DRT America Inc. 100 usb 97 474
DRT America LLC 100 usb 56 232
Pinova Inc. 100 usb 78 329
Vietnam Firmenich Vietnam LLC 100 VND 6308 700
) Direct investments of Firmenich International SA.
The consolidated financial statements recognize the following main associates and joint ventures.
Share in Share capital
Country Entity name percentage Currency in thousands
China ArtSci Biology Technologies Co Ltd 50 CNY 20 000
France Biomass Energy Solutions VSG SAS 37 EUR 5718
India Jasmine Concrete Exports Private Ltd 49 INR 17 382
Panama The Nelixia Company SA 36 usD 17

The voting rights are the same as the share in percentage for all entities.
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KPME
Statutory Audtars Repart

To the General Meeting of Firmenich International SA, Satigny

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Firmenich International SA and its subsidiaries (the
Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2021 and the consolidated
income statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements (pages 42 to 89) give a true and fair view of the consolidated
financial position of the Group as at 30 June 2021, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and
comply with Swiss law.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law, International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) and Swiss
Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those provisions and standards are further described in the
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law and the requirements of the Swiss audit
profession, as well as the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Revenue recognition

Carrying value of goodwill

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Revenue recognition

Key Audit Matter

The Group generates revenue from contracts with
customers from the sale of fragrance and flavor
products. The Group has an extensive product range
and a large number of customers. Additionally, revenue
is one of the key performance indicators for the Group.

Revenue is recognized when control over the goods are
transferred to the customer. Particular attention is
required to ensure revenue is recognized in the correct
accounting period. Thus, we identified timing of revenue
recognition around the balance sheet dates as a key
audit matter.

For further information on revenue refer to the following:

Note 27, Operating segments

Our response

We obtained an understanding of the overall process
over revenue recognition and tested key internal
controls over the timing of revenue recognition,
including controls performed by management on the
timing of goods’ shipment and delivery, and over the
correct approval and timely recognition of credit notes.
Due to the high reliance of revenue recognition on IT,
we evaluated the integrity of the general IT control
environment.

We used audit technology to identify sales at risk of
being recognized in the incorrect accounting period
around year-end, and to corroborate management’s
assessment. We traced a sample of sales to related
underlying documents.

We sampled credit notes and sales reversals recorded
after the balance sheet date and traced the selected
items to sales documents.

Furthermore, we performed a monthly trend analysis of
revenue by division, corroborating our understanding of
each division’s performance compared to the reported
results.

We also considered whether disclosures over revenue
recognition in the consolidated financial statements are
appropriate.

Note 1, Accounting information and policies — Group significant accounting policies — Revenue
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Q'I Carrying value of goodwill
{
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Key Audit Matter

As at 30 June 2021, the Group has goodwill of CHF
1,942.6 million, which is required to be tested for
impairment at least on annual basis. The recoverability
is dependent on achieving a sufficient level of future net
cash flows.

Management apply judgment in assessing the future
performance and prospects of each CGU and
determining the relevant valuation assumptions.

Carrying value of goodwill is a key audit matter because
the valuation process is complex. It involves a high
degree of management judgment and assumptions,
such as cash flow forecasts, long term growth rates and
discount rates of the CGUs, being used in the Group’s
impairment tests.

Our response

We evaluated the accuracy of impairment tests, the
reasonableness of the key assumptions used to
determine the recoverable amount — including long term
growth rates and discount rates based on our
understanding of the related CGUs’ commercial outlook
— and the methodology used by management to prepare
its cash flow forecasts.

We involved valuation professionals with specialized
skills and knowledge who assisted in assessing the
reasonableness of the discount rates through testing the
source information underlying their determination, and in
developing a range of independent estimates and
comparing those to the discount rates applied by
management.

We assessed the Group’s ability to accurately prepare
projections for their CGUs by comparing the projected
financial performance from past period to actual figures
for the same period.

We also considered the adequacy of the disclosures on
impairment testing in the consolidated financial
statements.

For further information on carrying value of goodwill refer to the following:

— Note 1, Accounting information and policies

— Group significant accounting policies — Principles of consolidation

— Critical accounting estimates and judgments — Impairment of goodwill

— Note 3, Goodwill and intangible assets
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Other Information in the Annual Report

The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information in the annual report. The other information
comprises all information included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements, the stand-alone financial statements of the company and our auditor’s reports thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information in the annual report and
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information in the annual report and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibility of the Board of Directors for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in accordance with IFRS and the provisions of Swiss law, and for such internal control as the Board
of Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with Swiss law, ISAs and Swiss Auditing Standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Swiss law, ISAs and Swiss Auditing Standards, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

— ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made.

— Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

193



Financial statements Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

KPMG

— Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

— Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Board of Directors or its relevant committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Board of Directors or its relevant committee with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors or its relevant committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report, unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine
that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In accordance with article 728a para. 1 item 3 CO and the Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an
internal control system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of consolidated financial statements
according to the instructions of the Board of Directors.

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved.

KPMG SA
Martin Rohrbach Jean-Baptiste Choulay
Licensed Audit Expert Licensed Audit Expert

Auditor in Charge

Geneva, 05 August 2021

KPMG SA, Esplanade de Pont-Rouge 6, PO Box 1571, CH-1211 Geneva 26

KPMG AG is a subsidiary of KPMG Holding AG, which is a member of the KPMG network of independent firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative
(“KPMG International”), a Swiss legal entity. All rights reserved.
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FINANCIALSTATEMENTS OF FIRMENICH
INTERNATIONAL SA

Forthe yearendedJune 30

In millions of CHF Notes 2021 2020
Dividend income 257.1 239.7
Other operating income 0.0 10.2
Other financial income 35.8 53.2
Total income 292.9 303.1
Financial expenses (78.9) (68.2)
Other operating expenses (5.9) (6.6)
Direct taxes (2.0) (2.2)
Total expenses (86.8) (77.0)
Profit for the year 206.1 226.1
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AsatJune 30

In millions of CHF Notes 2021 2020
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 428.4 495.4
Bank deposits 186.0 75.0
Derivative financial instruments with an observable market price 0.2 6.0
Other short-term receivables from companies in which the entity holds an investment 791.5 849.8
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 6.6 7.4
Total current assets 1412.7 1433.6
Securities listed on a stock exchange 395.2 395.2
Financial assets 3.5 3.4
Loans granted to companies in which the entity holds an investment 1346.0 1031.5
Investments 362.7 362.7
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 8.7 11.1
Total non-current assets 2116.1 1803.9
Total assets 35288 32375
Liabilities and Shareholders' equity
Trade accounts payable 0.3 0.6
Short-term interest-bearing liabilities 460.9 246.2
Derivative financial instruments with an observable market price 19 1.0
Accrued expenses and deferred income 37.7 11.3
Total short-term liabilities 500.8 259.1
Long-term interest-bearing liabilities 1347.6 13239
Total long-term liabilities 1347.6 1323.9
Total liabilities 1848.4 1583.0
Share capital

Registered shares 40.5 40.5
Legal retained earnings

General legal retained earnings reserves 244.0 244.0
Voluntary retained earnings reserves

Special reserve 330.0 330.0

Ordinary reserve 40.5 40.5
Available earnings

Profit brought forward 819.3 773.4

Profit for the year 206.1 226.1
Total shareholders' equity 1680.4 1654.5
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 3528.8 3237.5
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NOTESTO THE FINANCIALSTATEMENTS
OF FIRMENICH INTERNATIONAL SA

Principles

General aspects

Firmenich International SA, Satigny, Switzerland, is the holding company of the Firmenich Group. The Group is a global supplier of fragrances and
flavors. The company employs less than 250 full-time equivalents. These financial statements were prepared according to the provisions of the Swiss

Law on Accounting and Financial Reporting (32nd title of the Swiss Code of Obligations). Where not prescribed by law, the significant accounting and
valuation principles applied are described below.

Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rates of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction. Assets and liabilities denominated in a
foreign currency are translated into CHF at year-end exchange rates. All transaction gains or losses, realized and unrealized, are taken directly to the
year's results, including the effects of forward contracts, with the exception of unrealized exchange gains that are carried on the balance sheet as a
liability.

Exchange gains and losses are compensated by currency and the resulting net exchange gain or net exchange loss is disclosed in the disclosures to the
financial statements.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise bank balances and short-term deposits at 48 hours. Bank overdrafts are shown under current liabilities.

Bank deposits

Bank deposits are composed of short-term deposits over 48 hours.

Securities listed on a stock exchange

Securities listed on a stock exchange, which are traded in liquid markets, are initially recorded at cost and subsequently carried at fair value (quoted
market price). Securities listed on a stock exchange that represent strategic investments classified as long-term are valued at historical cost.

Realized and unrealized gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value are included in the income statement in the period in which they arise. A
valuation adjustment reserve has not been accounted for.

All purchases and sales of marketable securities are recognized on the trade date, which is the date of the commitment to purchase, or sell the asset.

Derivative financial instruments with an observable market price

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognized in the balance sheet at fair value plus directly attributable transaction cost and subsequently
remeasured at their fair value based on observable market prices at the balance sheet date. Gains and losses, realized or unrealized, from forward
exchange contracts and currency options used to hedge potential exchange rate exposures are included in the year’s results. Interest differentials
under swap arrangements used to manage interest rate exposures are recognized by adjustments to interest expenses. A valuation adjustment reserve
has not been accounted for.

Derivative financial instruments with an observable market price that is positive are classified as assets whereas derivative financial instruments with
an observable market price that is negative are classified as liabilities.

Financial assets

Financial assets include securities that have no quoted market price or no other observable market price. Financial assets with no observable market
price are valued at their acquisition cost adjusted for impairment losses.

Investments
Investments in companies where the entity holds an investment are valued at acquisition cost less adjustments for impairment of value.

Bonds

Bonds are valued at nominal value. Any bond premium, discount and transaction costs directly related to the issue of the bond are amortized over the
duration of the bond.

191



Financial statements Notes to the financial statements of Firmenich International SA

Provisions

Provisions are recognized when there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, when it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation, and when a reliable estimate of the amount can be made.

Foregoing a cash flow statement and additional disclosures in the notes

As Firmenich International SA has prepared its consolidated financial statements in accordance with a recognized accounting standard (IFRS), it has
decided to forego presenting additional information on interest-bearing liabilities and audit fees in the notes as well as a cash flow statement in
accordance with the law.

In the following notes, all amounts are shown in millions of CHF unless otherwise stated.

1. Dividend income

In millions of CHF 2021 2020
Firmenich SA 151.5 166.5
Fragar (America) SA 9.2 9.8
Fragar Trading SA 0.0 2.1
Firmenich Trading Corporation 96.4 61.3
Total dividend income 257.1 239.7

2. Other operating income

In millions of CHF 2021 2020
Compensations from insurance companies 0.0 10.2
Total other operating income 0.0 10.2

3. Other financial income

In millions of CHF 2021 2020
Interest and other financial income from companies in which the entity holds an investment 24.0 28.1
Net realized exchange gains on derivative financial instruments 0.0 7.2
Net exchange gains 8.9 17.2
Net market gains on securities and other financial assets 0.0 0.2
Net realized exchange gains on currency spot transactions 0.6 0.0
Interest and dividend income from third parties 2.3 0.5
Total other financial income 35.8 53.2
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4. Financial expenses

In millions of CHF 2021 2020
Interest to companies in which the entity holds an investment 4.8 3.7
Interest expenses 36.7 12.8
Discounts and transaction costs on bonds 2.0 0.2
Net realized exchange losses on currency spot transactions 0.0 2.9
Unrealized exchange losses 23.5 17.1
Realized exchange losses 2.6 9.9
Realized losses on commodity options 0.0 5.5
Net unrealized exchange losses on derivative financial instruments 6.8 0.7
Net realized exchange losses on derivative financial instruments 0.2 0.0
Bank fees and charges 2.3 15.4
Total financial expenses 78.9 68.2

5. Other operating expenses

In millions of CHF 2021 2020
Board of Directors fees and remuneration 3.6 3.7
Professional services 1.8 2.4
Service and management fees to companies in which the entity holds an investment 0.5 0.5
Total other operating expenses 5.9 6.6

6. Derivative financial instruments with an observable market price

Negative fair

Nominal Positive fair values values
In millions of CHF value (assets) (liabilities)
June 30, 2021
Forward exchange contracts
Buy USD 6.2 0.2 0.0
Sell EUR (281.1) 0.0 (1.7)
Sell Other (20.0) 0.0 (0.2)
(294.9) 0.2 (1.9)
Total derivative financial instruments with an observable market price 0.2 (1.9)
Negative fair
Nominal Positive fair values values
In millions of CHF value (assets) (liabilities)
June 30, 2020
Forward exchange contracts
Sell USD (160.6) 0.0 (0.8)
Sell EUR (367.6) 2.7 0.0
Sell Other (38.3) 33 (0.2)
(566.5) 6.0 (1.0)
Total derivative financial instruments with an observable market price 6.0 (1.0)
Financial assets
In millions of CHF 2021 2020
Derivative financial instruments with third parties 0.0 6.0
Derivative financial instruments with companies in which the entity holds an investment 0.2 0.0
Total derivative financial instruments with an observable market price 0.2 6.0
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Financial liabilities

In millions of CHF 2021 2020
Derivative financial instruments with third parties 1.9 1.0

Total derivative financial instruments with an observable market price 1.9 1.0

7. Prepaid expenses and accrued income

In millions of CHF 2021 2020
Accrued interests from companies in which the entity holds an investment 3.4 4.4

Bonds discounts and transaction costs 2.0 2.0

Prepaid bank fees 0.8 0.7

Other accrued income and prepaid expenses 0.4 0.3

Total short-term prepaid expenses and accrued income 6.6 7.4

Bonds discounts and transaction costs 6.6 8.6

Prepaid long-term bank fees 2.1 2.5

Total long-term prepaid expenses and accrued income 8.7 11.1

8. Securities listed on a stock exchange and Financial assets

In millions of CHF 2021 2020
Securities listed on a stock exchange 395.2 395.2

Investment fund 3.5 3.4

Total long-term financial assets 398.7 398.6

In FY20, Firmenich International SA acquired 21.8% of Robertet SA's share interests, representing circa 11% of voting rights. This equity instrument

represents a long-term strategic investment valued at historical cost.

9. Investments

Share capital in millions

Share in capital/voting rights in %

Company June 30, 2021 June 30,2020  June 30, 2021 June 30, 2020
Firmenich SA CHF 30.0 CHF 30.0 100 100
Fragar (America) SA CHF 20.0 CHF 20.0 100 100
Fragar (Europe) SA CHF 2.5 CHF 2.5 100 100
Fragar Trading SA CHF 2.5 CHF 2.5 100 100
Firmenich Trading Corporation CHF 12.5 CHF 12.5 100 100
Bergere Limited CHF 0.5 CHF 0.5 100 100
Firmenich Finance SA CHF 0.1 CHF 0.1 100 100
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Carrying value in millions of CHF

Company Domicile June 30, 2021 June 30, 2020
Firmenich SA Satigny, Switzerland 325.0 325.0
Fragar (America) SA Satigny, Switzerland 20.0 20.0
Fragar (Europe) SA Satigny, Switzerland 2.5 2.5
Fragar Trading SA Satigny, Switzerland 2.5 2.5
Firmenich Trading Corporation Satigny, Switzerland 12.0 12.0
Bergere Limited Hamilton, Bermuda 0.6 0.6
Firmenich Finance SA Satigny, Switzerland 0.1 0.1
Total investments 362.7 362.7

A list of main indirect Group companies held by Firmenich International SA is included in the consolidated financial statements of Firmenich

International SA.

10. Short-term interest-bearing liabilities

In millions of CHF 2021 2020
Current accounts with companies in which the entity holds an investment 460.9 246.2
Total short-term interest-bearing liabilities 460.9 246.2
11. Accrued expenses and deferred income

In millions of CHF 2021 2020
Deferred unrealized exchange gains 4.7 4.9
Accrued interest 28.2 3.0
Accrued expenses for Board of Directors fees and remuneration 11 11
Accrued taxes 2.4 13
Other accruals 1.3 1.0
Total accrued expenses and deferred income 37.7 11.3
12. Long-term interest-bearing liabilities

In millions of CHF 2021 2020
Bonds 1298.5 1274.1
Due to companies in which the entity holds an investment 49.1 49.8
Total long-term interest-bearing liabilities 1347.6 1323.9
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BONDS Year of issue/

In millions of CHF Face value Issue price Coupon maturity 2021 2020
Deeply Subordinated Fixed Rate Resettable Perpetual Notes (*)  EUR 750 99.429% 3.75% 2020 823.5 799.1
Public bonds CHF 425 100.335% 1.00% 2020-2023 425.0 425.0
Public bonds CHF 50 100.896% 1.00% 2020-2023 50.0 50.0
Total bonds 1298.5 12741

) Firmenich International SA issued EUR 750 million deeply subordinated fixed rate resettable perpetual notes on June 3, 2020 with a coupon of 3.75% payable annually

at the sole discretion of the issuer until the first reset date i.e. September 3, 2025. Thereafter, the interest rate is reset every 5 years.

13. Share capital

Share capital in the amount of CHF 40.5 million consists of 729'000 registered A shares at a par value of CHF 50 each, 810'000 registered B shares at a

par value of CHF 5 each.
Other information

Guarantees
Guarantees and comfort letters issued in favor of affiliated companies amount to CHF 410.0 (2020: CHF 397.9).

Bonds issuance guaranteed by Firmenich International SA:

Year of issue/ Face value Face value

In millions Face value Coupon maturity 2021 2020
ISSUER

Firmenich Productions Participations SAS (France) EUR 750 1.375% 2020-2026 CHF 8235 CHF  799.0

Firmenich Productions Participations SAS (France) EUR 750 1.750% 2020-2030 CHF 8235 CHF  799.0

EUR 1500 CHF 1647.1 CHF 1598.0

Contingent liabilities
Contingent liability of CHF 0.0 (2020: CHF 73.2). The option arising from financial derivatives expired in 2021.

Significant events after the balance sheet date

There are no significant events after the balance sheet date which could impact the book value of the assets or liabilities or which should be disclosed

here.
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APPROPRIATION OF AVAILABLE EARNINGS

AsatJune 30
In CHF 2021
Available earnings
Profit brought forward 819 263 220
Profit for the year 206 149 551
Total available earnings 1025412 771
Distribution of an ordinary dividend
onAshares 10% 3645 000
onBshares 10% 405 000
4050 000
Distribution of an additional dividend
on A shares 608 % (2020: 435 %) 221 616 000
on B shares 608 % (2020: 435 %) 24 624 000
246 240 000
Total appropriation of available earnings 250 290 000
Balance to be carried forward 775122771

The general legal retained earnings reserves exceed 20% of the share capital

. As such, the first attribution is not required.
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AR
Stalllory Auditors Report

To the General Meeting of Firmenich International SA, Satigny

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Firmenich International SA, which comprise the balance sheet as at
30 June 2021, and the income statement for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion the financial statements (pages 95 to 103) for the year ended 30 June 2021 comply with Swiss law
and the company’s articles of incorporation.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under
those provisions and standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the entity in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law
and the requirements of the Swiss audit profession and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Report on Key Audit Matters based on the circular 1/2015 of the Federal Audit Oversight Authority

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of
the financial statements of the current period. We have determined that there are no key audit matters to
communicate in our report.

Responsibility of the Board of Directors for the Financial Statements

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the
provisions of Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation, and for such internal control as the Board of
Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the entity’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the entity or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.
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KPMG

As part of an audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgment
and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
internal control.

— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made.

— Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the entity to cease to continue as a going concern.

We communicate with the Board of Directors or its relevant committee regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Board of Directors or its relevant committee with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors or its relevant committee, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report, unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In accordance with article 728a para. 1 item 3 CO and the Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an internal
control system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of financial statements according to the
instructions of the Board of Directors.

We further confirm that the proposed appropriation of available earnings complies with Swiss law and the company’s
articles of incorporation. We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved.

KPMG SA
Martin Rohrbach Jean-Baptiste Choulay
Licensed Audit Expert Licensed Audit Expert

Auditor in Charge

Geneva, 05 August 2021

KPMG SA, Esplanade de Pont-Rouge 6, PO Box 1571, CH-1211 Geneva 26

KPMG AG is a subsidiary of KPMG Holding AG, which is a member of the KPMG network of independent firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative
(“KPMG International”), a Swiss legal entity. All rights reserved.
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APPENDIX: ALTERNATIVE
PERFORMANCE MEASURES

Analternative performance measure
isafinancial measure of historical
financial performance, financial
position or cash flows other than
afinancial measure defined or
specified in the applicable recognised
accounting standards (i.e. IFRS).

Inorderto provide users with a
comprehensive understanding of
our performance, our Alternative
Performance Measures are listed
and defined below. They should
be considered in addition to, not
asasubstitute for operating profit,
netincome, operating cash flow
and other measures of financial
performance and liquidity reported
inaccordance with IFRS.

Growth at Constant Currency s
used by our managementand Board
of Directors to evaluate operating
performance. We believe that the
elimination of the effect of foreign
currency variations can provide
useful period to period comparisons
of our operating performance and
enable a betterunderstanding of
the underlying factors contributing
to such performance.

Growth at Constant Currency is
computed by comparing current
period results converted at prior
period foreign exchange rates
to prior period results at prior
period foreign exchange rates

Growth onan Organic Basisis used
by our managementand Board of
Directors to evaluate operating
performance. We believe that the
elimination of the impact of business
acquisitions and disposals can provide
useful period to period comparisons
of our operating performance and
enable a betterunderstanding of
the underlying factors contributing
tosuch performance.

Growth onan Organic Basis is
calculated by excluding the impact of
business acquisitions and disposals
fora period of 12 months following or
preceding the date of such business
acquisition or disposal, respectively.

Revenue Growth onan Organic Basis
at Constant Currencyis used by our
managementand Board of Directors
to evaluate operating performance.

We believe that the elimination of
theimpact of business acquisitions,
disposals and foreign currency
variations from Revenue can provide
useful like for like period to period
comparisons of oursales performance
and enable a betterunderstanding of
the underlying factors contributing
tosuch performance.

Revenue Growth onan Organic
Basis at Constant Currencyis
calculated as described above
inthe respective sections "Growth
at Constant Currency”and
"Growth onan Organic Basis".
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The table below provides the reconciliation of OCCY to Revenue growth:

Year-over- Year-over-
For the year ended, in millions of CHF June 30,2021 June 30,2020 year year %
Revenue 4,272.1 3,877.6
Revenue growth 394.5 10.2%
Effect of foreign exchangerates -255.3 -6.6%
Growth at Constant Currency (CCY) 649.8 16.8%
Effect of businessacquisitions 469.8 12.1%
and disposals
Revenue Growth on an Organic 180.0 4.7%

Basis at Constant Currency (OCCY)

EBITDA s defined as earnings before financialincome (expense), tax, depreciation
and amortization. It corresponds to operating profit before depreciation,
amortization and impairment losses.

Forthe yearended, in millions of CHF June 30,2021 June 30,2020
Operating profit 594.4 622.6
Depreciation of property, plantand equipment 170.8 129.9
Amortization of intangible assets 102.6 68.3
Impairment losses on property, plantand equipment 5.8 1.7
EBITDA 873.6 822.5

Adjusted EBITDAisa measure used by our managementand Board of Directors to
evaluate our operating performance.

We define Adjusted EBITDA as EBITDA adjusted to eliminate the impact of identified
items of non recurring nature and/or not directly attributable to the operating
performance that may materially distort period to period comparisons and/or the
evaluation of our on going business performance.

The defined list of adjusted items comprises restructuring and transformation costs,
acquisition and disposal related costs, gainand loss on disposals of intangible
assetsand property, plantand equipment, and otheritems of a one time and/or non
operating nature, which may include elements such as legal claims and settlements,
or curtailments of defined benefits pension plans.

The table below discloses the adjusted items includedin the EBITDA:

For the year ended, in millions of CHF June 30,2021 June 30,2020
EBITDA 873.6 822.5
Restructuring and transformation costs 10.2 7.1
Acquisition and disposalrelated costs 9.1 29.2
Gain ondisposal of intangible assets and (46.9) -
property, plantand equipment

Otheritems of aone-time and/or non-operating nature’ (30.1) -
Adjusted EBITDA 815.9 858.8

' Itconsistsofanincomerelatedtoalegalcase settlement. See note 20 of the Consolidated Financial
Statements of Firmenich International SA.
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Free Cash Flowisameasure used by our managementand Board of Directors to
evaluate our ability to generate cash to return capital to shareholders, repay debt
and fund potential acquisitions.

We define Free Cash Flow as Cash flows from operating activities less purchase
ofintangible assets and property plantand equipment net of disposals.

Reconciliation of Cash flows from operating activities to Free cash flow is as follows:

Forthe year ended, in millions of CHF June 30,2021 June 30,2020
Cash flows from operating activities 693.3 641.9
Purchase of property, plantand equipment (185.7) (157.6)
Purchase of intangible assets (38.1) (33.9)
Disposalofintangible assets, property, plantand equipment 41.8 4.1
Free Cash Flow 511.3 454.5

Net Debtisa measure used by our managementand Board of Directors to assess our
financial position.

We define Net Debt asthe sum of shortterm and long term financial debt
less cash, cash equivalentsand short-term financialinvestments. See note
25 of the Consolidated Financial Statements of Firmenich International SA.
Net Debt comprises:

Forthe year ended, in millions of CHF June 30,2021 June 30,2020
Short-term bank borrowings and lease liabilities (98.0) (151.1)
Long-term bank borrowings, bonds and lease liabilities (2,2817.5) (2,249.0)
Cash, cash equivalents and financialinvestments 794.6 828.0
Net Debt (1,590.9) (1,572.1)

Inaddition, in 2020 we have issued deeply subordinated fixed rate resettable
perpetual notes for CHF 795 million, which are accounted forin equity in

the Group's consolidated financial statements, inaccordance with IFRS,
asissued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB)?,
asdetailed in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

2 |AS32 - FinancialInstruments: Presentation
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Allstatements otherthan statements of historical fact included in this document may be deemed to be forward-
looking statements. Forward-looking statements are based on management'’s current estimates and expectations
Forward-looking statements should be read in the context of risks and uncertainties inherentin ourindustry, which
could cause actualresults and events to differ. Investors should not rely on such forward-looking statements.
Statements made at the time of the relevant release will not be updated orrevised as information or expectations
evolve. Future releases of financial results and accompanying commentary shall supersede previous releases.
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